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KEY FIGURES
OF MEDIGENE AG

IN € K 2016 2015 CHANGE

Total revenue 9,749 6,808 43%

Revenue Veregen® 3,048 3,101 -2%

Revenue from the cooperation with bluebird 1,053 0 -

Other operating income 5,648 3,707 52%

thereof gain on sale of intangible assets, net 2,365 0 -

Cost of sales -1,402 -1,103 27%

Gross profit 8,347 5,705 46%

Selling and general administrative expenses -10,025 -7,615 32%

Research and development expenses -11,538 -8,529 35%

thereof immunotherapies -10,468 -5,534 89%

Operating result -13,216 -10,439 27%

Income from the sale of financial assets 4,242 0 -

Net profit/loss for the year -9,492 -12,999 -27%

EBITDA -12,371 -9,495 30%

Earnings per share (basic/diluted) (€) -0.48 -0.77 -38%

Personnel expenses -9,493 -7,664 24%

Cash flows

Net cash used in operating activities -3,758 -10,605 -65%

Net cash from/used in investing activities 9,860 -39,409 -125%

Net cash from/used in financing activities -231 43,797 -101%

Balance sheet

Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 52,630 46,759 13%

Total assets 111,715 113,531 -2%

Current liabilities 11,966 9,664 24%

Non-current liabilities 21,157 13,879 52%

Shareholders’ equity 78,592 89,988 -13%

Equity ratio (%) 70 79 -11%

Employees as at December 31 88 73 21%

FTEs as at December 31 80 66 21%

Medigene share

Total number of shares outstanding as at December 31 20,136,887 19,678,628 2%

Share price (XETRA closing price) as at December 31 (€) 11.90 8.70 37%

Dividend (€) 0 0
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 Imprint/Disclaimer

LIVING 
IMMUNOTHERAPIES
Immunotherapies will revolutionize the future of cancer treatment. 
We harness the power of living T cells to engage the body’s own immune 
system to fight cancer. By developing breakthrough therapies, we aim to 
make a real  difference in the lives of patients – a goal we strive towards 
with great passion.  



4 HIGHLIGHTS

Important events in financial year 2016 — In 2016, Medigene reached another 
 clinical milestone, strengthened its team and formed a development partnership 
with bluebird, which is a strong validation of our TCR technology. The inclusion 
of the Medigene share in the TecDAX reinforced our increased profile on the 
capital market.

STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP
Strategic partnership agreed with bluebird for  
T-cell  receptors (TCRs) for cancer immunotherapy

HIGHLIGHTS

NEW PATENTS
DC platform and TCR platform 
 strengthened with new patents 

PHASE II PART OF  
DC VACCINE TRIAL BEGINNS

Phase II part of the phase I/II trial to treat acute myeloid 
leukemia (AML) was started after a positive recommen-

dation from the Data Safety Monitoring Board
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R&D FOR IMMUNOTHERAPIES
Targeted increase in research and development costs 
for immunotherapies by 89% to €10.5 m 

STABLE FINANCIAL SITUATION
Cash and cash equivalents and financial assets 

increased to €52.6 m 

+89%

INNOVATION
We presented a new approach to develop  

T-cell receptors (TCRs) which target neoantigens 

MEDIGENE IN THE TECDAX
Medigene shares were included in the TecDAX 
 performance index

PERSONNEL STRENGTHENED
Executive Board strengthened: one new board 

 member and three Senior Vice Presidents added to 
the management team; scientific team expanded



6 LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

LETTER TO THE  
SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to report to you about the continued and successful development 
of Medigene AG in the Annual Report for 2016. For myself and the employees 
of  Medigene, 2016 was a year characterized by focused and targeted research 
on our immunotherapy platforms, continuation of ongoing clinical activities and 
preparation for new studies in the pipeline. A particular highlight of 2016 was the 
successful establishment of a research alliance with the U.S. biotechnology company 
 bluebird bio. Based on this progress, Medigene reached a new stage in its corporate 
 development, significantly raising the company’s profile and reputation within the 
rapidly growing realm of cancer immunotherapies.

Medigene will continue to consoli-
date it efforts and pursue the path 
to become a global leader in the 
field of T-cell immunotherapies. 
The partnership with bluebird 
represents a major validation of 
Medigenes technologies from one 

of the world’s most renowned and innovative companies operating within the field of 
gene therapy, in addition to its significant commercial impact for our company. The 
deep expertise of Medigene in T-cell receptor technologies was certainly a factor in 
bluebird’s decision to engage Medigene for in their own T-cell receptor development 
program. In the meantime, the collaboration has been successfully launched and we 
expect a very productive working relationship over the years to come.  In parallel, we 
pursue our own development programs, unimpeded by the  bluebird projects.

“ Medigene reached a new stage  
in its corporate development.” 
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Many individual projects were 
pursued by Medigene teams 
during 2016 to bring us closer 
to our central goal of advanc-
ing our clinical programs. Our 
scientific team was further 
strengthened, with Medigene 
engaging additional scientific 
employees as well as experienced executives. Our three new Senior Vice Presidents 
for research, clinical development and corporate strategy bring extensive knowledge 
and long-standing management experience to our company. Their support will prove 
vital for both myself and the whole company going forward. On behalf of the full 
Executive Management Board, I would like to express my gratitude to all employees 
for their passion, commitment and disciplined work over the past year. 

Operationally, 2016 was a year of great progress: We were able to advance the on-
going clinical phase I/II trial initiated in 2015 with our dendritic cell vaccines to treat 
acute myeloid leukemia (AML) into phase II, based on positive safety data. Patient 
recruitment for this study progressed according to plan. Furthermore, the DC plat-
form was further strengthened by the grant of a further patent. 

“ We are planning to begin a first 
 clinical trial for our proprietary 
TCR therapy this year.” 

Prof. Dr. Dolores J. Schendel

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and  
Chief Scientific Officer (CSO)
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An increasingly larger part of our growing team was able to devote full efforts in 
2016 to the preparation of the first Medigene studies with our proprietary T-cell 
receptor-modified T cells (TCRs). To this end, we have engaged a leading contract 
manufacturer for the preparation of viral vectors and cell production and fully 
established the manufacturing processes for our TCR technology in accordance with 
regulatory standards. During intensive and fruitful discussions with the regulatory 
authorities in Germany, Medigene compiled the documentation pertaining to the 
 clinical trial application for a first, publicly funded TCR study in collaboration with 
the Max Delbrück Center and Charité in Berlin. This also provides the regulatory 
framework for further clinical trials with our proprietary TCR therapies. 

Medigene strengthened the Executive Management Board at the end of the year 
in order to meet the needs of the company’s dynamic growth. Since January 2017, 
Dr. Thomas Taapken has been appointed as the new Chief Financial Officer at 
the company’s Munich headquarters, bringing exceptional expertise to support 
 Medigene’s next development steps.

2017 will be a busy year for our team: We are planning to begin a first clinical trial for 
our proprietary TCR therapy this year. In addition, we are preparing the launch of the 
first official clinical trial using TCRs to treat multiple myeloma with our partners in 
Berlin. This would be the first clinical trial with TCRs ever initiated in Germany! 

In our DC vaccine study, we expect all necessary patients to be enrolled in the 
phase II part of the clinical trial so that the two-year treatment of the final study 
participant can begin in the second half of this year. 

Our growing research and development team will 
allow us to deploy our expertise to the execution 
of our tasks in the bluebird partnership. We hope 
to make fast progress in identifying new TCR 
candidates.

Over the course of 2016, Medigene’s share price 
developed very positively, rising by 37% from € 8.70 
to € 11.90. In addition to our operational progress, 
the inclusion of Medigene in the TecDax index in 

“ Over the course of 2016, 
 Medigene’s share price 
developed very positively, 
rising by 37% from € 8.70 
to € 11.90.” 

LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
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December 2016 certainly also contributed to this positive development. This positive 
trend in our share price development continued after the year’s end.

In order to highlight our dedication and focus on immunotherapies, early 2017 we 
relaunched our website under the slogan “Living Immunotherapies”. We invite you 
to visit our new, modern website and experience the additional information and 
graphics about immunotherapies for yourselves.

But what exactly do we mean by “Living Immunotherapies”? This slogan works on 
several levels: First, Medigene’s immunotherapies are based on living cells. That 
is to say that living active ingredients without using dead matter such as  chemical 
molecules or proteins, are at the heart of this approach. Secondly, Medigene 
employees are enthused by and actively bring to life 
the vision of making this innovative form of cancer 
therapy a reality. And finally, we also hope that 
our developments allow patients to live longer and 
healthier lifes: At its best, they would one day even 
conquer their cancer with the help of Medigene’s 
immunotherapies. The promise embedded in our 
therapeutic approaches and the potential they offer, 
provide the motivation to work with passion each day 
to further develop these innovative medicines. 

After all, we are convinced that immunotherapies will revolutionize cancer treatment 
in the future. Medigene intends to play a leading role in this revolution. On behalf 
of the entire Executive Management Board, I’d like to thank you all for your ongoing 
trust, please stay faithful and “live” these new immunotherapies with us!

Kind regards, 

Dolores J. Schendel
CEO/CSO

“ We are convinced that 
immunotherapies will 
revolutionize cancer 
treatment in the future.” 

LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
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Share price performance +37%

The positive share price development over the course 
of 2016 was primarily attributable to two events: the 
successful conclusion of a strategic partnership with 
bluebird and the inclusion of Medigene shares in the 
TecDAX performance index. At the beginning of the 
fourth quarter of the year, the share price performance 

rose substantially against the TecDAX and Nasdaq 
Biotech benchmark indices together with a rapidly 
growing trading volume, reaching a peak for the year 
of €12.18 on December 28. With a closing price of 
€11.90, Medigene shares finished the year up by 37%. 
Medigene AG’s company value in terms of market 
capitalization rose from €171 m at the end of 2015 to 
€240 m as at the end of financial year 2016.

THE SHARE

SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE IN THE YEAR 2016 FROM 4 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2016

(INDEX OPENING PRICE 4 JANUARY 2016, € 8.75 INDEXED TO 100)

60

80

100

120

140

31 December 20164 January 2016

Medigene AG TecDax Nasdaq-Biotech

DAILY TRADING IN THE YEAR 2016 FROM 4 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2016

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

600,000

500,000

31 December 20164 January 2016



11MEDIGENE AG ANNUAL REPORT 2016 THE SHARE

Analysts’ studies

Analysts from renowned financial institutions in 
 Germany and abroad cover Medigene. They analyze 
the company, technology and drug candidates in 
detailed studies. At the start of 2016, three of five 
analysts recommended buying Medigene shares while 
one analyst’s recommendation was to hold the stock 
and another analyst indicated a high upside target 
without making any specific recommendation. All 
analysts increased Medigene’s fair value in the course 
of 2016. Target prices ranged from €9.40 to €19.00.

FINANCIAL ANALYSTS WHO COVERED MEDIGENE  
IN STUDIES DURING 2016

BANK ANALYST

Baader Bank Group Dr. Bruno Bulic

Edison Investment Research 
Limited

Dr. Linda Pomeroy

EquiTS Thomas Schießle

Independent Research Unabhän-
gige Finanzmarkt analyse GmbH

Bernhard Weininger

Oddo Seydler Research AG Igor Kim

Investor Relations activities

Medigene continuously informed investors, financial 
analysts and the media about ongoing developments 
at the Company in 2016. In addition to press and 
analyst conferences, Medigene gave interviews to 
relevant specialized media and held investor meet-
ings in Germany and abroad. In particular, Medigene 
met with a large number of investors on roadshows 
in the USA and Europe, providing information about 
the Company’s development and business strategy, 
also in connection with the bluebird partnership deal. 
Medigene also delivered corporate presentations at 
selected investor conferences. In addition, Medigene 
ensured a continuous presence in the international 
capital market with roadshows.

MEDIGENE PRESENTED TO INVESTORS WITHIN THE 
 FRAMEWORK OF VARIOUS CONFERENCES IN 2016:

CONFERENCE LOCATION

J.P. Morgan 34th Annual 
 Healthcare Conference

San Francisco

Bio-Europe Spring Stockholm

BIO International Convention San Francisco

Baader Investment Conference Munich

Bio-Europe 2015 Cologne

Trend in shareholder structure 

Also in 2016, more Medigene AG shares were held 
by institutional investors than by private investors. 
At year-end 2016, approximately 41.2% of the shares 
issued were held by private investors (2015: 39.2%) 
and around 54.4% by institutional investors (2015: 
57.3%). Shareholdings of the Executive Board and 
Supervisory Board totaled 4.4% (2015: 3.5%). 
 

Institutional 
investors

54.4

Private
investors

41.2

Executive Board & 
Supervisory Board

4.4

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE BY TYPE OF INVESTOR

IN %

As at 31 December 2016, rounded, 
based on Medigene AG information and estimates
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SHARE DATA

Ticker symbol MDG1

WKN – securities identification number A1X 3W0

ISIN – International Securities Identification Number DE000A1X3W00

Common code 1107 3026

CUSIP 993 906 FV5

Reuters ticker MDG1k.DE

Bloomberg ticker MDG1

Market segment Prime Standard

Indices TecDAX, Prime All Share, DAXSubsector Biotechnology

Traded on XETRA, Berlin, Bremen, Düsseldorf, Frankfurt, Hamburg, Hanover, 
Munich and Stuttgart

Designated sponsors ODDO SEYDLER BANK AG, Baader-Helvea Equity Research/  
Baader Bank AG

THE SHARE

KEY SHARE DATA

IN € 2016 2015

52-week high 12.18 14.5

52-week low 6.16 3.7

Year opening price 8.75 3.65

Year-end closing price 11.90 8.70

Average price 7.97 7.56

Weighted average number of shares (basic, no.) 19,952,677 16,808,501

Average daily turnover (no.) 79,271 140,618

Highest market capitalization (€ m) 245 235

Lowest market capitalization (€ m) 121 51

Total number of shares in circulation (31 Dec.) 20,136,887 19,678,628

Earnings per share1) (basic and diluted) -0.48 -0.77

Equity per share1) 3.89 4.57

Net cash from/used in operating activities per share1) -0.19 -0.54

Free float2) (in %, Dec 31) 68 56

1) Reference figure: total number of shares in circulation 
2) Shareholding below 3%. Source: Medigene AG

Shareholder structure by country 

At year-end 2016, approximately 50% of the Medigene 
shares issued (2015: 45%) were held by shareholders in 
Germany. Overall, U.S. investors accounted for almost 
24% (2015: 28%), while UK investors held just over 
10% of the Company’s shares at the end of 2016 (2015: 
12%). The percentage of shareholders in  Switzerland 
and Luxembourg amounted to almost 4% each (2015: 
5% and 4% respectively).
 USA23.9

UK10.4

Switzerland3.8

Austria3.5

Other8.1

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE BY COUNTRY

IN %

Germany 50.3

As at End of January 2017, rounded, 
based on Medigene AG information and estimates
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of Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried, as at December 31, 2016 

MAJOR EVENTS IN 2016:  
Immunotherapies:   

→ Strategic partnership with bluebird bio for T-cell receptors (TCRs) for cancer immunotherapy 

→ Phase II of Phase I/II trial with DC vaccine for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia (AML) initiated 

following positive recommendation from the Data Safety Monitoring Board  

→ New approach presented for the development of T-cell receptors (TCRs) to target neoantigens using T cells 

from healthy donors and a new automated system 

→ DC platform and TCR platform strengthened by new patents  

→ Collaboration with Max Delbrück Center and The Charité in Berlin announced for the first investigator-

initiated clinical TCR trial (government-subsidized) 

→ Additional viral vector production capacities secured for clinical TCR trials 

 

Company:  

→ Changes on the Executive Management Board: CSO Prof. Dolores Schendel assumes the positions of 

CEO/CSO; Dave Lemus is made COO, Dr. Thomas Taapken appointed CFO (effective January 1, 2017) 

→ Management team strengthened by appointing three Senior Vice Presidents 

→ Capital increase by contribution in kind to fund milestone payment for the beginning of Phase II of 

Medigene’s clinical Phase I/II trial with DC vaccines 

→ Medigene share promoted to the TecDAX index 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS IN 2016 
→ Increase in research and development expenses for immunotherapies by 89% to €10,468 k (2015: €5,534 k) 

→ Increase in EBITDA loss to €12,371 k (2015: €9,495 k), as planned 

→ Annual result improves by 27% to a loss of €9,492 k (2015: loss of €12,999 k). 

→ Increase in cash and cash equivalents and financial assets to €52,630 k (12/31/2015: €46,759 k) 

→ Financial guidance met for 2016  
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COMPANY OVERVIEW 
Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried (hereinafter referred to as “Medigene” or “the Company”), together with its 
consolidated subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”), is a biotechnology company headquartered in 
Martinsried near Munich, Germany. The Company develops highly innovative immunotherapies to target various 
forms and stages of cancer with candidates in clinical and pre-clinical development. Medigene concentrates on 
the development of personalized T cell-based therapies. Corresponding development projects are currently in 
the preclinical or clinical stage.  
 
Organizational and legal structure of the Group 

Medigene AG was founded in 1994 as a limited liability company in Planegg/Martinsried near Munich, Germany. In 
1996, the Company was converted into a stock corporation. The Company’s headquarters are located at 
Lochhamer Strasse 11, 82152 Planegg/Martinsried, Germany. The Company is registered in the commercial 
register of the Munich Local Court under HRB 115761. Medigene AG has been listed since June 2000 (Deutsche 
Börse: Regulated Market, Prime Standard; TecDAX, German Security Identification Number (WKN) A1X3W0, 
symbol MDG1, International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) DE000A1X3W00).  
 
In addition to the parent company Medigene AG in Planegg/Martinsried, the Group includes the wholly owned 
subsidiary Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH (hereinafter referred to as “Medigene Immunotherapies”), 
Planegg/Martinsried, since its acquisition in January 2014, and the wholly owned subsidiary Medigene, Inc., San 
Diego, California, USA, which was acquired in 2001. The Group is managed by the Executive Management Board of 
the parent company, Medigene AG. The management of the respective subsidiaries is composed of members who 
serve on the Group’s Executive Management Board.  
 
Segments  

Medigene’s business activities are comprised of the two business units “Immunotherapies” (core business) and 
“Other products” (non-core business). The regional segmentation differentiates between the USA, Europe and 
Asia.  
 
Management structure 

Until January 31, 2016, the Executive Management Board of Medigene AG comprised the Chief Executive Officer 
Dr. Frank Mathias, and the board members Peter Llewellyn-Davies and Prof. Dolores J. Schendel. Prof. Dr. 
Schendel assumed the role of Chief Executive Officer on February 1, 2016, replacing Dr. Frank Mathias. Dr. Frank 
Mathias and Peter Llewellyn-Davies decided to leave the Company as at March 31, 2016. Mr. Dave Lemus joined 
the Executive Management Board as Chief Operating Officer on January 1, 2016. He was the deputy chairman of 
Medigene AG’s Supervisory Board until December 28, 2015. Dr. Thomas Taapken assumed the position of Chief 
Financial Officer on January 1, 2017.  
 
Strategy 

T-cell immunotherapies have the potential to treat various forms of cancer and at various stages of the disease. 
Medigene’s strategy is to develop its own therapies and to commercialize them, starting with hematological 
malignancies. In addition, the Company offers selected partners the opportunity to discover and develop 
additional treatments on the basis of its technological platforms. With its scientific expertise, Medigene is 
working on the development and marketing of innovative immunotherapies in fields of high medical need. The 
Company intends to reach this goal by exploiting its own resources and also by entering into partnerships with 
other companies. 
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Status of the product portfolio and of research and development activities 

Medigene is developing three complementary immunotherapies (T-cell receptor (TCR)-modified T cells, 
dendritic cell (DC) vaccines, and T-cell-specific monoclonal antibodies, (TABs)) with the first product candidates 
in clinical and preclinical development.  
 
In its non-core business, Medigene has one marketed drug, Veregen®, which is distributed by partner companies. In 
addition, Medigene has a clinical drug candidate, RhuDex®, which is outlicensed to a partner company which 
assumes responsibility for the further clinical development.  
 
Core business:  
Immunotherapies  
T cells are the most important agents in the immune system and are at the center of Medigene’s approach. With 
the aid of Medigene’s immunotherapies the patient’s own defense mechanisms are activated and T cells 
harnessed in the battle against cancer. 
 
Medigene’s three complementary platforms have been developed to treat various forms of tumor in the various 
stages of the disease. In this way, it is intended to provide a T	  cell response that is tailored to the patient’s 
particular needs.	   
 
T-cell receptor-based adoptive T-cell therapy (TCRs) 
Medigene’s TCR platform in the field of immunotherapy aims to arm the patient’s own T cells with tumor-
specific T-cell receptors. The receptor-modified T cells are then able to detect and efficiently kill tumor cells. 
This approach to immunotherapy aims to overcome the patient’s tolerance to cancer cells and tumor-induced 
immunosuppression, by activating, modifying and multiplying the patient’s T cells outside the body (ex-vivo). 
Large numbers of specific T cells to fight the tumor are made available to patients within a short period of time. 
 
In the context of this platform Medigene is developing a pipeline of recombinant T-cell receptors. Moreover, a 
good manufacturing practice (GMP)-compliant process for their combination with patient-derived T cells is 
currently being established and paves the way for the clinical development of our proprietary TCRs.  
 
On September 29, 2016, Medigene and bluebird bio, Inc., Cambridge, MA, USA, (hereinafter referred to as 
“bluebird”), entered into a strategic research and development cooperation and a license agreement for the joint 
development of TCR immunotherapies against four target molecules of bluebird. Under the terms of of the 
partnership, Medigene is responsible for generating and preparing the TCRs identified in the collaboration using 
its TCR technology platform. Following the collaborative preclinical development, bluebird bio will assume sole 
responsibility for the clinical development and commercialization of the TCR product candidates and will receive 
an exclusive license for the patents covering the resulting TCRs. In the fourth quarter of 2016 Medigene received 
a non-recurring upfront payment of US$15 m and has a right to potential preclinical, clinical, regulatory and 
commercial milestone payments, which together could total over US$1 bn if all the defined preclinical, clinical, 
regulatory and commercial milestones are reached for the four potential TCR products across several indications. 
Additionally, Medigene will receive R&D funding for work performed in the collaboration and is eligible for tiered 
royalties on net sales up to a double-digit percentage. 
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At the Neoantigen Summit in Boston, USA, which was held in November 2016, Prof. Dolores Schendel presented a 
new approach to developing T-cell receptors (TCR) to combat neoantigens1. Medigene demonstrated that T cells 
from healthy donors could be utilized to identify and characterize TCR candidates against neoantigens and allow 
individualized cancer patient treatment. Proof of technology was demonstrated by a new robotic system from 
Medigene. Thanks to automation, the process can identify neoantigen-specific TCR candidates within about six 
weeks. This will result in both time-savings and cost-reductions in future and minimize the degree of variability in 
all phases of the TCR discovery process. Characteristic patient-specific neoantigens open up new avenues for 
genuinely personalized immunotherapies to fight cancer. 
 
In July 2016, Medigene announced that it had been granted another patent for its method of identifying CD4+ T-
cell antigens, which expands the TCR platform technology of the Company. This patent protects a rapid and 
efficient method of identifying tumor-specific antigens and secures a new source of potential TCR candidates for 
Medigene. The patent might also facilitate the use of neoantigens in personalized T-cell therapies in the future. 
Medigene holds an exclusive license to the patent that was issued to Helmholtz Zentrum München (German 
Research Center for Environmental Health). 
 
In June 2016, Medigene announced a collaboration with Max Delbrück Center for Molecular Medicine in the 
Helmholtz-Association (MDC), Berlin, and The Charité - University Clinic (Charité), Berlin, to conduct a first 
investigator-initiated TCR trial. The joint project entitled “MageA1-TCR Gene Therapy of Multiple Myeloma 
(MAGEA1-TCR)” is being subsidized by a grant from the Federal Ministry of Education and Research 
(Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung, BMBF). The planned trial would be the first in Germany in which 
the T cells of patients with resistant or relapsed multiple myeloma are to be equipped with tumor-specific T-cell 
receptors. 
 
In May 2016, Medigene announced that it had entered into an agreement with EUFETS GmbH for the production 
of T-cell receptor (TCR)-modified T cells. Together with Medigene, EUFETS will start up the cell production 
needed for Medigene’s own scheduled Phase I/II TCR trials. 
 
DC vaccines (DCs) 
With Medigene’s most advanced platform the Company develops new generation antigen-tailored dendritic cell 
(DC) vaccines.   Dendritic cells (DC) can take up antigens, process them and present them on their surface in a form 
that can induce antigen-specific T cells to mature and proliferate. In this way T cells recognize and eliminate 
antigen-bearing tumor cells. Dendritic cells can also induce natural killer cells (NK cells) to attack tumor cells. The 
team of Medigene has developed new, fast and efficient methods for generating autologous (patient-specific) 
mature dendritic cells which have relevant characteristics to activate both T cells and NK cells. The dendritic 
cells can be loaded with various tumor antigens to treat different forms of cancer. 
 
In April 2016, the Company announced the beginning of Phase II of Medigene’s clinical Phase I/II trial of DC 
vaccines for acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Beforehand the independent Data and Safety Monitoring Board 
(DSMB) came to a positive evaluation of the safety and tolerability data obtained in Phase I part of the AML DC 
vaccine trial after the first six patients were treated at least four times with Medigene’s DC vaccine. The DSMB 
thereupon recommended moving on to Phase II of the trial. The treatment of the first patient in the Phase II trial 
commenced in April 2016. This trial provides Medigene with clinical and safety data of active immunotherapy. 
 
	    

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
1 Neoantigens are newly created antigens that have not been recognized by the immune system and are frequently associated with tumor antigens and are expressed by 
tumor cells.  
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Other trials, which are utilizing Medigene’s DC vaccine technology, are being conducted as clinical investigator-
initiated trials: a clinical Phase I/II trial in AML at the Ludwig-Maximilian University Hospital Grosshadern, Munich, 
and a clinical Phase II trial in prostate cancer at the Oslo University Hospital. Moreover, a compassionate use 
program2 is being conducted at the Department of Cellular Therapy at Oslo University Hospital. Medigene is 
concentrating on the further development of the DC vaccines in hematological malignancies.  
 
In April 2016, Medigene’s academic partner, Oslo University Hospital, presented positive early clinical data of an 
ongoing investigator-initiated clinical Phase I/II trial (IIT) on dendritic cell (DC) vaccines for the treatment of 
prostate cancer at the American Association for Cancer Research (AACR) Annual Meeting in New Orleans, LA, 
USA.  
 
In February 2016, Medigene announced the grant of US patent 9,238,063 by the US Patent Office covering semi-
allogeneic anti-tumor vaccines with HLA-haplo-identical antigen-presenting cells (APCs). Medigene holds an 
exclusive license to the patent that was issued to Helmholtz Zentrum München. 
 
T-cell-specific monoclonal antibodies (TABs) 
Medigene’s third product platform serves to generate monoclonal antibodies which are able to recognize 
different T cells (TABs = T-cell-specific AntiBodies). These TABs are intended to remove unwanted T cells 
from the body in order to treat T-cell-induced diseases such as T-cell leukemia or various autoimmune diseases. 
This platform is used to produce and characterize monoclonal antibodies which are able to distinguish between 
different T cells. Proof of technology was established in preclinical experiments. Preclinical development 
continued on T-cell-specific monoclonal antibodies (TABs).  
 
Non-core business: 
Other products 
The following drugs or drug candidates from Medigene’s non-core business are marketed or developed by 
partners:  
 
Veregen® 
Medigene generates revenue from royalties, product sales, and milestone payments with Veregen®, a drug for the 
treatment of genital warts. Veregen® is based on a defined extract from green tea leaves and is currently available 
in the USA and Canada, in 20 European countries, and in Taiwan. Numerous marketing agreements for Veregen® 
are in place with international partners (see www.medigene.com/pipeline/other-products).  
 
Rhudex® und EndoTAG® 
In 2014, Medigene concluded an exclusive global license agreement with the pharmaceutical company Dr. Falk 
Pharma GmbH (“Falk Pharma”) for the development and commercialization of the drug candidate RhuDex® in the 
indications hepatology and gastroenterology. Falk Pharma assumes responsibility and all costs relating to the 
future development and marketing of RhuDex® in these therapeutic areas.  
 
In December 2015, Medigene signed an agreement with SynCore Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (“SynCore”) governing 
the purchase of all assets related to EndoTAG® and the transfer of EndoTAG® in its entirety to SynCore. This deal 
replaces the license agreement entered into in May 2013. Under the new agreement, Medigene is entitled to 
receive €5 m, which will be paid out in five annual installments. In addition, the agreement contains further  
	    

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
2 Compassionate use: Prescription of as-yet unapproved drugs in particularly severe cases where there are no treatment alternatives 
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potential milestone payments and royalties for EndoTAG®-1. The deal to transfer the rights to EndoTAG® was 
closed in January 2016 upon receipt of the first payment from SynCore. 
 
AAVLP 
In December 2016, Medigene announced the outlicensing of its preclinical AAVLP technology to the Swedish 
biotech company, 2A Pharma AB, Malmö, Sweden (hereinafter referred to as “2A Pharma”). Medigene issued 2A 
Pharma an exclusive global license to develop and market AAVLPs (adeno-associated virus-like particles). The 
agreement has given Medigene the right to receive milestone payments upon reaching defined clinical, regulatory 
and commercial targets and to receive royalties from the sale of future AAVLP products by 2A Pharma. Further 
financial details were not released. AAVLP technology was a research project originating in the days before 
Medigene repositioned itself as a specialist in T cell immunotherapies and is not related to the current 
immunotherapy programs of the Company.  
 
CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT  

Changes to the Executive Management Board and management reinforcements 

In February 2016, Prof. Dolores J. Schendel took over from Dr. Frank Mathias as Chief Executive Officer (CEO) in 
addition to her responsibilities as Chief Scientific Officer (CSO). Dr. Frank Mathias left the Company at the end of 
March 2016. In addition, Dave Lemus, who had been a member of the Supervisory Board of Medigene AG until 
December 2015, assumed the newly created position of Chief Operating Officer (COO) with effect from January 
2016 as well as assuming several functional responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) on an interim 
basis. Executive Management Board member Peter Llewellyn-Davies left the Company at the end of March 2016. 
On November 22, 2016 it was announced that Dr. Thomas Taapken will assume the position of Chief Financial 
Officer effective January 1, 2017. 
 
In the first quarter of 2016, Medigene also expanded management by appointing Dr. Dr. Olav Zilian as Senior Vice 
President Corporate Development, Dr. Kai Pinkernell as Senior Vice President Medical Affairs/Chief Medical 
Officer (CMO) and Dr. Markus Dangl as Senior Vice President Research & Pre-Clinical Development. These 
management changes are a next step in sharpening the Company’s focus on research, clinical development and 
commercialization of its innovative immunotherapies. 
 
Milestone payment to former contributing shareholders of Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH 

In April 2016 Medigene announced the start of treatment of the first patient for the Phase II part of the clinical 
Phase I/II trial for DC vaccines for AML. This triggered a milestone payment of €3,175 k to former contributing 
shareholders of Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH. In May 2016, Medigene announced that the payment will be 
settled through the issuance of 392,875 new shares from authorized capital against capital increase through 
contribution in kind. The milestone payment was an agreed part of the purchase price in the acquisition of 
Medigene Immunotherapies in January 2014. ≥ see the Notes to the consolidated financial statements D) notes 
(38) for more information on the increase of share capital. 
 
Sale of a stake in Immunocore for €6 m 
In April 2016 Medigene AG sold 50% of its stake in private biotech company Immunocore Ltd., UK, for GB£4.9 m 
(€6 m). As at 12/31/2016 Medigene held a total of 32,407 ordinary shares in Immunocore (64,815 shares as at 
12/31/2015). 
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Mandatory conversion of the zero coupon convertible note 2014/2016 

In June 2016, Medigene informed the holders that Medigene would exercise its call rights on the notes to enforce 
a mandatory conversion into equity on the date on which the notes matured (July 20, 2016) provided that the 
notes had not been prematurely repaid, converted, repurchased or canceled beforehand. The conversion price was 
€4.80 after being adjusted in July 2015 (previously it stood at €5.00). The 186,066 convertible bonds that had not 
been converted as at July 20, 2016 were converted into 38,749 new shares.  
 
Inclusion into the TecDAX index 
On December 6, 2016 Deutsche Börse announced that the Medigene share would be included in the TecDAX index 
commencing December 19, 2016. The TecDAX is a reference index composed of medium-sized German tech 
companies. The TecDAX is placed directly below Germany's bluechip index, the DAX, and has 30 companies in its 
basket, all of which are admitted to the Prime Standard of the stock exchange. The criteria for admission to the 
TecDAX are meeting all international requirements for transparency, an above-average market capitalization 
(share price multiplied by the number of shares of the Company) and high turnover (number of shares traded per 
day). A TecDAX listing increases Medigene’s visibility on the capital markets and facilitates cooperation with 
national and international investors. 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
Revenue and other operating income 

The total revenue of the Company rose by 43% to €9,749 k in the reporting period (2015: €6,808 k). This increase 
is due, on the one hand, to the special effects from the sale of EndoTAG®, which were posted under other operating 
income and, on the other, to the cooperation entered into with bluebird in September 2016. 
 
Under the terms of this strategic cooperation on research and development with bluebird bio, Inc., Cambridge, 
MA, USA, (hereinafter referred to as “bluebird”) Medigene received a non-recurring upfront payment of US$15 m 
(€13.4 m) in the fourth quarter of 2016. This will be realized over an estimated period of 45 months 
corresponding to the expected duration of the underlying services. Revenue of €894 k was generated from this 
cooperation in the fiscal year (2015: €0 k). In addition to the non-recurring payment, Medigene was reimbursed 
for research and development expenses of €159 k (2015: €0 k) incurred within the framework of the cooperation. 
 
In addition, Medigene generated revenue with its outlicensed drug, Veregen®. This remained more or less constant 
in 2016 at €3,048 k (2015: €3,101 k) and consists of royalties, product deliveries to the sales partners and 
milestone payments. 
 
Other operating income generated by the Company rose by 52% to €5,648 k in the reporting period (2015: 
€3,707 k). The main factors in the increase were the net gain on the sale of the intangible assets associated with 
the drug candidate, EndoTAG®

 of €2,365 k (after deducting the carrying amount of the intangible asset of €2,079 
k) as well as reimbursements of €672 k (2015: €1,123 k) for development expenses incurred before the date of 
sale and the progressive transfer of this project to SynCore.  
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Furthermore, as in previous years, Medigene recognized regular, non-cash income of €2,493 k in 2016 following 
an agreement with the US investor, Cowen Healthcare Royalty Partners II, L.P., USA (“Cowen”) for a former drug of 
Medigene, Eligard®.  
 
As a result, the Company met its revenue guidance for 2016 (forecast 2016: stable or rising total revenue, of 
which revenue of €3 - 4 m from Veregen®). 
 
TOTAL REVENUE 
IN € K 2016 2015 CHANGE 

Revenue Veregen® 3,048 3,101 -2% 
Revenue bluebird 1,053 0 - 

thereof revenue from the collaboration  894 0 - 
thereof R&D payments  159 0 - 

Other operating income 5,648 3,707 52% 

thereof R&D payments from partners (SynCore®/EndoTAG®)  672 1,123 -40% 
thereof gain on sale of intangible assets, net (SynCore®/EndoTAG®) 2,365 0 - 
thereof non-cash income Cowen 2,493 2,493 0% 
thereof other revenue  118 91 30% 

Total revenue  9,749 6,808 43% 

 

Selling expenses 

Expenses for business development, distributing Veregen® and marketing are reported under selling expenses. 
These include personnel expenses, regulatory costs, consultancy fees, market studies and other services. Selling 
expenses increased to €4,167 k (2015: €2,141 k) in the reporting period, mainly on account of an accrual of 
€1,662 k associated with the minimum purchase obligation for Veregen® arising in earlier periods as well as higher 
personnel expenses and bonus payments for the cooperation with bluebird.  
 

General administrative expenses 

General administrative expenses increased by €384 k year-on-year to €5,858 k in the reporting period (2015: 
€5,474 k) due predominantly to higher consulting fees associated with the cooperation with bluebird and an 
expansion of IT infrastructure. In addition, administrative expenses rose due to higher personnel expenses. 
 

Research and development expenses 

Research and development expenses rose to €11,538 k in the reporting period (2015: €8,529 k) as a result of the 
expansion of immunotherapy projects, mainly due to services, personnel expenses and the cost of laboratory 
materials. The R&D expenses for Medigene’s immunotherapy programs increased by 89% to €10,468 k in the 
fiscal year 2016 (2015: €5,534 k). As a result, the Company met its forecast for 2016 (forecast R&D expenses for 
immunotherapies 2016: €9 - 11 m). 
 
The R&D costs incurred for EndoTAG®-1 and bluebird are reimbursed by the partners SynCore and bluebird and 
stated under other operating income as R&D payments from partners.  
 
The composition of R&D expenses can be found in the ≥ Notes to the consolidated financial statements, section 
C) note (30).  
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EBITDA 

The loss generated by the Company at EBITDA level rose to €12,371 k in 2016 (2015: a loss of €9,495 k). 
Medigene’s EBITDA is derived from the net profit/loss for the period. It does not include any taxes, financial 
result (comprising interest income, interest expense), foreign exchange gains or losses, gains or losses from the 
sale of financial assets, other financial income or expenses, share of result of associates, or depreciation or 
amortization.  
The deterioration is primarily due to higher research and development expenses for Medigene’s immunotherapy 
programs, as planned. At roughly €12 m, the actual loss at EBITDA level for 2016 lies within the range forecast for 
2016 (forecast 2016: a loss at EBITDA level of between €10 and €12 m). 
 
EBITDA 
IN € K 2016 2015 CHANGE 

Net loss for the year  -9,492 -12,999 -27% 
Taxes -228 -400 -43% 
Financial result 1,009 2,914 -65% 
Foreign exchange losses 128 856 -85% 
Income from the sale of financial assets -4,242 0 - 
Other financial result -391 0 - 
Share of result/disposal of associates 0 -810 - 
Depreciation and amortization 845 944 -10% 
EBITDA  -12,371 -9,495 30% 

 
Income from the sale of financial assets 

On April 4, 2016 Medigene AG sold 50% of its stake in the private biotech company Immunocore Ltd., UK, for 
GB£4.9 m (€6 m). As at 12/31/2016 Medigene held a total of 32,407 ordinary shares in Immunocore (as at 
12/31/2015: 64,815 shares). The net gains of €4,242 k from the fair value measurement of these shares that was 
recorded in other comprehensive income until their sale were reclassified to profit and loss upon their sale in 
2016. 
 
Financial result  

The financial result comprises interest income and interest expense and amounted to €-1,009 k in the reporting 
period (2015: €-2,914 k). The financial result consists mainly of a non-cash interest expense of €1,167 k (2015: 
€1,316 k) which resulted from the measurement of the financial liability to Cowen.  
 
Other financial result  

The other financial result also includes contingent purchase price payments of €391 k based on sales for Amgen’s 
drug, ImlygicTM. At the end of December 2015 Medigene announced that Amgen Inc., USA, had acquired 100% of 
the Medigene spin-off Catherex, Inc. Medigene has a right to additional price installment payments upon certain 
sales-related milestones being reached for ImlygicTM. In addition, Medigene will receive contingent purchase price 
payments based on sales for ImlygicTM through to the end of 2020.  
 
Net profit/loss for the year 

The net loss for the year was reduced by 27% to €9,492 k, (2015: €12,999 k).  
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Earnings per share 

In 2016 the loss per share amounted to €0.48 (basic/diluted weighted average number of shares: 19,952,677) 
compared with a loss per share of €0.77 in the previous year (basic/diluted weighted average number of shares: 
16,808,501). For both fiscal years, the diluted earnings per share were the same as the basic earnings per share, 
since taking into account the weighted average number of shares to be issued upon the exercise of stock options 
would produce an anti-dilutive effect.  
 
Segments 

The activities of Medigene AG are broken down into the segments “Immunotherapies” (core business) and 
“Other products” (non-core business) ≥ see the notes to the financial statements, E) “Segment reporting”. The 
Immunotherapies segment comprises the activities in the field of immunotherapies and is the main business 
focus of the Group.  

FINANCIAL POSITION 
CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
IN € K 2016 2015 CHANGE 

Net cash    

 used in operating activities  -3,758 -10,605 -65% 
 investing activities 9,860 -39,409 -125% 
 financing activities -231 43,797 -101% 

Decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,871 -6,217 -194% 

Cash and cash equivalents, opening balance  8,759 14,976 -42% 
Cash and cash equivalents, closing balance 14,630 8,759 67% 

Time deposits 38,000 38,000 - 

Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 52,630 46,759 13% 

 
Net cash used in operating activities 

Medigene recorded a decrease of 65% in the cash used in operating activities in the reporting period to 
€3,758 k (2015: €10,605 k). Among other factors, this positive development is due to the non-recurring 
upfront payment of €13.4 m (US$15 m) received from bluebird in October 2016 upon entering into the TCR 
partnership. This represents average monthly cash used for operating activities of €0.3 m in 2016 (2015: 
€0.9 m). Without the payment from bluebird, the average monthly cash used would have been €1.5 m per month.  
 
Net cash provided by/used in investing activities 

The cash provided by investing activities came to €9,860 k in the reporting period (2015: cash used of €39,409 k), 
mainly on account of the sale of 50% of the shares held in Immunocore and the sale of Catherex Inc. that was 
concluded in 2015.  
 
Net cash used in/provided by financing activities 

The cash used in financing activities came to €231 k in the reporting period (2015: cash provided of 
€43,797 k). The net cash provided by financing activities in 2015 consists of the proceeds from the capital 
increase of €46.4 m less the related transaction costs. 
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Changes in cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 

Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits amounted to €52,630 k on the reporting date and consist of cash 
and cash equivalents of €14,630 k (12/31/2015: €8,759 k) and time deposits of €38,000 k (12/31/2015: 
€38,000 k). The cash to total assets ratio, calculated as cash and cash equivalents and time deposits divided by 
total assets, amounted to 47% on the reporting date (12/31/2015: 41%). There were no open credit lines.  

NET ASSETS 
DEVELOPMENT OF ASSETS, SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  
IN € K 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 CHANGE 

Assets    
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 36,878 36,003 2% 
Goodwill 2,212 2,212 - 
Financial and non-current other assets 8,652 13,337 -35% 
Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 52,630 46,759 13% 
Inventories and trade accounts receivable 9,041 7,417 22% 
Current other assets 2,302 5,724 -60% 
Intangible assets held for sale 0 2,079 - 

Total assets 111,715 113,531 -2% 

    
Shareholders’ equity and liabilities    
Shareholders’ equity 78,592 89,988 -13% 
Non-current liabilities 21,157 13,879 52% 
Current liabilities 11,966 9,664 24% 
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 111,715 113,531 -2% 

    
Cash to total assets ratio (%) (Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits x 100 / 
Total assets) 47  41  

Equity ratio (%) (Shareholders’ equity x 100 / Total shareholders’ equity and 
liabilities) 70 79  

 
Assets 

Total assets decreased slightly by 2% on the previous year to €111,715 k as at December 31, 2016 
(12/31/2015: €113,531 k).  
 
Financial and non-current other assets decreased by 35% to €8,652 k as at the reporting date (12/31/2015: 
€13,337 k) on account of the sale of shares in Immunocore Ltd. in the second quarter of 2016.  
 
As described above in the financial position, cash and cash and cash equivalents and time deposits increased by 
13% to €52,630 k as at the reporting date (12/31/2015: €46,759 k). 
 
The increase in inventories and trade receivables is primarily due to an increase in inventories. As at the reporting 
date, inventories of Veregen® amounted to €7,866 k (12/31/2015: €6,654 k), an increase of 18% as a result of the 
minimum purchase commitment with the Japanese producer, among other factors. 
 
Other current assets decreased by 60% to €2,302 k (12/31/2015: €5,724 k). As at December 31, 2015 the Group  
reported a receivable from Amgen Inc. of €4,456 k under current other assets. As this was paid in 2016 current 
assets decreased accordingly. The decrease was offset to some extent by the current portion of the receivable 
from SynCore of €1,000 k arising from the transfer of all rights to EndoTAG® which were presented in fiscal year 
2016. 
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The held-for-sale intangible assets of €2,079 k related to EndoTAG®
 presented as at December 31, 2015 were 

derecognized in the first quarter of 2016 after all rights to EndoTAG® were transferred to SynCore on the basis of 
an agreement made in December 2015 and executed in January 2016.  
 
Shareholders’ equity and liabilities  

In the reporting period, shareholders’ equity decreased by 13% to a total of €78,592 k as at December 31, 2016 
(12/31/2015: €89,988 k). The decrease is primarily due to the net loss of 
 €9,492 k in fiscal year 2016. The equity ratio decreased to 70% as at the end of 2016 (12/31/2015: 79%). For 
further details of the capital structure and the objectives and methods of financial risk management ≥ see the 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements D) notes (38) and (45). 
 
Current and non-current liabilities totaled €33,123 k as at the reporting date (12/31/2015: €23,543 k). This 
constitutes 30% of total shareholders’ equity and liabilities (12/31/2015: 21%). The increase is mainly due to an 
increase in deferred revenue. The non-current portion of €8,937 k and the current portion of €3,575 k as at 
12/31/2016 corresponds to the unrealized portion of the non-recurring upfront payment of €13.4 m from 
bluebird. This will be realized over an estimated period of 45 months corresponding to the duration of the 
underlying services. Revenue of €894 k was generated from this cooperation in the fiscal year (2015: €0 k). 
 
In addition, current liabilities increased as at the reporting date due to an accrual of €1,662 k as at 12/31/2016 
(2015: €0 k) related to a minimum purchase obligation made in earlier years for supplies of the active ingredient 
of Veregen®. The increase in current liabilities was partly offset by a reduction in liabilities for milestone 
payments to former shareholders of Medigene Immunotherapies. The second milestone payment € 3,175 k was 
settled in the second quarter of 2016 by issue of new shares in the course of a non-cash capital increase.  
 
The composition of current and non-current liabilities can be found in the ≥ Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, section D) note (41). 
 
Working capital – the difference between current assets and current liabilities – increased from €50,236 k as at 
December 31, 2015 to €52,007 k as at December 31, 2016, primarily as a result of an increase in cash and cash 
equivalents. ≥ See Financial position p. 23. 
 
Overall statement 

Medigene AG invested systematically in its immunotherapy programs in the fiscal year 2016 and met its financial 
guidance made in the 2015 annual report. In addition, the financial base of the Company was strengthened when 
an alliance was entered into with bluebird in the field of TCR therapy platforms.  
 
The Company continued to pursue its strategic repositioning in 2016 and drove forward its development focus on 
innovative immunotherapies. With support from reinforcements to the management team, Medigene continued 
its preparations for the clinical development of its TCR technology and successfully moved the ongoing clinical 
trial of DC vaccines into Phase II. The patent portfolio in the core business of immunotherapies has been 
expanded and the divestment of non-core projects continued. By entering into a partnership with one of the global 
leaders in biotech in the field of T-cell immunotherapies coupled with Medigene’s promotion to the TecDAX stock 
index has significantly enhanced its visibility and relevance for the capital markets and pharma/biotech markets.  
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Medigene will use this foundation to rigorously advance its development of immunotherapy programs. Risks that 
could jeopardize the long-term success of the Company are discussed in the Risk and opportunity report. ≥ see p. 
27 et seq. 

EMPLOYEES 
Number of employees in the Group  

As at the end of 2016, the number of employees totaled 88 (12/31/2015: 73). The number of full-time 
equivalents (FTEs) increased to 80 as at December 31, 2016 (12/31/2015: 66). Personnel expenses increased by 
24% in the fiscal year 2016 to €9,493 k (2015: €7,664 k), mainly as a result of the higher average headcount for 
the year as a whole and wage and salary increases. 
 
EMPLOYEES BY COMPANY AND REGION  
 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 CHANGE 

Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried 45 46 -2% 
Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH, Planegg/Martinsried 40 24 67% 
Medigene, Inc., San Diego 3 3 - 
Total 88 73 21% 

REMUNERATION OF THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD 
AND SUPERVISORY BOARD 
Executive Management Board remuneration 

Remuneration of the members of the Executive Management Board totaled €1,447 k in the past fiscal year (2015: 
€1,595 k) including pension expenses of €44 k (2015: €48 k) and vehicle leasing costs for company cars of €15 k 
(2015: €33 k). In addition, stock options with a total fair value of €296 k were issued to the Executive 
Management Board in the fiscal year 2016 (2015: €97 k). Total remuneration of the Executive Management Board 
members comprises fixed and variable components as well as other remuneration. The fixed component includes 
remuneration which is not performance-related and is paid in monthly installments. Variable remuneration 
includes an annual performance-based payment and stock options. The amount and composition of the 
remuneration paid to the individual members of the Executive Management Board and a detailed remuneration 
report can be found in the ≥ Notes to the consolidated financial statements, section F) note (49).  
 
Supervisory Board remuneration 

The remuneration paid to the Supervisory Board members amounted to €112 k in 2016 (2015: €105 k). The total 
remuneration paid to the members of the Supervisory Board comprises a fixed portion as well as meeting 
attendance fees. In addition, expenses are reimbursed. The greater scope of activities of the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board and his deputy are taken into account and accordingly reflected by higher remuneration. The 
amount and composition of the remuneration paid to the individual members of the Supervisory Board and details 
on the subscription rights of board members can be found in the ≥ Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, section F) notes (50) and (51).  
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RISK AND OPPORTUNITY REPORT 
Information on risk management pursuant to Section 315 (2) No. 5 of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB) 

Principles, administration and controlling 

Entrepreneurial success involves taking risks and acting with the appropriate degree of responsibility. With this in 
mind, Medigene’s management utilizes a risk management system that can be flexibly adapted to new situations 
and is subject to continuous review. The risks are assessed on the basis of their probability of occurrence and 
their potential impact. The respective information management involves reporting on short-term specific risks 
twice a week by the risk managers to the Executive Management Board, an evaluation at least annually of all 
corporate risks in line with the definition of risks issued by the Executive Management Board, and the 
requirement that all risks to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern be reported on an ad-hoc basis. 
The Executive Management Board informs the Supervisory Board of the reported risks at its meetings that are 
held at least four times a year. This diverse, regular communication allows the Executive Management Board to 
identify any risks at an early stage, evaluate their impact on Medigene and initiate appropriate countermeasures. 
 
Organizational safeguards have been established by segregation of duties. Activities or business transactions 
with inherent risks are never carried out by one employee alone – in all such cases, several persons are generally 
responsible for the decision-making process and the decision itself. Work instructions and workflows are 
standardized to ensure the consistent execution of each individual operation. IT risks are minimized by means of 
access restrictions and policies for system development and maintenance. Forms, worksheets and laboratory 
journals are used to fully record and document all data. Medigene’s controlling department is responsible for 
target-oriented coordination of planning, information supply, and management and monitoring. In order to 
identify any deviations, projects undergo a monthly budget-to-actual comparison, the results of which are 
regularly discussed with project managers and the Executive Management Board.  
 
Portfolio strategy to reduce overall risk 

Medigene’s overall risk with regard to its success and existence as a going concern is essentially determined by 
the individual risks arising in clinical development and product marketing, as well as entering into successful 
strategic partner arrangements with the biotech/pharmaceutical industry and corporate financing. The 
commercial success and future existence of Medigene therefore depend primarily on successful drug 
development and product marketing, as well as prevailing conditions on the capital market. Medigene addresses 
the inherently high risk that individual projects might fail by maintaining a product portfolio based on different 
technological and scientific approaches that are independent of each other.  
 
Portfolio management and evaluation 

Medigene’s project portfolio is managed proactively and assessed at regular intervals. The management process 
includes drawing up development plans for each individual project. These are then adopted by a development 
committee and compliance with the plan is monitored by the Executive Management Board. The regular 
assessment of the individual projects is based on the analysis and evaluation of their opportunities and risks, 
covering the technical risk as well as intellectual property and scientific hypotheses of potential competitors. 
Other areas covered by the assessment are clinical development considerations, market approval conditions, 
process development and portfolio strategy. Another significant element is the analysis of the current and future 
development of the segment of the drug market under consideration.  
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Results are summarized in a scenario analysis that includes a profitability assessment based on discounted cash 
flows. This feasibility study then provides the basis for any decision relating to Medigene’s overall portfolio and 
future strategic orientation of the Company. Medigene is supported by internationally renowned scientists and 
pharmaceutical experts in its research and development activities. Such consultations are based on the most up-
to-date findings from research and clinical application.  
 
Particular attention is devoted to patent-related work. Medigene’s paramount goal is to ensure comprehensive 
patent protection for technology and products in order to protect Medigene from potential competitors. 
Medigene does not depend on any one technology or any one product. Rather, it possesses a diversified portfolio 
which is safeguarded by means of far-reaching international patents that are either pending or have been granted. 
In addition, cooperation with external scientific institutes, universities and other companies provides access to 
state-of-the-art developments and technologies. 
 
Business planning and forecasting 
Medigene’s management regularly prepares a detailed business plan, at least once a year, incorporating the 
results of portfolio management and evaluation. This plan contains numerous assumptions relating to, among 
others, project progress, the outcome of clinical trials, the conclusion of new licensing agreements, the trend in 
product revenue and general conditions within the relevant pharmaceutical market segments. These assumptions 
may deviate substantially from actual future developments. In order to be able to manage the Company in spite of 
the resulting uncertainties, a variety of scenarios are developed regarding key assumptions with the aim of 
securing the Company’s further financing from the end of the reporting period ≥ see Financing and liquidity risks 
on page 32 et seq.  
 
Adherence to the business plan is subject to continuous monitoring. The Company is managed on the basis of 
monthly budget-to-actual analyses. Furthermore, the business plan is adjusted as soon as there are any changes in 
the assumptions made. A monthly liquidity and shareholders’ equity plan is also drawn up.  
 
Quality assurance 

Medigene’s quality assurance system complies with the requirements of the German Pharmaceuticals Act 
(Arzneimittelgesetz), the Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) guidelines as well as the guidelines on Good Clinical 
Practice (GCP) and Good Pharmacovigilance Practices (GVP). GMP contains quality assurance guidelines for all 
processes regarding the manufacture of medicinal products and active pharmaceutical ingredients. GCP 
encompasses requirements for quality assurance during clinical trials to protect trial participants and the quality 
of the trial results. GVP is centered on detecting, assessing, understanding and preventing side effects and other 
medicine-related issues. In addition, Medigene commissions preclinical trials of regulatory relevance to 
guarantee the quality and reliability of the data collected in line with Good Laboratory Practice (GLP). Following 
these guidelines ensures compliance with defined standards in the development, production, testing, and 
monitoring of pharmaceutical products. Medigene has a large number of standardized workflows in the field of 
quality assurance at its disposal. 
 
Environmental and health protection 
Medigene is committed to safety and environmental protection. The Company meets stringent statutory 
requirements and also strives to keep its laboratory facilities and equipment state-of-the-art. In order to monitor 
compliance with regulatory requirements, Medigene has appointed an in-house officer for biological safety, a 
project manager in accordance with the provisions of the German Genetic Engineering Act (Gentechnikgesetz) as 
well as officers for infection prevention, safety and waste management, all of whom are experienced employees 
specifically trained for their specialist tasks. Medigene also employs a working safety specialist who has been 
trained in accordance with the guidelines of the statutory employers’ liability insurance scheme for the chemical 
industry. 
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Medigene’s laboratory systems are serviced on an ongoing basis and are continuously maintained and expanded. 
Medigene enlists the help of external service providers to ensure that all accumulated waste materials are 
properly sorted and disposed of professionally or recycled in accordance with requirements. In order to guarantee 
safety in the workplace for each laboratory employee, the safety engineer performs hazard analyses and 
conducts training sessions. In addition, preventive medical check-ups are carried out at regular intervals. 
Medigene complies with all key requirements in respect of environmental protection and health and safety. The 
Company holds the requisite authorizations and permits. The Company has passed all random inspections and 
tests carried out by the various authorities to date without any relevant objections. 
 
Accounting-related control system 
Medigene considers its internal control and risk management system to be comprehensive and bases its approach 
on the definitions of accounting-related internal control system and risk management system provided by the 
Institute of Public Auditors in Germany, Düsseldorf (IDW). This approach defines an internal control system as 
consisting of the principles, procedures and measures introduced in the Company by the management with the 
purpose of implementing management decisions in the organization. Such principles, procedures and measures 
pursue the following goals:  
 
≥ To deliver effective and efficient business activities (this also encompasses asset protection, including 

prevention and detection of fraud) 
≥ To ensure proper and reliable internal and external financial reporting 
≥ To comply with the legal requirements applicable to the Company policies 
 
The risk management system is the totality of all organizational regulations and measures introduced to identify 
and manage the risks of entrepreneurial activity. All companies, business units and departments included in the 
consolidated financial statements are integrated in the system via a defined leadership and reporting 
organization. 
The Executive Management Board bears overall responsibility for the accounting-related internal control and risk 
management system of the consolidated companies and the Group.  
 
Medigene considers those features of the internal control and risk management system that can significantly 
influence the Group’s financial reporting and the overall statement in the consolidated financial statements and 
the group management’s discussion and analysis to be key with regard to the accounting processes of the 
consolidated companies and the Group accounting processes. They include, in particular, the following elements: 
 
≥ Identification of key risk zones and controlling areas relevant to the group-wide accounting process 
≥ Checks to monitor the group-wide reporting system and its findings at the business unit and departmental 

levels and at the companies included in the consolidated financial statements 
≥ Control measures for the finance and accounting systems of the Group and of those companies, units and 

divisions included in the consolidated financial statements that generate information which is fundamental 
to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management’s discussion and 
analysis. These control measures include the separation of duties and pre-defined approval processes in 
the relevant divisions 

≥ Internal checks of the Group’s accounting-related internal control and risk management system by 
management 

 
Moreover, the Group has implemented a risk management system for the group-wide accounting process that 
includes measures to identify and assess major risks, as well as measures designed to limit such risks in order to 
ensure that the consolidated financial statements are properly prepared. 
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Risks relating to immunotherapies 

Industry and market risks 
Medigene is subject to the typical industry and market risks inherent in the development of pharmaceutical 
products using innovative technologies. Experience shows that the development of a drug takes 10 to 15 years. In 
principle, there is a risk that some or all of Medigene’s products may not be developed or marketed successfully. 
There is also the possibility that they may fail to obtain the regulatory approval required for marketing or further 
development, that one or all of the drug candidates turn out to be hazardous or ineffective, that not all the 
financing required to develop therapies can be raised, that the products cannot be manufactured in large 
quantities or marketed profitably, or that they are not sufficiently competitive. Furthermore, proprietary rights 
held by third parties may pose an obstacle to marketing therapies, or other companies may launch products that 
are superior in terms of quality or market price. 
 
Risks of dependence on cooperation agreements 
Successful conclusion of the cooperation agreement protects Medigene from the risk of a collaboration partner 
returning rights it has acquired to Medigene in full or in part at a later date due to internal strategies or other 
reasons. This could have a long-term material impact on the net assets, financial performance and results of 
operations, lead to a substantial delay in the programs concerned as well as erode the trust shown by the industry 
and investors. 
 
For the development of its immunotherapies, Medigene seeks to make further arrangements with potential 
development and cooperation partners. Should the Company fail to enter into cooperation agreements of this 
kind, this may delay or hinder the Company’s ability to develop its immunotherapy platforms or make such 
activities unreasonably expensive. This may adversely affect the Company’s net assets, financial position and 
results of operations. 
 
Risks of unsuccessful drug development 

Medigene’s drug candidates have to pass through the preclinical development stages, followed by the individual 
phases of clinical trials with patients. In these trials, the effectiveness of the drugs and side effects are 
investigated. Delays in a clinical trial or in patient recruitment may result in higher costs and delay the market 
launch. It is not possible to predict the results of preclinical and clinical trials. Equally, the results of previous 
trials do not facilitate an accurate forecast of the outcome of future trials.  
 
Numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies have experienced setbacks in clinical trials even after 
achieving promising results in earlier phases. Medigene works closely together with the regulatory authorities 
and performs an annual risk assessment for each project in discussion with in-house and external experts.  
 
The Company commissions specialized service providers to conduct the required clinical trials. Medigene places a 
great deal of importance on consulting only experienced and well-known service providers to undertake clinical 
trials. Nevertheless, it is possible that a service provider may fail to conduct a trial properly in all respects or 
terminate the agreement, which could also cause delays in development.  
 
Regulatory risks 

As cell therapies, tumor vaccines and comparable therapeutic approaches are based on still novel technologies, it 
is possible that there may be changes in regulatory requirements. These could potentially lead to delays in the 
clinical development and approval processes for Medigene’s therapies.  
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Once the preclinical and clinical trials have been concluded positively, the application for marketing approval can 
be submitted to the appropriate authorities. Once the application and data presented have been evaluated, the 
authorities decide whether or not to grant approval for marketing the particular product. There is a possibility 
that approval will be denied on the basis of the data submitted, or granted only on certain conditions, or that 
additional data will be required for a final decision on the therapy’s approval.  
 
In addition, there is the possibility of losing previously granted market approval in whole or in part if serious 
quality shortcomings or safety risks are subsequently ascertained. The risks mentioned may have a negative 
impact on the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Company. 
 
Competitive risks 

When it comes to financing, developing and commercializing immunotherapies, Medigene is in competition with 
other players in the market for biotechnology and pharmaceuticals. If competitors develop comparable therapies 
more rapidly, achieve better results and bring these to market, Medigene may no longer be in a position in future 
to win investors and business partners for the Company. Likewise, serious setbacks among competitors with 
similar therapies could lead to a loss in confidence in Medigene’s own therapies and technologies.  
 
Production risks 
Medigene relies on external partners for production of the active pharmaceutical ingredients for its therapies. If 
it should not be possible to renew the terms of existing agreements with producers to be renewed and/or find 
suitable partners and/or Medigene’s partners cannot provide sufficient capacity at the desired time, this could 
lead to delays or an interruption in the production of the material needed to develop and market its therapies.  
 
Risks relating to Veregen® 

Procurement risks and risks of low drug sales 

The raw material of the drug Veregen®, which consists of green tea leaves, is obtained from Chinese tea farms and 
is subject to the usual risks inherent in agricultural products, such as crop failures caused by environmental 
factors or the chemical and biological contamination of harvested crops.  Thanks to the sufficiently high stocks of 
the active ingredient, the risk of potential supply bottlenecks is low for Medigene. 
 
An agreement is in place with a Japanese manufacturing corporation for the production and supply of the active 
pharmaceutical ingredient (API) for Veregen®. This agreement places certain minimum purchase commitments on 
Medigene over the agreed time intervals. In the financial statements for the year 2016 an accrual was recognized 
in connection with the minimum purchase obligations arising in earlier years. If the production requirement 
remains lower than the minimum purchase obligation due to weak demand, this could result in additional costs for 
Medigene. 
 
Medigene currently assumes that it holds sufficient stocks of the active ingredient to market the drug for the 
long term. The assumption that sufficient stocks of the active ingredient are held is based on new scientific data 
that demonstrates that the active ingredient has a longer shelf-life and also on regulatory processes that have 
not yet been completed. If the long shelf life turns out not to be realizable in spite of the measures undertaken by 
the company, it may become necessary to record an impairment loss on the associated inventories. The shelf life 
of the API of Veregen® of three years originally has now been extended to five years. Based on recent supporting 
data on its shelf life a longer period of usability can be assumed, subject to the completion of respective 
regulatory processes. 
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Veregen® is marketed and sold by partner companies. It is also possible to market further drug candidates through 
existing or future partners. There is no guarantee that these partners are able to market and sell the drugs to the 
extent that Medigene expects. The Company has only limited influence on the partner companies’ marketing 
activities. Likewise, it is impossible to rule out that existing distribution partnerships might be terminated by the 
respective partner if the arrangements cease to be attractive financially. This could result in adverse effects on 
Medigene’s business activities and consequently its net assets, financial position and results of operations. 
 
Lower of sales of Veregen® could eventuate when the competitive environment deteriorates, for example, when 
generics of other drugs for the same indication come onto the market and result in lower prices or another 
producer brings a generic of Veregen® to market once the patent expires. These cases could result in adverse 
effects on Medigene’s business activities and consequently its net assets, financial position and results of 
operations. 
 
Risks relating to Rhudex® and EndoTAG® 

Medigene has signed license agreements and purchase agreements with regard to its drug candidates Rhudex® 
and EndoTAG®. These companies are responsible for the development of these drug candidates and Medigene is 
eligible to receive payments upon certain development and approval milestones as well as royalties after market 
approval of Rhudex® and/or EndoTAG®-1. However, the buyer and, under specific circumstances, the licensees are 
permitted to stop or to postpone the development of the drug candidates. In the event that development of the 
drug candidates should not be successful or be delayed or stopped, Medigene may receive milestone payments or 
royalties at a later date or not at all. For Rhudex®, this could also result in potential non-cash impairment losses up 
to a maximum of the carrying amount recognized (≥ see notes to the consolidated financial statements, section 
D) Notes to the balance sheet, note (33). This may have a negative impact on the net assets, financial position and 
results of operations of the Company. As at 12/31/2016 there was a potential cash-relevant impairment of €3.4 
m for the remaining claim related to EndoTAG® after discounting. 
  
Financial risks faced by Medigene  

Financing and liquidity risks 

Since Medigene AG was founded in 1994, the Company has reported operating losses in almost every fiscal year, 
as expenses for research and development in the relevant years exceeded the corresponding revenue or gross 
profit. The future achievement of profitability depends on progress in terms of operations as well as the 
Company’s strategic decisions and is not yet secured. 
 

The ability to raise additional funds depends on financial, economic and other factors which, in the majority of 
cases, cannot be influenced by management. These factors also include the results achieved as part of Medigene’s 
research and development activities. Medigene may not always have sufficient funds under acceptable terms and 
conditions at its disposal when required. Should this be the case, Medigene may need to reduce its spending on 
research and development, production or administration. The Executive Management Board currently believes 
that these additional funds can be raised in due time. Possible sources of such funds may be additional partner 
arrangements with biotech/pharmaceutical companies or capital measures. Medigene currently has a strong 
liquidity base on account of the capital increase against cash contribution conducted in 2015 and the partnership 
entered into with bluebird in 2016 that involved payment of US$15 m. 
 
For further details of the objectives and methods of financial risk management ≥ see Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, section D) note (45). 
 
	    



 MEDIGENE AG ANNUAL REPORT 2016	   	   	   GROUP MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS	   33 

	  

Risks from equity investments 

On account of a spin-off performed in earlier years, Medigene holds shares in Immunocore, Ltd., a privately held 
biotech company, that are carried under non-current financial assets and are measured at their estimated fair 
value. If it is demonstrated that the business value of Immunocore has fallen, this would be associated with the 
risk of an impairment loss.  
 
Legal risks and patent risks 

Patent risks 

Medigene’s success also depends on its ability to acquire comprehensive patents for its technologies and 
products, to protect its trade secrets, to defend infringements effectively and assert its own rights without 
infringing the rights of third parties. To protect its legally patented technologies and products, Medigene also has 
confidentiality agreements and contractual license restrictions in place with its partners, employees, consultants 
and other contractual parties. 
 
There is no guarantee that patents will not be challenged, declared invalid or circumvented, or that they will be of 
commercial benefit to the Company. The Company intends to take appropriate action against any infringements 
and to continue expanding its technology and product portfolio. However, in the areas concerned, third parties 
may assert legally protected interests based on industrial property rights or on cooperation, research and license 
agreements. 
 
Legal risks 
No lawsuits that could have a major influence on the Company’s financial situation or that of its subsidiaries are 
pending. Further judicial disputes in the future cannot be ruled out. 
 
Other risks faced by Medigene 

Planning risks  
At least once a year, Medigene’s management prepares a detailed business plan incorporating the results of 
portfolio management and evaluation. This plan contains numerous assumptions relating to issues such as project 
progress, the outcome of clinical trials, the conclusion of new licensing agreements and development partner 
arrangements, the trend in product revenues and general conditions within the relevant pharmaceutical market 
segments. These assumptions may deviate substantially from actual future developments. Important 
prerequisites for achieving financial targets include the success of research and development activities as well as 
progress with the commercialization of drugs and drug candidates. Indirectly, the planning is not insignificantly 
affected by the activities of the distribution partners and cooperation partners. 
 
There is no guarantee that Medigene will make the progress required to meet its financial targets and that its 
partners will be as commercially successful as expected. Medigene’s plans are based on assumptions regarding 
future research and development results and on estimates of the market and competitive environment. These 
assumptions may prove to be inaccurate. 
 
Personnel risks 
Medigene AG and its subsidiaries rely on their highly qualified research and development staff. There is intense 
competition among companies to recruit employees with industry-specific expertise. Medigene’s commercial 
success will continue to depend on recruiting and retaining appropriately skilled employees for these areas. The 
possibility of a lack of qualified employees becoming an obstacle to Medigene’s growth cannot be ruled out, a fact 
that may adversely affect the Company’s net assets, financial position and results of operations. 
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Development liability risks and product liability 

Medigene is exposed to the risk of substantial compensation claims in the event that a patient suffers adverse 
effects from participating in a clinical trial or taking a drug developed by Medigene. In particular, such 
compensation claims could exceed Medigene’s insurance coverage and consequently have a negative impact on 
the Company’s financial position and results of operations, as well as its net cash.  
 
Although the procedures used in clinical trials are designed in such a way that potential adverse effects are 
identified and assessed, the possibility can never be ruled out that a drug may cause unexpected adverse side 
effects even after it has been approved. Such adverse effects may be detrimental to the drug’s safety profile and 
could be so severe that the drug has to be withdrawn from the market. 
 
Risk assessment 

In the table below, the Executive Management Board has summarized the probability of occurrence and potential 
financial impact for each of the relevant individual risks. The risks have been assessed on the basis of their 
probability of occurrence and their potential impact. 
 
RISK ASSESSMENT 

PROBABILITY CATEGORY POTENTIAL IMPACT OF THE RISK CATEGORY 

≤ 10% Improbable ≤ €500 k Low 

>10% to ≥ 25% Rather improbable > €500 k to ≤ €2 m Moderate 

> 25% to ≥ 50% Possible > €2 m to ≤ €4 m Medium 

> 50% to ≥ 75% Probable > €4 m to ≤ €8 m Significant 

> 75% Highly probable > €8 m High 

 
Summarized below over a forecasting period of three years and after an in-depth evaluation of the overall risk 
situation are the five most relevant risks for Medigene AG which, from a current perspective, could have an 
impact on the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Company as well as its reputation and 
ability to continue as a going concern. The order of the risks listed below is not based on a weighting of potential 
impact or probability of occurrence.  
 
TOP 5 RISKS 
AREA RISK 

Immunotherapies Customary risks of development for all three projects (DCs, TCRs, TABs); successful development and 
commercialization not certain 

TCR agreement with bluebird The characterization of the promised TCRs could be delayed and the identified TCRs might not be 
suitable for clinical development. 

Veregen® Development of long-term sales planning. The development of sales and markets does not lie in 
Medigene’s sphere of influence but lies with its sales partners.	   

Intellectual property Third-party rights to intellectual property might be infringed and proprietary expertise might not be 
sufficiently protected. 

RhuDex® Clinical development or marketing may not meet expectations; possibility of delays in, or loss of, 
milestone payments and royalties; potential need to recognize impairment losses 
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We can grade the risks into a risk matrix of “low”, “moderate” and “high” risks on the basis of their probability of 
occurrence and potential impact. The aggregate risk position of the Company is presented in the following chart: 
 

 

 
On the basis of the risk assessment, the Executive Management Board is of the opinion that, in spite of the 
relevant risks generally associated with the development of drugs and medical treatments in the field of 
immunotherapies, the opportunities and prospects for the Company outweigh the risks. The current risk 
assessment has not identified any risks which individually or in combination could threaten the ability of 
Medigene to continue as a going concern. With the exception of significant improvement in the financial position 
and liquidity, the overall risk exposure has not changed substantially in comparison to the previous year.  
 
Opportunities 

In addition to the risks, the management of Medigene identifies and evaluates the opportunities available to the 
Company as early as possible in order to exploit them and generate value for the Company and its owners. The 
most relevant opportunities for Medigene at present are explained below:  
 
Focus on immunotherapies  

Medigene focuses on the development of immunotherapies and is therefore active on an innovative, rapidly 
growing and very promising market. Impressive scientific findings and clinical successes3 in recent years indicate 
that immunotherapies may become a major pillar of cancer treatment in the coming decade. In the opinion of the 
analysts, immunotherapies could be used as standard treatment for 60% of cancer ailments and generate annual 
revenue of up to US$35 b over approximately the next 10 years.4 The development of immunotherapies for 
cancer recently received stimulus from the FDA as a number of drugs and individualized immunotherapies 
obtained approval. Ongoing clinical studies give hope that further drugs of this nature will be developed, either as 
individual active agents or in combination with others. Experts believe that immunotherapies for the treatment of 
cancer will become one of the most keenly observed fields for both scientists and investors on account of the 
growing evidence of their effectiveness and the attractive development partnerships between pharmaceutical 
and biotech companies.5  
 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
3 Cancer Immunotherapy, Science, December 20, 2013, Vol. 342 no. 6165 
4 Immunotherapy- The Beginning of the End for Cancer, Citi Research Equities, May 22, 2013 
5 Medigene – Riding high on immuno-oncology, Edison research, May 6, 2015 
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Focus on cancer particularly in combination with hematology  

According to market analyses, the global market for cancer drugs will grow at an average annual rate of 9% to 
reach US$100 b in 2018.6 Approximately 10% of all new cases of cancer in the US fall within the field of 
hematology.7 By concentrating on the development of treatments for cancer and hematological malignancies in 
particular, Medigene is addressing a field with a great need for new medicines and growing economic potential.	  
 
Human resources 

Qualified employees are a fundamental factor in the success of Medigene. Binding those employees who possess 
excellent skills and competencies to the Company for the long-term will have a positive impact on the Company 
and its financial goals. Medigene has made significant reinforcements to its workforce of highly qualified 
employees and managers and is optimistic that it can continue to attract key employees in future and benefit 
from their expertise to position the Company in the central fields of immunotherapies.  
 
Finance 

Medigene has a strong liquidity base as a result of the cash capital increase placed in 2015 and the partnership 
with bluebird in 2016. This financial stability will allow it to keep developing its technology platforms in the mid-
term and invest in clinical developments.  
 
Strategy 

Information on the strategy of the Company can be found under “Company overview” on p. 15.  

EXPLANATORY REPORT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
Statements in accordance with Sections 289 (4) and 315 (4) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 
and explanatory report 

No. 1: Composition of subscribed capital  

The Company’s share capital as at December 31, 2016 amounts to €20,136,887.00 and is divided into 20,136,887 
registered no-par shares each representing a share in capital of €1.00. Of these, 54,334 shares, which were issued 
to service the conversion of convertible notes in the period from May 7, 2016 to July 21, 2016 and 718 shares, 
issued in the period from May 7, 2016 to December 31, 2016 to service the conversion of stock options granted 
to employees, had not been entered in the commercial register as at December 31, 2016. This entry was filed in 
January 2017. The 782 shares newly issued in the period from January 1, 2016 to May 6, 2016 to service the 
conversion of convertible notes and 9,550 newly issued shares to service the conversion of stock options granted 
to employees, were already filed in the commercial register on May 20, 2016. Shareholders have no right to 
demand share certificates for their shares, unless certification is required under the rules of a particular stock 
exchange on which the Company’s shares are listed for trading. In accordance with Section 67 (2) of the German 
Stock Corporation Act (AktG), only persons who have been entered in the shareholders’ register are deemed to be 
shareholders in relation to the Company. All shares grant the same rights. Each share provides one vote at the 
Annual General Meeting and the same profit share. The detailed rights and obligations of shareholders result from 
the provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act, in particular Sections 12, 53a et seq., 118 et seq. and 186 of 
the AktG as well as the Company’s Articles of Association. 
 
	    

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
6 Global Outlook for Medicines Through 2018. IMS Institute. November 2014 
7 Facts 2014-2015,The Leukemia & Lymphoma Society, 2015  
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No. 2: Restrictions on voting rights or the transfer of shares 

In the cases specified in Section 136 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the voting rights arising in 
connection with the relevant shares are excluded by law. 
 
In the course of acquiring Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH, a contribution agreement was entered into with the 
then shareholders on January 27, 2014 by which Medigene obtained 100% of the shares in Medigene 
Immunotherapies GmbH. The former shareholders received 1,017,811 newly issued shares in Medigene with a 
value of about €4 m and will receive a maximum of €5.875 m in installments in Medigene shares or in cash upon 
certain milestones being reached in future, whereby the first milestone with a value of €700,000 was already 
reached and paid in 2015 by issue of 66,370 shares in the course of a capital increase against contribution in kind. 
The second milestone, which has also already been reached, was settled by payment of €3,175,000 on May 20, 
2016 within the framework of a capital increase in kind by the issue of 392,875 shares. Through the partial use of 
its Authorized Capital 2015/I, Medigene issued 392,875 new shares with a lock-up period of 14 months 
commencing on the date the second milestone was reached, i.e. expiring on May 31, 2017. 
 
The Company is not aware of any other restrictions relating to the exercise of voting rights or the transfer of 
shares. Each share entitles the bearer to one vote at the Annual General Meeting and determines the bearer’s 
share in the profits of the Company. 
 
No. 3: Investments in capital exceeding 10% of the voting rights 
In accordance with the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG), every investor who directly or indirectly achieves, 
exceeds or falls below a certain threshold for voting rights by buying or selling shares or by any other means must 
notify the Company and the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) accordingly. The lowest limit 
in respect of this duty of notification is 3%.  
 
According to a notification of major holdings dated January 2, 2017, the QVT Group, based in the US, held a total 
of 14.58% of the voting rights in Medigene AG as at December 28, 2016. The full notification of a major holding 
can be viewed (in German) on the website of the Company at www.medigene.de/investoren-medien/mitteilungen. 
 
INVESTMENTS IN CAPITAL EXCEEDING 10% OF THE VOTING RIGHTS 
REPORTING PARTY REPORTED SHARE OF VOTING RIGHTS DATE OF NOTIFICATION 

QVT Financial GP LLC 
QVT Financial LP 
QVT Associates GP LLC 

14.58% (allocated) 1/2/2017 

 
Other than the above, Medigene AG had not been notified of any direct or indirect investments in the share capital 
of Medigene AG by the end of the reporting period which amount to or exceed 10% of the voting rights, nor is the 
Company aware of any such investments.  
 
No. 4: Shares that grant special control privileges 
The Company has not issued any shares that grant special control privileges.  
 
No. 5: Nature of voting control if employees have a share in the capital and do not directly exercise 
their right of control 
Employees who hold Medigene AG shares exercise their control rights directly like any other shareholder in 
accordance with the law and the Articles of Association. In the event that employees hold a share in the capital 
and do not directly exercise their right of control, voting control does not exist.  
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No. 6: Statutory provisions and stipulations in the Articles of Association on the appointment and 
dismissal of members of the Executive Management Board and on amendments to the Articles of 
Association 

The Executive Management Board of the Company, in accordance with Art. 7 (1) of the Articles of Association, 
consists of one or more persons and is appointed, in accordance with Section 84 (1) of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG), by the Supervisory Board for a period of no more than five years. Reappointments or term 
extensions are permissible, in each case for a maximum period of five years. The Supervisory Board appoints one 
of the members of the Executive Management Board as Chief Executive Officer. In accordance with Section 84 (3) 
of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the Supervisory Board may also revoke the appointment of a 
member of the Executive Management Board and the appointment of the Chief Executive Officer on important 
grounds. Such grounds include gross breach of duty, inability to duly manage the Company and vote of no 
confidence by the Annual General Meeting – unless the vote of no confidence was evidently based on unrelated 
reasons. If a required member of the Executive Management Board is missing, in urgent cases the relevant 
member is appointed by the courts upon request by one of the parties concerned, in accordance with Section 85 
of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 
 
Provisions regarding amendments to the Articles of Association are contained in Sections 179 and 133 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). Under these provisions, any amendment to the Articles of Association 
requires a resolution of the Annual General Meeting for which a simple majority is needed and which at least three 
quarters of the capital represented at the time of the resolution must approve, unless the Articles of Association 
specify a different capital majority. Art. 18 (1) of the Company’s Articles of Association stipulates that 
shareholders’ resolutions must be adopted by a simple majority of the votes cast, unless a larger majority is 
compulsory by law. This would be the case when, for example, creating authorized capital (Section 202 (2) 
Sentence 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)) or conditional capital (Section 193 (1) Sentence 1 of 
the Act) and issuing non-voting preferred shares (Section 182 (1) Sentences 1 and 2 of the Act), each of which 
requires a three-quarters majority of the capital represented at the vote on the resolution. According to Art. 15 of 
the Articles of Association, the Supervisory Board has the right to make amendments to the Articles of 
Association, provided they affect only the wording.  
 
No. 7: Powers of the Executive Management Board, especially with regard to issuing and 
repurchasing shares 
In accordance with Section 76 (1) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the Executive Management Board 
shall manage the Company on its own authority and in accordance with Section 78 (1) of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG), it represents the Company in and out of court and, with regard to issuing and 
repurchasing shares, it is authorized as described in the ≥ Notes to the consolidated financial statements in 
section D) note (38).  
 
Comments on authorized and conditional capital: 

The authorizations of the Executive Management Board to issue new shares from authorized capital described in 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements and the conditional capital items in connection with the 
associated resolutions for issuing convertible notes or options as outlined above are intended to enable the 
Executive Management Board to cover any need for capital that may arise and to take advantage of attractive 
financing options depending on the state of the market.  
 
The ability to settle the acquisition of entities, parts of entities or interests in entities in individual cases by 
issuing shares of the Company to the seller allows the Company to expand without burdening its cash position. 
The issue of stock options secured by conditional capital is a component of the remuneration of employees and 
Executive Management Board members in German stock corporations. 
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Share repurchase  

The Executive Management Board may acquire treasury shares for the Company in the cases mentioned in 
Section 71 (1) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The Executive Management Board is not currently 
authorized to repurchase the Company’s shares pursuant to Section 71 (1) No. 8 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG). The Company does not hold any treasury shares at present. 
 
No. 8: Significant company agreements that are conditional on a change in control as a result of a 
takeover bid 

No such arrangement exists. 
 
No. 9: Compensation agreement with members of the Executive Management Board or employees in 
the event of a takeover bid 

The service agreements of Prof. Dolores Schendel (Executive Management Board member since May 1, 2014 and 
CEO since February 1, 2016) and Mr. Dave Lemus (Executive Management Board member since January 1, 2016) 
contain special termination rights for both the Company and the respective Executive Management Board 
members applicable in the event of a change in control and agreed severance arrangements. For more detailed 
information, see ≥ Notes to the consolidated financial statements F)  
note (49). 
 
Statement on corporate governance pursuant to Section 289a of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB) 

The corporate governance report and statement on corporate governance pursuant to Section 289a of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB) along with a description of the procedures followed by the Executive 
Management Board and the Supervisory Board are publicly available on the Company’s website at 
www.medigene.com/investors-media/corporate-governance/corporate-governance-report. The notifications of 
major holdings published in 2016 in accordance with the German Securities Trading Act (Sections 21, 25, 25a 
and 26 WpHG) are available in German on the internet at www.medigene.de/investoren-medien/mitteilungen.  
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OUTLOOK 
FINANCIAL GUIDANCE 2017 

The financial forecast for 2017 reflects Medigene’s continued focus on the core business of immunotherapies.  
 
The Company is expecting to generate total revenue of between €8 – 10 m in 2017. This does not include the 
forecast revenue for future milestone payments from the existing TCR partnership with bluebird or any revenue 
from potential new transactions. Total revenue in the prior year of €9.8 m was positively affected by the non-
recurring net gain of roughly €3.0 m from the sale of EndoTAG®, a product outside of the core business. This 
income will not be repeated in the coming year.  
 
Due to the progress of Medigene’s clinical development programs in the field of immunotherapies and a further 
increase in the headcount, Medigene is budgeting for rising research and development expenses of €16 – 18 m 
(2016: €11.5 m) and a loss at EBITDA level of €16 – 18 m (2016: €12.4 m). For 2017 Medigene anticipates that 
cash of between €23 – 27 m will be used, partly due to non-recurring effects such as investments in laboratory 
infrastructure (cash and cash equivalents as at 12/31/2016: €52.6 m, consisting of cash and cash equivalents and 
time deposits). This assessment does not include the forecast revenue for future milestone payments from the 
existing TCR partnership with bluebird or any cash inflows from potential new transactions.  
 
Based on its current planning, the Company has sufficient financial resources for well beyond the planning horizon 
of two years.  
 
CORE BUSINESS: 

Immunotherapies  

TCR-modified T cells (TCRs) 
Medigene aims to initiate two company-sponsored clinical trials for this therapy, the first to be started in 2017. In 
addition, Medigene is participating in a government-sponsored Phase I investigator-initiated clinical trial (IIT) 
that is scheduled to begin in 2017. This will mark the first clinical trial of TCRs in Germany. Medigene-sponsored 
trials are planned to start in the second half of 2017 and in the second half of 2018. A GMP-compliant 
manufacturing process for TCRs is being developed in advance of Medigene’s TCR trials. In addition, novel TCRs 
with specificities for promising tumor-associated antigens will be isolated and further characterized. 
 
In addition to generating its own new TCRs, Medigene is planning on recruiting new employees to expand the TCR 
technology platform. The Company intends to implement new automated processes and technologies to put the 
TCR technology platform on a wider footing and extend its possible applications. A part of Medigene’s TCR team 
will be dedicated to the partnership announced at the end of 2016 with the US company, bluebird. Medigene 
believes it will make good progress within this collaboration in 2017. The costs of the personnel working within 
the framework of this cooperation agreement and the research and development expenses will be absorbed by 
bluebird. Medigene will assign the remaining capacity of the expanded TCR team to broaden its own TCR program 
efforts.  
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DC vaccines (DCs) 
Medigene will continue the current Phase I/II clinical trial for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia (AML) as 
planned and believes it will successfully complete patient recruitment in the course of 2017. The final data from 
the clinical trial will be available in the second half of 2019, as scheduled. 
 
T-cell-specific monoclonal antibodies (TABs) 
The preclinical development of T-cell-specific monoclonal antibodies (TABs) will be driven forward with the goal 
of obtaining proof-of-principle. 
 
NON-CORE BUSINESS  

Due to the focus on immunotherapies, Medigene includes only forecasts for its core business in its financial 
reporting.  
 
Dividends  

In view of the current earnings situation, Medigene will not distribute a dividend. In the medium term, Medigene 
will invest available cash and cash equivalents in the development of drugs. Dividend payments to shareholders 
are not currently contemplated.  
 
 
 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD 
Planegg/Martinsried, March 21, 2017 
Medigene AG 
 
 
Prof. Dolores J. Schendel 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO/CSO) 
 
 
Dr. Thomas Taapken 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 
 
 
Dave Lemus 
Chief Operating Officer (COO) 
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OF MEDIGENE AG FOR THE FISCAL YEARS FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 

 
IN € K NOTE 2016 2015 

Revenue  4,101 3,101 
Other operating income  5,648 3,707 
Total revenue (26) 9,749 6,808 

Cost of sales (27) -1,402 -1,103 
Gross profit  8,347 5,705 

Selling expenses (28) -4,167 -2,141 
General administrative expenses (29) -5,858 -5,474 
Research and development expenses (30) -11,538 -8,529 
Operating result  -13,216 -10,439 

Interest income (31) 305 62 
Interest expense (31) -1,314 -2,976 
Foreign exchange losses  -128 -856 
Income from the sale of financial assets (34) 4,242 0 
Other financial result (31) 391 0 
Share of result/disposal of associates  0 810 
    
Earnings before tax  -9,720 -13,399 

Taxes (40) 228 400 
Net profit/loss for the year  -9,492 -12,999 

    

Basic and diluted earnings per share (€)  -0.48 -0.77 

Weighted average number of shares (basic and diluted)  19,952,677 16,808,501 
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OF MEDIGENE AG FOR THE FISCAL YEARS FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 

 
IN € K NOTE 2016 2015 

Net profit/loss for the year  -9,492 -12,999 

Other comprehensive income    

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:    

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations1)  45 160 
Available-for-sale financial assets1) (34) -5,375 9,215 
Subtotal  -5,330 9,375 

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:    

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans1) (39) -40 35 
Subtotal  -40 35 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax  -5,370 9,410 

Total comprehensive income   -14,862 -3,589 

1) No income tax effects were incurred.  
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OF MEDIGENE AG AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 

ASSETS 
IN € K NOTE 12/31/2016 

 
12/31/2015 

A.  Non-current assets    
I. Property, plant and equipment (33) 3,323 2,502 

II. Intangible assets (33) 33,555 33,501 
III. Goodwill (33) 2,212 2,212 
IV. Financial assets (34) 5,871 13,014 
V. Other assets (36) 2,781 323 

Total non-current assets  47,742 51,552 

    

B.  Current assets    

I. Inventories (35) 7,866 6,654 
II. Trade accounts receivable (36) 1,175 763 

III. Other assets (36) 2,302 5,724 
IV. Time deposits (37) 38,000 38,000 
V. Cash and cash equivalents (37) 14,630 8,759 

Total current assets  63,973 59,900 

    

C. Intangible assets held for sale  0 2,079 

    

Total assets  111,715 113,531 
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
IN € K NOTE 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 

A.  Shareholders’ equity    
I. Subscribed capital (38) 20,137 19,678 

II. Capital reserve  429,678 426,671 
III. Accumulated deficit  -375,361 -365,829 
IV. Other reserves  4,138 9,468 

Total shareholders’ equity  78,592 89,988 

    

B.  Non-current liabilities    

I. Finance lease liabilities  339 548 
II. Financial liabilities (4) 9,417 10,605 

III. Pension obligations (39) 408 359 
IV. Other financial liabilities (41) 435 416 
V. Deferred income (42) 8,937 0 

VI. Deferred taxes (40) 1,621 1,951 
Total non-current liabilities  21,157 13,879 

    

C.  Current liabilities    

I. Finance lease liabilities (45) 210 196 
II. Trade accounts payable (41) 973 1,354 

III. Other financial liabilities (41) 7,208 7,888 
IV. Deferred income (42) 3,575 226 

Total current liabilities  11,966 9,664 

Total liabilities  33,123 23,543 

    

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities  111,715 113,531 
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OF MEDIGENE AG FOR THE FISCAL YEARS FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 

 

IN € K  2016 2015 

Net cash from/used in operating activities    

Earnings before tax  -9,720 -13,399 
Adjustments:    

Share-based payments  326 111 
Non-cash other operating income  -2,493 -2,493 
Depreciation and amortization   845 944 
Losses from the disposal of property, plant and equipment  -43 59 
Gain on sale of intangible assets, net   -2,365 0 
Gain on the sale of financial assets  -4,242 0 
Interest income  -305 -62 
Interest expense  1,314 2,976 

Changes in:    
Inventories  -1,212 -2,248 
Other assets and trade accounts receivable  -227 2,542 
Trade accounts payable  -381 -431 
Other financial liabilities and deferred income  14,892 2,226 

Share of result/disposal of associates  0 -810 
Subtotal  -3,611 -10,585 
Tax paid  -102 0 
Interest received  0 19 
Interest paid  -45 -39 
Net cash used in operating activities  -3,758 -10,605 

Net cash from/used in investing activities    

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  -1,723 -1,328 
Cash received from the sale of property, plant and equipment  46 0 
Loans to associates  0 -81 
Cash received from the sale of intangible assets  1,000 0 
Cash received from the sale of financial assets ≥ (notes (34), (36))  10,537 0 
Investment in time deposits  0 -38,000 

Net cash from/used in investing activities  9,860 -39,409 

Net cash from/used in financing activities    

Proceeds from capital increase  0 46,431 
Cost of share issue   -77 -2,736 
Exercise of employee share options  42 0 
Principal repayment for finance lease  -196 102 

Net cash from/used in financing activities  -231 43,797 

Decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents  5,871 -6,217 

Cash and cash equivalents, opening balance  8,759 14,976 
Cash and cash equivalents, closing balance  14,630 8,759 
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OF MEDIGENE AG FOR THE FISCAL YEARS FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 

 
IN € K NUMBER OF 

SHARES 
 

SUBSCRIBED 
CAPITAL 

CAPITAL 
RESERVE 

ACCUMULATED 
DEFICIT 

EXCHANGE 
DIFFERENCES 

FINANCIAL 
ASSETS 

 

TOTAL 
SHAREHOLDERS’ 

EQUITY 
 

Balance as at 1/1/2015 13,927,428 13,927 387,916 -352,865 -21 114 49,071 
Net profit/loss for the year    -12,999   -12,999 
Other comprehensive income    35 160 9,215 9,410 
Total comprehensive income       -3,589 
Share issue ≥ note (38) 5,594,178 5,594 40,837    46,431 
Cost of share issue   -2,736    -2,736 
Share issue for convertible 
notes 90,652 91 -91    0 
Share issue for the business 
combination, first milestone 
≥ note (41) 66,370 66 634    700 
Share-based payments   111    111 
Balance as at 12/31/2015 19,678,628 19,678 426,671 -365,829 139 9,329 89,988 
        
Balance as at 1/1/2016 19,678,628 19,678 426,671 -365,829 139 9,329 89,988 
Net profit/loss for the year    -9,492   -9,492 
Other comprehensive income    -40 45 -5,375 -5,370 
Total comprehensive income       -14,862 
Share issue for options 
exercised by employees 10,268 10 32    42 
Cost of share issue   -77    -77 
Share issue for convertible 
notes 55,116 56 -56    0 
Share issue for the business 
combination, second 
milestone ≥ note (41) 392,875 393 2,782    3,175 
Share-based payments   326    326 
Balance as at 12/31/2016 20,136,887 20,137 429,678 -375,361 184 3,954 78,592 
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OF MEDIGENE AG, PLANEGG/MARTINSRIED, FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2016 

A) BUSINESS ACTIVITY AND INFORMATION ON THE 
COMPANY 
Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried (hereinafter referred to as “Medigene” or “the Company”), together with its 
consolidated subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”), is a biotechnology company headquartered in 
Martinsried near Munich, Germany. The Company is developing highly innovative immunotherapies to target 
various forms and stages of cancer with candidates in clinical and preclinical development. Medigene 
concentrates on the development of personalized T-cell-based immunotherapies.  
 
The Group’s main activities are described in ≥ section E) “Segment reporting”. 
 
Medigene AG was founded in 1994 as a limited liability company in Planegg/Martinsried near Munich, Germany. In 
1996, the Company was converted into a stock corporation. The Company’s headquarters are located at 
Lochhamer Strasse 11, 82152 Planegg/Martinsried, Germany. The Company is registered in the commercial 
register of the Munich Local Court under HRB 115761. Medigene AG has been listed since June 2000 (Deutsche 
Börse: Regulated Market, Prime Standard; TecDAX, German Security Identification Number (WKN) A1X3W0, 
symbol MDG1, International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) DE000A1X3W00).  
 
In addition to the parent company Medigene AG in Planegg/Martinsried, the Group includes the wholly owned 
subsidiary Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH (hereinafter referred to as “Medigene Immunotherapies”), 
Planegg/Martinsried, since its acquisition in January 2014, and the wholly owned subsidiary Medigene, Inc., San 
Diego, California, USA, which was acquired in 2001. The Group is managed by the Executive Management Board of 
the parent company, Medigene AG. The management of the respective subsidiaries is composed of members who 
serve on the Group’s Executive Management Board.  
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B) RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT POLICIES 
(1) Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements are generally prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention. 
Exceptions to this rule are available-for-sale financial assets and contingent consideration, which were measured 
at fair value. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in German using the euro as the 
presentation currency. All figures are rounded to the nearest thousand euro (€ k), unless otherwise stated. 
 
(2) Statement of compliance with IFRSs and the requirements of Section 315a of the German 

Commercial Code (HGB) 

As a parent and publicly traded company within the meaning of Article 4 of Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002, the 
Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (EU).  
 
The Company’s Executive Management Board is of the opinion that these consolidated financial statements 
reflect all business transactions required to present the net assets, financial position and results of operations 
for the periods ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 respectively. Additionally, these consolidated financial 
statements meet the requirements of Section 315a of the German Commercial Code (HGB). 
 
These consolidated financial statements of Medigene AG for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 were 
prepared and authorized for issue by the Executive Management Board on March 21, 2017.  
 
(3) Changes in recognition, measurement and presentation accounting policies 

Medigene has made no significant changes to its recognition, measurement and presentation policies. 
 
Future changes in accounting policies 

The following new standards and amendments issued by the IASB become effective for reporting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2017. Medigene has opted not to early adopt these standards. 
 
STANDARDS/INTERPRETATIONS/AMENDMENTS 

 
RELEVANT REPORTING PERIOD 

(BEGINNING ON)  

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  January 1, 2018 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  January 1, 2018 

Comments on IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  January 1, 2018* 
IFRS 16 Leases  January 1, 2019* 

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows   January 1, 2017* 
* Not adopted by the EU to date 

 
The standards and interpretations indicated are not likely to result in any significant changes in accounting 
policies of the Company upon adoption, with the following exceptions:  
 
The standard IFRS 15 published by the IASB in May 2014 regulates when and in what amount revenue is 
recognized. For this purpose, IFRS 15 offers a principle-based five-step model applicable to all contracts with 
customers. According to the new standard, revenue is recognized on the basis of transfer of control at the amount 
of consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for its goods or services (transaction price 
as defined by IFRS 15). IFRS 15 replaces IAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and IAS 18 “Revenue” as well as all  
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related interpretations. The standard will become effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 
In fiscal year 2016, the Group carried out a preliminary assessment of IFRS 15 which may change in the course of 
the detailed analysis. On this basis of this preliminary assessment, the Company intends to retrospectively apply 
the standard in full on the date it comes into force. Moreover, the Group intends to monitor the clarifications 
released by the IASB in April 2016 and will monitor the further developments on the interpretation of IFRS 15. 
The Company expects that the standard will determine the accounting treatment of future collaboration or 
license arrangements. However, no significant changes to the total amount of the revenue recognized for a 
customer contract are expected at present.  
 
The presentation and disclosure requirements of IFRS 15 go well beyond the requirements of the current 
standard. Many of the disclosures required by the new standard are completely new. Due to the manageable 
number of contracts that generate revenue governed by IFRS 15, the Group assumes that it will be possible to 
gather the required information and present it. 
 
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which replaces IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement as well as all earlier versions of IFRS 9. The standard becomes 
effective for the first time for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Company aims to apply the 
new standard as at the date it is due to become effective. In sum, the Group does not expect any significant 
impact on the statement of financial position and its equity. The preliminary assessment is based on the latest 
available information and may change as more detailed analyses or additional reliable information becomes 
available to the Group in future. 
 
The IASB published the new standard on leases, IFRS 16, in January 2016. For most leases this standard requires 
lessees to recognize a right-of-use for the underlying asset and a corresponding lease liability. Changes affecting 
lessors, on the other hand, are only minor compared to the classification and accounting treatment of leases 
under IAS 17. IFRS 16 requires extended disclosures in the notes of lessees and of lessors. Subject to 
endorsement by the EU, the Group intends to apply the new standard as at the given effective date. Roughly 
speaking, application of the new standard is expected to lead to an increase in total assets. The exact extent of 
the impact on Medigene AG still needs to be assessed. 
 
(4) Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 

Preparing the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires the Executive Management Board to make judgments and estimates which influence the income, 
expenses, assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities listed in the financial statements as at the reporting date. By 
nature, these estimates and assumptions are subject to considerable uncertainty which may result in significant 
adjustments to the carrying amounts of the relevant assets and liabilities in future reporting periods. 
 
Judgments 
In applying the accounting policies, management made the following judgments which significantly impact the 
figures reported in the financial statements.  
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Recognition of certain sales transactions 
Management exercises judgment when determining whether certain sales transactions essentially represent 
financing agreements, which means that no revenue is generated on the basis of these transactions.  
 
With effect from April 1, 2012, Medigene assigned future cash flows from Astellas in connection with the 2% 
share in European net revenue from Medigene’s former drug Eligard® to Cowen Healthcare Partners II, L.P., USA 
(hereinafter referred to as “Cowen”) in return for a payment of US$17.7 m (equivalent to €14.1 m at the time of 
cash inflow). The cash inflow from this transaction was treated as a financial liability and classified as financial 
liability carried at amortized cost. The assigned outstanding royalties are recognized through profit or loss on a 
pro rata basis as other operating income over the Eligard® patent term of approximately ten years, and the 
financial liability associated with the assignment is amortized, taking into account the interest. The financial 
liabilities reported in the balance sheet include the non-current portion of this liability of €9,417 k as at 
December 31, 2016 (12/31/2015: €10,605 k). The current portion of the liability is reported under other 
financial liabilities and amounted to €1,494 k as at December 31, 2016 (12/31/2015: €1,326 k). For further 
details see ≥ notes (26), (45).  
 
The purchase of all assets related to EndoTAG® by SynCore Biotechnology Co., Ltd., Taiwan, (hereinafter referred 
to as “SynCore”), a company of the Sinphar Pharmaceutical group, was decided by agreement dated December 17, 
2015. This deal replaces the license agreement entered into in May 2013. In addition to the royalties and cost 
reimbursements for the drug development already received from SynCore, Medigene is entitled to receive €5 m 
upon transfer of all EndoTAG® rights, which will be paid out in five annual installments. Furthermore, Medigene is 
entitled to further milestone payments and royalties for EndoTAG®-1, one of the fields of application for 
EndoTAG®. Receipt of the first payment, which did not occur until January 2016, was a condition precedent for the 
ultimate transfer of the significant risks and rewards in terms of IAS 18, such that revenue could also not be 
recognized until 2016. For further details see ≥ notes (26), (36).  
 
Recognition of one-off payments  
The recording of one-off payments requires an assessment of whether the services for which the agreed payment 
is made have already been rendered or are still to be rendered. If, in the view of management, all contractually 
agreed services have been performed and the remaining criteria for revenue recognition are met, the one-off 
payments are recognized immediately through profit or loss.  
 
On September 29, 2016, Medigene and bluebird bio, Inc., Cambridge, MA, USA, (hereinafter referred to as 
“bluebird”), entered into a strategic research and development cooperation and a license agreement for the joint 
development of TCR immunotherapies against four target molecules of bluebird. Under the terms of the 
partnership, Medigene is responsible for generating and preparing the collaboration TCRs using its TCR 
technology platform. Following the collaborative preclinical development, bluebird will assume sole responsibility 
for the clinical development and commercialization of the TCR product candidates. Bluebird received an exclusive 
license for the patents covering the resulting TCRs. In the fourth quarter of 2016 Medigene received an upfront 
payment of US$15 m (€13.4 m) and has a right to potential preclinical, clinical, regulatory and commercial 
milestone payments, which together could total over US$1 bn if all the defined preclinical, clinical, regulatory and 
commercial milestones are reached for the four potential TCR products across several indications. Additionally, 
Medigene will receive R&D funding for work performed in the collaboration and is eligible for tiered royalties on 
net sales up to a double-digit percentage. 
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The upfront payment of €13.4 m will be released to income over an estimated term of 45 months that matches 
the estimated term over which the services promised will be provided. For further details 
see ≥ notes (26), (42). 
 
Deferred tax assets on unused tax losses 
The recognition of deferred tax assets requires certain assumptions to be made within management’s judgment. 
They mainly concern the assessment of the circumstances and the period in which tax assets can be realized by 
the use of existing loss carryforwards. Management has decided not to recognize tax assets to the extent to 
which they exceed the tax liabilities, since the generation of taxable income in the future is associated with too 
much uncertainty. 
 
Capitalization of development expenses  
Development expenses must be capitalized if the criteria of IAS 38 are met. This requires management to make a 
number of estimates and assumptions. In the period ended on December 31, 2016, no development expenses 
were capitalized due to the fact that management did not believe all the recognition criteria of IAS  38 had been 
met. This was due to the usual uncertainties in drug development and the unpredictability of regulatory 
requirements. 
 
Estimates and assumptions 
The most important assumptions regarding the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty as at the 
reporting date which entail an appreciable risk that it might become necessary to adjust the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next fiscal year are explained below:  
 
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 
The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least once every year. This requires, among other things, estimating 
the value in use of the underlying research and development projects which are allocated to both the goodwill and 
the cash-generating units. As the projects are not yet available for use, they are tested for impairment once a 
year. In order to estimate the value in use, management must assess the expected future cash flows of the 
individual projects and the chances of the underlying projects showing successful development and select an 
appropriate discount rate. Given the length of the planning periods (up to 24 years), the assumptions and 
forecasts associated with this are subject to a significant degree of uncertainty. Please refer to ≥ note (33) 
for the methodology of the impairment test and its results and presentation.  
 
Fair value  
Fair value is generally determined on the basis of market prices. The fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
for which no market prices can be determined is ascertained using valuation methods which include the 
discounted cash flow method. The input parameters incorporated in the model are based, wherever possible, on 
observable market data. If this is not possible, fair value is determined to a certain extent on the basis of 
judgment. These judgments concern input parameters such as liquidity risk, credit risk, and volatility. Changes in 
the assumptions relating to these factors could affect the fair values reported for financial instruments. 
Medigene has measured some financial assets and liabilities at fair value ≥ note (46).  
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Impairment of inventories  
An agreement is in place with a Japanese manufacturing corporation for the production and supply of the active 
pharmaceutical ingredient (API) for Veregen®. This agreement places certain minimum purchase obligations on 
Medigene over the agreed time intervals. In the financial statements for the year 2016 an accrual was recognized 
in connection with the minimum purchase obligations arising in earlier years ≥ note(41). If the production 
requirement remains lower than the minimum purchase obligation due to weak demand, this could result in 
additional costs for Medigene.   
 
Based on a management assessment, the inventories held on the reporting date are sufficient to supply the 
market for the long term. There was no need to write down inventories to lower net realizable value as at 
December 31, 2016 ≥ note (35). 
 
Medigene currently assumes that it holds sufficient stocks of the active ingredient to market the drug for the 
long term. The assumption that sufficient stocks of the active ingredient are held is based on new scientific data 
that demonstrates that the active ingredient has a longer shelf-life and also on regulatory processes that have 
not yet been completed. If the long shelf life turns out not to be realizable in spite of the measures undertaken by 
the Company, it may become necessary to record an impairment loss on the associated inventories. The shelf life 
of the API of Veregen® of three years originally has now been extended to five years. Based on recent supporting 
data on its shelf life a longer period of usability can be assumed, subject to the completion of respective 
regulatory processes. 
 
(5) Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method in accordance with IFRS 3 “Business 
Combinations”. The consideration paid for a combination is measured at fair value. The contingent consideration 
was recognized as a liability at acquisition-date fair value in accordance with IAS 39. Changes in fair value are 
recognized in profit or loss.  
 
(6) Consolidation of subsidiaries 

Consolidation principles 
The consolidated financial statements include the separate financial statements of Medigene AG and its 
subsidiaries as at December 31, of any given fiscal year. The financial statements of the entities within the 
consolidated group are prepared according to uniform accounting policies.  
 
All intragroup balances, transactions, income, expenses, and profits and losses arising from intragroup 
transactions included in the carrying amount of assets have been eliminated in full.  
 
Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are all entities where the Group has the power to govern financial and operating policies. The 
Company obtains control when it can exercise power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns on its involvement with the investee, and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
investee. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements (full consolidation) when the Group 
obtains control. Consolidation ceases as soon as the parent company loses control.  
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(7) Functional currency/foreign currency translation 

Foreign currency transactions and foreign operations are reported in the consolidated financial statements of 
Medigene AG in accordance with IAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”. 
 
Functional currency and reporting currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, the functional currency of the parent company and 
reporting currency of the Group. Each entity within the Group determines its own functional currency. The items 
included in the separate financial statements of the relevant entity are measured on the basis of this functional 
currency. The functional currency of Medigene Immunotherapies is the euro (€) and that of Medigene, Inc., is the 
US dollar (US$). 
 
Transactions and balances  
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates that applied 
on the date of the transaction. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
translating monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency using the closing rate are posted 
through profit or loss. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate that was in effect when fair value was determined. Receivables and payables not carried in the 
functional currency are translated using the closing rate. Purchases and sales in foreign currencies are translated 
using the historical exchange rate. Any resulting currency differences are posted through profit or loss.  
 
Group companies 
When foreign subsidiaries are consolidated the balance sheet items are translated using the closing rate. The 
translation of income and expenses for the purposes of consolidation is carried out using the relevant historical 
rate on the date of the transaction. The resulting differences arising from currency translation are recognized 
directly in other comprehensive income.  
 
Exchange rates for 2016 and as at the reporting date December 31, 2016: 
 
EXCHANGE RATES

  CLOSING RATE  AVERAGE RATE  

 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 2016 2015 

€1 in US$ 1.0530 1.08620 1.10375 1.08420 
1 € in GB£ (pound sterling or GB£) 0.8566 0.73305 0.81695 0.72348 
Commerzbank AG, reference exchange rates 
 
(8) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are valued at cost in accordance with IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” and 
are subject to regular depreciation using the straight-line method and any impairment losses. Property, plant and 
equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their expected useful life or, in the case of leasehold 
improvements, over the contract lease period which may be shorter.  
 
 
Technical equipment and laboratory facilities 3 - 13 years 
Leasehold improvements 5 - 8 years 
Leased assets ≥ note (20) 5 years 
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Subsequent costs are only recorded as part of the cost of the asset or, if appropriate, as a separate asset if it is 
likely that future economic benefits resulting from these will flow to the Group and that the cost of the asset can 
be determined reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged as expenses to the income statement in the 
fiscal year in which they are incurred. Upon the sale or disposal of property, plant and equipment, the cost and the 
accumulated depreciation associated with these are derecognized in the year of the disposal. Gains and losses on 
disposal are recognized through profit or loss in other income and expenses. The purchase and sale of property, 
plant and equipment within the Group is eliminated during the process of consolidation. The useful life, the 
depreciation method, and the residual carrying amount are examined on each reporting date. 
 
Details on the development of property, plant and equipment can be found in the statement of changes in non-
current assets ≥ page 98 et seq. 
 
(9) Intangible assets 

Accounting policies for intangible assets  
A summary of the accounting policies applied to the Group’s intangible assets is as follows: 
 

 TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS, 
PATENTS, LICENSES AND SOFTWARE 
 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
PROJECTS ACQUIRED THROUGH 
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

GOODWILL 

Useful life Limited to term of patent or 
contract 

Limited to term of patent Indefinite  

Applied  
amortization method 

Straight-line amortization over 
patent or contract life; 
amortization period 
up to 16 years 

Impairment test at least once a 
year, straight-line amortization 
subsequent to market approval 

Impairment test at least once a 
year 

Internally developed or acquired Acquired Acquired Acquired 

 
Details on the development of intangible fixed assets can be found in the statement of changes in non-current 
assets ≥ page 98 et seq. 
 
Technology rights, patents, licenses and software 

Individually acquired intangible assets with a finite useful life are measured at cost upon initial recognition. Any 
acquired technology rights, patents, licenses and software, as well as research and development projects for 
which the licenses have been acquired are recognized as intangible assets if all three of the following criteria are 
met: 
 
→ The intangible asset can be identified. 
→ It is probable that future economic benefits attributable to the asset will flow to the Group.  
→ The costs of the asset can be measured reliably. 
 
Following their initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any amortization and accumulated 
impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortized over their useful life and tested for impairment whenever 
there is any indication that the asset may be impaired. For intangible assets with a finite useful life, the 
amortization period and amortization method are examined at least at the end of every fiscal year. 
 
Gains or losses arising from the derecognition of intangible assets are determined as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the income statement in the 
same period the asset is derecognized. 
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Research and development projects acquired through business combinations 

The capitalized research and development projects acquired through business combinations relate to the RhuDex® 
drug candidate and immunotherapy projects. They are capitalized at cost, which equals the acquisition-date fair 
value. Following their initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any amortization and 
accumulated impairment losses.  
 
Intangible assets based on underlying drug candidates are amortized from the date at which the respective drug 
candidate has obtained market approval. Until that date, an annual impairment test is carried out. In addition, a 
further impairment test is carried out whenever there is any indication of impairment. 
 
Goodwill 

After initial recognition, goodwill is valued at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is examined for 
impairment at least once a year. An impairment test is also carried out if any events or circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may be impaired.  
 
The carrying amount of goodwill of €2,212 k as at December 31, 2016 (12/31/2015: €2,212 k) is allocated to 
the RhuDex® cash-generating unit ≥ note (33). 
 
(10) Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group establishes on each reporting date whether there are any indications of an impairment of non-financial 
assets. If there are such indications or an annual impairment test is required, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the relevant asset. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of the fair value of an asset or 
cash-generating unit (CGU) less costs to sell and the value in use. The recoverable amount must be determined for 
each asset, unless an asset produces no cash inflows which are largely independent of those of other assets or 
other groups of assets. If the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
impaired and written down to the recoverable amount. 
 
To carry out an impairment test, the goodwill acquired as part of a business combination is allocated, starting as 
at the acquisition date, to the CGUs that benefit from the synergy effects. A CGU to which goodwill is allocated, 
 
→ represents the lowest level within the entity at which goodwill is monitored for internal management 

purposes, and 
→ is no larger than a segment based on the primary or secondary reporting format of the Group as defined in 

IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”. 
 

If the carrying amount of the CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, first the allocated goodwill and then the 
intangible assets allocated to this CGU are written down accordingly.  
 
The value in use calculation is based on cash flow forecasts adopted by management and a discount rate which 
reflects current market anticipations regarding interest effects and the specific risks inherent in the asset or the 
CGU. The planning period under review encompasses development and approval, as well as the period of time 
commencing with market launch, for which patent terms of slightly over ten years are generally assumed. To 
determine the fair value less costs to sell, any recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such 
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.  
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Impairment losses relating to continued operations, including write-downs of inventories, are recognized through 
profit or loss in the expense categories which correspond to the function of the impaired asset in the Company.  
 
On each reporting date, a review is carried out for assets, with the exception of goodwill, to test whether there is 
any indication that a previously recognized impairment loss no longer exists or has decreased. If there is any such 
indication, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU. A previously recognized impairment 
loss is only reversed if there has been a change in the assumptions on the basis of which the recoverable amount 
was determined since the impairment loss was recorded. The increase in value is limited to the extent that the 
carrying amount of an asset must not exceed its recoverable amount or the carrying amount which would have 
resulted after taking into account amortization if no impairment loss had been recognized for the asset in 
previous years. Any reversal of an impairment loss is recognized through profit or loss.  
 
(11) Financial assets 

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are initially recognized at fair value. All purchases and sales of 
financial assets requiring delivery of the assets within a period determined by regulations or conventions of the 
respective market (regular way purchases) are recognized on the trading date, i.e. the date on which the Group 
committed itself to purchasing or selling the asset.  
 
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows: 
 
Non-derivative financial assets classified as loans and receivables that have fixed or determinable payments and 
are not listed on an active market are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method after 
deducting any impairment losses. They are included in current assets provided that their term to maturity does 
not exceed twelve months after the reporting date. Otherwise, they are classified as non-current assets. Loans 
and receivables are included in the balance sheet under trade accounts receivable and under other assets.  
 
Following initial recognition, non-derivative financial assets classified as available-for-sale financial assets are 
measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses being recognized directly in shareholders’ equity in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. They are classified as non-current assets if management has 
no intention of selling them within twelve months after the reporting date. If investments are disposed of and/or 
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recorded in other comprehensive income is transferred to the 
income statement. For example, financial assets recognized within the framework of pension commitments but 
which do not qualify as plan assets ≥ note (39), time deposits ≥ note (37), or the shares in Immunocore 
Ltd. are allocated to this category ≥ note (34).  
 
With the exception of cash and cash equivalents, which the Group carries as financial assets classified as held for 
trading, the Group did not have any other investments that are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
Likewise, the Group did not carry any held-to-maturity investments in the reporting period. 
 
At every reporting date, a test is carried out to determine whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets might be impaired. In the event of equity instruments classified as available-
for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of these instruments below their 
acquisition cost is considered when determining to what extent the equity instruments are impaired. Any 
impairment loss determined in this way is recognized through profit or loss. 
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(12) Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of purchase cost and net realizable value in accordance with IAS 2 
“Inventories”. In the process, the purchase costs are generally determined on the basis of direct costs including 
incidental purchase costs.  
 
(13) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand as well as credit balances at banks and bank deposits with an 
original maturity of up to three months. They are classified as financial assets held for trading and reported at 
their fair value. If an investment is to be classified as a cash equivalent, it must be readily convertible into a 
particular cash amount. In addition, it must only be subject to insignificant value fluctuations.  
 
(14) Shareholders’ equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as shareholders’ equity. Costs that are directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares are included in shareholders’ equity net of tax as a deduction from the issue proceeds. 
 
(15) Share-based payments: Stock options  

As an incentive to share in the Group’s long-term success, its employees and the members of its Executive 
Management Board receive share-based payments in the form of equity instruments. For this purpose, the Group 
has set up a share-based compensation plan that is settled by issuing new shares. These equity instruments, such 
as options, are stated in accordance with IFRS 2. The fair value of stock options which Medigene grants as 
compensation for work performed by employees is recorded as an expense. The instruments are measured when 
granted with the help of the binomial model. The binomial model takes into consideration lock-up periods, 
exercise thresholds, the volatility of the underlying instrument, and interest rates among other things. The 
expenses resulting from the granting of equity instruments and the corresponding rise in shareholders’ equity are 
recognized over the period in which the exercise and performance conditions must be met (vesting period). This 
period ends on the first possible exercise date, i.e., the date on which the relevant employee is irrevocably 
entitled to subscribe. In individual cases, the benefit conditions have already been fulfilled upon issue of the stock 
options. In those cases, the expense is recorded upon granting of the options. No expenses are recognized for 
forfeited compensation rights.  
 
The estimated number of options expected to be exercised is examined on each reporting date. The effects of any 
possible changes to the original estimates are included in the income statement and accounted for by carrying out 
the respective adjustment to shareholders’ equity over the remaining vesting period. 
 
When stock options are exercised, €1 per option is reported in the share capital with the remaining amount shown 
in the capital reserve.  
 
If they have a dilutive effect, the outstanding stock options are considered in the calculation of earnings per share 
as additional dilution.  
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(16) Financial liabilities  

Initial recognition 
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss or as loans. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities upon initial recognition and 
measures them at fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs in the case of loans. Financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial liabilities held for trading as well as other financial liabilities 
which are classified as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. The contingent consideration 
from the business combination with Medigene Immunotherapies is measured at fair value through profit or loss 
and recognized as a financial liability.  
 
Subsequent measurement 
Financial liabilities classified as loans are measured at amortized cost in subsequent periods. Any difference 
between the amount paid out (after deducting transaction costs) and the amount repayable is recognized in the 
income statement over the term of the loan using the effective interest method.  
 
Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation underlying the liability is discharged, canceled or expires.  
 
(17) Accruals 

Accruals are recognized in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” 
provided that there is a current obligation to third parties arising from a past event that will probably lead to the 
outflow of resources in the future and that this amount can be estimated reliably. The cost of recording the 
accrual is reported in the income statement. Accruals for obligations that are not likely to lead to an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits in the subsequent year are recognized at the present value of the 
expected outflow of resources. The carrying amount of accruals is reviewed every reporting date.  
 
(18) Pension obligations 

Pension obligations are accounted for in accordance with IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” (revised 2011). There are 
various pension plans within the Group. These include both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.  
 
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan which defines the pension benefits that an employee will receive upon 
retiring. The amount normally depends on one or more factors such as age, length of service, and salary. The 
obligation recognized in the balance sheet for defined benefit plans corresponds to the present value of the 
defined benefit obligations (DBO) on the reporting date less the fair value of plan assets that arise from pension 
liability insurance. The DBO is calculated annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit 
method. The 2005 G mortality tables by Prof. Klaus Heubeck were used as the biometric calculation basis. The 
pension obligations have a term of 15 years. The present value of the DBO is calculated by discounting the 
expected future cash payments using the interest rate of the highest-quality corporate bonds. These must be 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits are also paid and their terms to maturity must equal those of 
the pension obligations. Actuarial gains and losses based on experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are recognized in full in other comprehensive income. 
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A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions to an independent 
entity (fund). With these plans, the Group has no legal or constructive obligations to make additional contributions 
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay the pension claims of all employees for their service in current 
and previous fiscal years. The contributions are recognized in personnel expenses upon maturity. Prepaid 
contributions are recognized as assets to the extent that there is a right to a refund or a reduction in future 
payments. 
 
(19) Taxes 

Current taxes 
Current tax assets and liabilities are measured using the amount expected to be repaid by or paid to tax 
authorities. The amount is calculated on the basis of the tax rates and laws applicable on the reporting date.  
 
Current taxes pertaining to items recognized directly in shareholders’ equity are not posted in the income 
statement, but rather in shareholders’ equity. 
 
Deferred taxes 

Deferred tax is recognized in accordance with IAS 12 “Income Taxes” using the liability method for all temporary 
differences between the tax base of assets/liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements 
according to IFRS. Deferred tax is valued using the tax rates (and laws) enacted or substantively enacted on the 
reporting date or those that are expected to apply when the deferred tax asset is realized or the deferred tax 
liability is settled.  
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
 
→ where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit of loss; and 

→ in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates, and 
interests in joint ventures where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, and unused tax 
credits to the extent that deferred tax liabilities exist, or that taxable income is likely to be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences and the unused tax losses and tax credits can be used except: 
 
→ where the deferred tax asset from deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor the taxable profit or loss, and 

→ in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates, and 
interests in joint ventures provided that the temporary differences are not likely to reverse in the 
foreseeable future or it is probable that insufficient taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be used. 
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is examined on every reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer likely that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which the deferred tax asset, or a part 
thereof, can be used. In addition, the statutory limitations regarding the recognition of deferred tax assets for 
unused tax losses in accordance with Section 10d (2) of the German Income Tax Act (EStG) are taken into 
account.  
 
Deferred taxes which relate to items reported in other comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ equity 
are also stated in other comprehensive income or shareholders’ equity.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using tax rates expected to be valid for the period in which an 
asset is realized or a liability is settled. This is based particularly on country-specific tax rates and laws applicable 
as at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other if the tax assets and 
income taxes pertain to the same taxable entity, have matching maturities, and are levied by the same tax 
authority.  
 
(20) Leases 

Lease agreements in which the Group is the lessee and substantially all of the risks and rewards associated with 
ownership of the leased asset remain with the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made in 
connection with operating leases are recognized in the income statement over the period of the lease using the 
straight-line method.  
 
These qualify as finance leases if the lessee bears substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership. All 
leased assets that qualify as finance leases are recognized as non-current assets in accordance with IAS 17 
“Leases” at the inception of the lease at the lower of their fair value or the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. The corresponding lease obligations are recognized as current or non-current liabilities, depending on 
their term to maturity. The minimum lease payments are broken down into repayments of principal and an interest 
component so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability. Repayments 
of principal reduce the liability, whereas interest payments are reported as interest expense. The depreciation 
rates for leased assets correspond to the principles applied to property, plant and equipment ≥ note (9) and 
(10).  
 
(21) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the Group and the amount of 
revenue can be determined reliably. Medigene classifies as revenue income from the outlicensed drug, Veregen® 
(product sales, milestone payments and royalties) and, commencing in fiscal year 2016, income from the core 
business of immunotherapies (milestone payments and royalties as well as R&D payments made by partners). On 
January 1, 2015, the Group's focus shifted to the core business of immunotherapies. The first revenues from this 
segment are being primarily generated from the cooperation with bluebird ≥ note (4). All other operating 
income is presented under other operating income in the income statement.  
 
Income from product sales 

Revenue from product sales is realized as soon as the risks and rewards associated with ownership have been 
transferred and the product or active ingredient has been delivered to the buyer.  
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Revenue from recurring royalties 

Medigene also receives recurring royalties for the product sales generated by licensees on the market, which are 
settled on a quarterly basis and recognized if the sale takes place. 
 
Income from non-recurring up-front payments and milestone payments  

Up-front (non-recurring) payments which Medigene receives from partners upon concluding a new contract are 
accrued on the liabilities side in accordance with IAS 18 “Revenue” over a period that matches the estimated 
term over which the services promised will be provided, and are stated on a straight-line basis or collected in 
installments once certain milestones are achieved. Provided that all criteria of IAS 18.14 are fulfilled, revenue is 
immediately recognized in full. Non-recurring royalties which entail all risks and rewards being transferred to the 
licensee are immediately recognized as revenue.  
 
Medigene receives milestone payments for the official acceptance of applications submitted to authorities, the 
market approval of products by the authorities, the market launch of new products by partners, the achievement 
of certain contractually agreed annual revenue targets, and the achievement of research and development 
milestones defined in cooperation agreements. Accordingly, these payments are recognized immediately through 
profit or loss provided that no additional performance has been agreed.  
 
R&D payments from partners and other revenue 
Income from research cooperation is recognized through profit or loss in accordance with IAS 18 if the 
contractually agreed targets are reached and/or the relevant research and development (“R&D”) services have 
been rendered. Contractually agreed payments and scheduled payments not linked to a future performance are 
recognized through profit or loss provided that the cooperation partner confirms that the contractual agreements 
have been met.  
 
Interest income 

Interest income is recognized when the interest has accrued or using the effective interest rate for all financial 
instruments measured at amortized cost.  
 
(22) Research and development expenses 

Research and development expenses are recognized as expenses in the period in which they arise. These 
expenses include personnel expenses, purchased services, the cost of laboratory materials, patent and license 
fees, consultancy fees and other costs such as rent and electricity. They also include depreciation and 
amortization.  
 
(23) Earnings per share  

Basic earnings per share  
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit/loss for the period to which the equity owners are 
entitled (the numerator), by the weighted average number of shares issued that are in circulation during the 
period (the denominator).  
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Diluted earnings per share  

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adding potential ordinary shares (e.g. option rights and convertible 
notes) to the weighted average number of shares in circulation (denominator). The net profit/loss for the period is 
adjusted for all changes in income or expense that would result from the conversion of the potential ordinary 
shares with dilutive effects. For the stock options, it is calculated how many shares could be acquired at fair value 
(determined by the average stock market value of the Company’s shares over the course of the year). The number 
of shares thereby calculated is compared with the number that would have resulted had the stock options been 
exercised. The conversion of potential ordinary shares is deemed to be completed on commencement of the 
period, or on the day, when the potential ordinary shares were issued. 
 
For fiscal years 2016 and 2015, diluted earnings per share were the same as basic earnings per share, since taking 
into account the weighted average number of shares to be issued upon the exercise of stock options would 
produce an anti-dilutive effect. Of the total number of 542,072 stock options, 233,594 had no dilutive effect in 
2016, since the exercise price of most of the stock options was above the average share price of €7.97 for the 
year (Deutsche Börse; XETRA closing price).  
 
(24) Statement of cash flows 

The Company applied the indirect method when determining the net cash used in operating activities and 
classified cash flows into operating, investing, and financing activities. The net cash from/used in investing 
activities and financing activities is determined based on the actual payments made. 
 
(25) Segment reporting/operating segments 

Segment reporting in accordance with IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” uses the management approach to determine 
individual segment data. The individual segment data are provided by internal reporting, so that the determination 
of individual data reflects the Company’s management concept.  
 
An “operating segment” is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses and whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating 
decision maker and for which discrete financial information is available.  
For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on its products and services, and has 
two reportable operating segments: “Immunotherapies” (core business) and “Other products” (non-core 
business). Financial information that cannot be assigned to either of the operating segments is reported under 
“Reconciliation”.  
 
In addition, the Group reports revenue with external customers and non-current assets including property, plant, 
equipment, intangible assets, and goodwill, classified by the country in which the Company has generated revenue 
and/or holds assets. 
 
The figures reported for the individual segments can be found in ≥ section E) “Segment reporting”. 
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C) NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT 
The income statement was prepared in accordance with the cost of sales method. 
 
(26) Total revenue  

The total revenue of the Company rose by 43% to €9,749 k in the reporting period (2015: €6,808 k). This increase 
is due, on the one hand, to the special effects from the sale of EndoTAG®, which were posted under other operating 
income and, on the other, to the cooperation entered into with bluebird in September 2016. 
 
Under the terms of this strategic cooperation on research and development with the US company bluebird, 
Medigene received a non-recurring upfront payment of US$15 m (€13.4 m) in the fourth quarter of 
2016 ≥ note (4). This will be realized over an estimated period of 45 months corresponding to the expected 
duration of the underlying services. Revenue of €894 k (2015: €0 k) was realized from this cooperation in the 
fiscal year. In addition to the non-recurring payment, Medigene was reimbursed for research and development 
expenses of €159 k (2015: €0 k) incurred within the framework of the cooperation. 
 
In addition, Medigene generated revenue with its outlicensed drug, Veregen®. This remained more or less constant 
in 2016 at €3,048 k (2015: €3,101 k) and consists of royalties on sales, product deliveries and milestone 
payments. 
 
Other operating income generated by the Company rose by 52% to €5,648 k in the reporting period (2015: 
€3,707 k). The main factors in the increase were the net gain on the sale of the intangible assets associated with 
the drug candidate, EndoTAG®

 of €2,365 k (after deducting the carrying amount of the intangible asset of €2,079 
k) ≥ note (4) as well as reimbursements of €672 k (2015: €1,123 k) for development expenses incurred 
before the date of sale and the progressive transfer of this project to SynCore.  
 
Furthermore, Medigene posted regular non-cash income of €2,493 k in 2016, as in the previous years, from Cowen 
for the former drug, Eligard®≥ note (4).  
 
TOTAL REVENUE 
IN € K 2016 2015 CHANGE 

Revenue Veregen®  3,048 3,101 -2% 
thereof royalties 1,695 2,549 -34% 
thereof revenue from product sales 1,323 467 183% 
thereof milestone payments  30 85 -65% 

Revenue bluebird  1,053 0 - 
thereof revenue from the collaboration  894 0 - 
thereof R&D payments  159 0 - 

Other operating income 5,648 3,707 52% 

thereof R&D payments for projects transferred to partners (SynCore/EndoTAG®)  672 1,123 -40% 
thereof gain on sale of intangible assets, net (SynCore/EndoTAG®) 2,365 0 - 
thereof non-cash income Cowen 2,493 2,493 0% 
thereof other revenue  118 91 30% 

Total revenue  9,749 6,808 43% 
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(27) Cost of sales 

 
COST OF SALES 
IN € K 2016 2015 CHANGE 

Cost of goods sold 868 336 158% 
Royalties 534 767 -30% 
Total  1,402 1,103 27% 

 
(28) Selling expenses 

Expenses for business development, distributing Veregen® and marketing are reported under selling expenses. 
These include personnel expenses, regulatory costs, consultancy fees, market studies and other services. Selling 
expenses increased to €4,167 k (2015: €2,141 k) in the reporting period, mainly on account of an accrual of 
€1,662 k associated with the minimum purchase obligation for Veregen® arising in earlier periods as well as higher 
personnel expenses and bonus payments for the cooperation with bluebird.  
 
SELLING EXPENSES 
IN € K 2016 2015 CHANGE 

Accrual for Veregen ®
 ≥ note (41) 1,662 0 - 

Personnel expenses 1,277 971 32% 
Marketing/regulatory costs 576 567 1% 
Office rent and utilities 141 145 -3% 
Consultancy fees/market studies 125 126 -1% 
Patent costs 80 115 -30% 
Other 306 217 41% 
Total  4,167 2,141 95% 

 
(29) General administrative expenses 

General administrative expenses increased by €384 k year-on-year to €5,858 k in the reporting period (2015: 
€5,474 k) due predominantly to higher consulting fees associated with the cooperation with bluebird and an 
expansion of IT infrastructure. In addition, administrative expenses increased due to higher personnel expenses.  
 
GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
IN € K 2016 2015 CHANGE 

Personnel expenses 3,086 2,859 8% 
Consultancy fees 1,656 1,322 25% 
Office rent and utilities 328 348 -6% 
Depreciation and amortization 100 126 -21% 
Other 688 819 -16% 
Total 5,858 5,474 7% 
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(30) Research and development expenses 

Research and development expenses rose to €11,538 k in the reporting period (2015: €8,529 k) as a result of the 
expansion of immunotherapy projects, mainly due to personnel expenses, services and the cost of laboratory 
materials. The R&D expenses for Medigene’s immunotherapy programs increased by 89% to €10,468 k in fiscal 
year 2016 (2015: €5,534 k).  
 
Purchased services rose by €1,680 k in the reporting year to €2,400 k (2015: €720 k) which can be largely 
attributed to the agreement entered into with EUFETS GmbH, Idar-Oberstein, Germany, for the production of T-
cell receptor (TCR)-modified T cells. Together with Medigene, EUFETS will start the cell production needed for 
their own scheduled Phase I/II TCR trials. The services consist mainly of the following line items: production 
services, as mentioned above, of €1,637 k (2015: €145 k), clinical trials of €664 k (2015: €386 k) and preclinical 
development services of €88 k (2015: €97 k).  
 
The R&D costs incurred for EndoTAG®-1 and bluebird are reimbursed by the partners SynCore and bluebird and 
stated under other operating income or revenue as R&D payments from partners. 
 
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES 
IN € K 2016 2015 CHANGE 

Personnel expenses 5,130 3,834 34% 
Purchased services 2,400 720 >200% 
Consultancy fees 229 543 -58% 
Depreciation and amortization 744 816 -9% 
Office rent and utilities 794 618 28% 
Patent and license fees 681 924 -26% 
Laboratory material costs 924 546 69% 
Other 636 528 20% 
Total 11,538 8,529 35% 

 
(31) Financial result 

FINANCIAL RESULT 
IN € K 2016 2015 CHANGE 

Interest income 305 62 >200% 
Interest expense  -1,314 -2,976 -56% 

thereof non-cash interest expense from the financial liability to 
Cowen	  ≥	  note	  (4) -1,167 -1,316 -11% 

thereof non-cash changes in fair value of the liability for contingent 
consideration	  ≥	  note	  (41) -89 -1,601 - 

thereof interest expense for finance leases	  ≥	  note	  (20) -45 -35 29% 
thereof net interest cost for pension obligations	  ≥	  note	  (39) -8 -8 - 
Other -5 -16 -69% 

Total -1,009 -2,914 -65% 
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Other financial result 

The other financial result includes contingent payments of €391 k (2015: €0 k) received in 2016 subsequent to 
the sale of the Medigene spin-off, Catherex Inc. to Amgen Inc., USA, that was concluded in December 2015. 
Medigene has a right to additional contingent payments that will be triggered upon reaching certain regulatory or 
sales-based milestones for Amgen’s drug, ImlygicTM . In addition, Medigene will receive contingent purchase price 
payments based on sales for ImlygicTM through to the end of 2020.  
 
(32) Personnel expenses 

The expense items in the income statement include the following personnel expenses:  
 
PERSONNEL EXPENSES 
IN € K 2016 2015 CHANGE 

Wages and salaries 7,781 6,457 21% 
Social security 1,037 878 19% 
Pension expenses    

Defined contribution plans 30 31 -3% 
Defined benefit plans ≥ note (39) 33 28 4% 

Stock options issued to executives and employees 327 111 195% 
Other 285 159 79% 
Total 9,493 7,664 24% 

 
EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION (WITHOUT EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD)  
 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 CHANGE 

General administration 21 18 17% 
Business development 8 9 -11% 
Research and development 59 46 28% 
Total 88 73 21% 

 
The number of full-time equivalents (FTEs, without Executive Management Board) increased to 80 as at 
December 31, 2016 (12/31/2015: 66).  
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D) NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET  
ASSETS 

(33) Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill  

The composition and development of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill is provided in 
the statement of changes in non-current assets ≥ page 98 et seq. 
 
The carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use break down by CGU as follows as 
at December 31, 2016: 
 
CARRYING AMOUNTS OF CASH-GENERATING UNITS (CGUS) 
IN € K 12/31/2016 

 
12/31/2015 

 

 RhuDex®
 

(CGU 1) 
Immunotherapies 

(CGU 2) 
RhuDex®

 

(CGU 1) 
Immunotherapies 

(CGU 2) 
Carrying amount of goodwill 2,212 0 2,212 0 
Carrying amount of RhuDex® intangible assets not yet available for use 23,750 0 23,750 0 
Carrying amount of Medigene Immunotherapies’ intangible assets not yet 
available for use 0 9,692 0 9,692 

Carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment 0 2,055 0 1,782 
Total  25,962 11,747 25,962 11,474 
 
Annual impairment test as at December 31, 2016  

Methodology for determining the recoverable amount 
The recoverable amount for each CGU is estimated on the basis of value-in-use calculations using discounted 
risk-adjusted net present value (rNPV) cash flow models. Value in use can be determined for each of the projects 
at research stage and allocated to the CGU since the clinical development and subsequent marketing of the drug 
candidates for a specific indication have been firmly established. Product-specific and financing risks relating to 
the development stage are reflected by deductions in the cash flows. The cash flow forecasts used include 
assumptions regarding the probability of market entry, future competition, project progress, the product profile 
and its lifecycle, as well as the market share of the future drug candidate.  
 
Cash flow after tax was discounted based on a discount rate after tax which reflects current market assessments 
of the interest rate level and the risks specific to the entity or product, to which the estimated future cash flows 
were not adjusted. The Executive Management Board used discount rates and cash flows after tax, since it is their 
opinion that discounting the cash flows after tax at a discount rate after tax will not yield results that differ 
significantly from discounting cash flows before tax at a discount rate before tax. 
 
The amounts attributed to the assumptions correspond to the Executive Management Board’s assessment of 
future developments and are based on internal planning scenarios and external sources of information and 
market data. As at December 31, 2016, no impairment losses were required on the carrying amounts of the two 
cash-generating units. 
There are estimation uncertainties regarding the following assumptions that form the basis of the calculation of 
the value in use of the CGU: 
 
→ Probability of market entry 
→ Development periods and project progress 
→ Expected market volume  
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Probability of market entry 
Medigene has made assumptions on the probability of market entry for the drug candidates. The necessity for 
those assumptions arises from the typical drug development risks. These risks vary depending on the class of 
substance and API, as well as the medical indication. Accordingly, management has applied the customary 
probability of success within the industry for its valuation models. In addition, project-specific assumptions 
supplement these estimations. The development risks are taken into consideration in determining the project-
specific cash flows. 
 
Development periods and project progress 
According to pharmaceuticals industry statistics, the development of a drug generally takes 10 to 15 years. This 
period of time is divided into successive phases. Significant factors which influence the length of the 
development period are the results for efficacy and side effects of a drug candidate, which are obtained during 
the individual phases. The assumptions made by Medigene’s management for each indication are based on the 
current development status, the results obtained so far and the empirical data regarding the medical indication 
and class of drugs.  
 
Expected market volume 
Management compares the data available for the development project, the target profile and the development 
data, if accessible, and on this basis makes an assessment of the anticipated market share. In order to estimate 
the number of patients who will be treated in the future, Medigene also relies on estimates of external consulting 
and valuation specialists. The expected market prices for a drug are determined with the assistance of external 
consultants and specialist valuers and are oriented towards the prices of drugs and therapies that have already 
been approved to treat the specific indication. 
 
Basic assumptions for calculating value in use for CGU 1 

The forecast extends beyond the expected expiry of the patent and covers the years 2017 to 2037. The cash flow 
models are based on the assumption that RhuDex® will be first approved in 2024 is approved and marketed in the 
three largest pharmaceutical markets worldwide: the USA, Europe and Japan. The impairment model includes the 
outlicensing in 2014 of the drug candidate RhuDex® in the areas of hepatology and gastroenterology to Dr. Falk 
Pharma GmbH, Freiburg, Germany (“Falk Pharma”), in particular in the indications primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC) 
and autoimmune hepatitis. The assumptions used in the impairment test are based on the terms and conditions of 
the license agreement as well as the development plan and information from Falk Pharma.  
 
PROJECT-SPECIFIC ASSUMPTIONS CGU 1  
Planning period in years 22 
Project-specific cumulative probability of market entry 15-17 
Tax rate (%) 30 
Discount rate after taxes (%) 9.86 
 
Sensitivity of the assumptions made – CGU 1 (RhuDex®) 

In the basic assumptions made to determine the value in use of the CGU which are based on management’s best 
estimate and judgment, changes are reasonably possible which would cause the carrying amount of the CGU to 
exceed the value in use. This would trigger an impairment loss. In order to analyze the effects of basic and/or 
project-specific assumptions on value in use, Medigene made the following sensitivity calculations at CGU 1 
level for the research and development projects assessed:  
 
The first approach examines the influence of greater risks with regard to the safety and effectiveness profile 
during clinical development. The increased development risks are reflected in a risk factor that takes the 
probability of market entry into account. If the probability of project progress is reduced by 12% in each case, 
thereby reducing the probability of market entry by approximately 30%, value in use approximates the carrying 
amount of CGU 1.  
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The second approach examines how postponing the planned market entry by 1.5 years per indication would affect 
the recoverable amount. In this scenario, value in use approximates the carrying amount of CGU 1. 
 
The third approach examines the influence of patent scope and patent duration, i.e. of market exclusivity. Should, 
contrary to expectations, an assumed extension of the patent terms not be granted and market exclusivity be 
reduced by just 1.5 years, the CGU’s value in use would approximate its carrying amount as a result. 
 
In addition, the resulting value in use is assessed on the basis of the estimated market price of drug candidates 
(royalties): if the market prices decrease by 32%, the value in use would approximate the carrying amount of 
CGU 1. 
 
Moreover, the impact of a higher discount rate is analyzed. If the discount rate is increased by 3.4 percentage 
points to 13.00%, value in use approximates the carrying amount of CGU 1.  
 
In the worst case, if several unfavorable changes are considered in the basic assumptions, value in use may drop 
to zero, and the carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use would have to be fully 
written off. 
 
Basic assumptions for calculating value in use for CGU 2 

Management bases its calculation of this CGU’s value in use on its intention to further develop and market the two 
most advanced immunotherapy platforms itself: dendritic cell (DC) vaccine for the treatment of acute myeloid 
leukemia (AML) and T-cell receptor (TCR)-modified T cells as part of an adoptive T-cell therapy for cancer 
patients (TCR-target molecules and tumor indications will be announced at a later date prior to commencement of 
the trial). In addition, the estimated future income from the cooperation with bluebird has also been considered. 
The cash flow models extend beyond the expected term of the patent and cover the entire period until 2040. It 
was assumed that the first date for a market launch will be in 2024 (DC vaccine) and in 2028 (TCRs) for both the 
EU and USA.  
 
PROJECT-SPECIFIC ASSUMPTIONS CGU 2  
Planning horizon in years 20-24 
Project-specific cumulative probability of market entry (%) 6-9 or 23 
Tax rate (%) 30 
Discount rate after taxes (%) 9.86 

 
Forecasts of market volume are based on the number of patients treated and estimates relating to frequency, 
scope and price of treatment. The number of patients was determined on the basis of the most recent market 
data available for the EU and the US using growth rates of 1.0% and 1.4% p.a., respectively. The price estimates 
take account of current market prices. As is customary, in such estimates Medigene also relies on assessments by 
external consulting and valuation specialists. The expected future market shares are estimated taking into 
account the lifecycle of the development project and reach double-digit figures in peak years. Gross margin 
adjusted for inflation was assumed to be between about 80% and 85%. Further, it is assumed that production will 
be outsourced completely; accordingly no investment in the Company’s own plant, except for research purposes, 
has been budgeted.  
 
Marketing, administration and general costs are planned as a percentage of annual revenue.  
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Sensitivity of the assumptions made – CGU 2 (Immunotherapies) 

Due to the diversification of the underlying immunotherapy platforms and taking account of the agreed 
preclinical, clinical, regulatory, and commercial milestone payments that have been agreed in the cooperation 
agreement with bluebird, the total value in use of CGU 2 does not materially depend on any changes in the 
underlying assumptions. Based on a reasonable assessment, no changes are likely that could result in the carrying 
amount of CGU 2 exceeding its value in use, which would trigger an impairment loss. 
 
The Company examined the influence of greater risks with regard to the safety and effectiveness profile during 
clinical development. The increase in development risks is reflected in a risk factor that takes the probability of 
market entry into account. Even if the probability of project progress is reduced by 25% in each case, thereby 
reducing the cumulative probability of market entry by approximately 1%-10%, value in use still does not 
approximate the carrying amount of CGU 2.  
 
In addition, the impact of a higher discount rate is analyzed. If the discount rate is increased by 13.1 percentage 
points to 23.0%, value in use approximates the carrying amount of CGU 2.  
 
In the worst case, if several significantly unfavorable changes are considered in the basic assumptions, value in 
use may drop to zero, and the carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use would 
have to be fully written off. 
 
(34) Non-current financial assets  

Non-current financial assets comprise the following items: 
 
NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 
IN € K 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 CHANGE 

Shares in Immunocore Ltd. (available-for-sale financial assets) 5,675 12,820 -56% 
Securities for funding pension obligations (available-for-sale financial assets) 196 194 1% 
Total 5,871 13,014 -55% 

 
The shares held in the private British biotech company, Immunocore Ltd., UK, amounted to €5,675 k on the 
reporting date (12/31/2015: €12,820 k). On April 4, 2016 Medigene AG sold 50% of its stake for GB£4.9 m 
(€6  m). The net gains of €4,242 k from the fair value measurement of these shares that was recorded in other 
comprehensive income until their sale was reclassified to profit and loss upon their sale in the second quarter of 
2016. As at 12/31/2016 Medigene held a total of 32,407 ordinary shares in Immunocore (12/31/2015: 64,815 
shares). The shares in Immunocore Ltd. are classified as non-current financial assets and measured at fair value 
categorized into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy of financial instruments ≥ note (46). In light of the fact 
that the shares are denominated in pound sterling, they were translated into euro using the closing rate. 
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(35) Inventories  

As at the reporting date, inventories of Veregen® amounted to €7,866 k (12/31/2015: €6,654 k), an increase of 
18% as a result of the minimum purchase commitment. There was no need to write down inventories to lower net 
realizable value as the Company assumes that it will be possible to sell the products in stock as at December 31, 
2016 in future. The shelf life of the API of Veregen® of three years originally, has been extended to five years.  
Based on recent supporting data on its shelf life a longer period of usability can be assumed, subject to the 
completion of respective regulatory processes. 
 
Current stock levels are sufficient to supply the market for the long term. 
 
(36) Other assets and trade accounts receivable  

OTHER ASSETS AND TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
IN € K 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 CHANGE 

Receivables from license partners (SynCore) ≥ note (4) (loans and receivables) 3,493 0 - 
Prepaid expenses  680 730 -7% 

VAT receivables 384 492 -22% 

Rent deposits > 1 year (loans and receivables) 286 323 -11% 
Receivables from the sale of Catherex (loans and receivables) 0 4,456 - 
Other (loans and receivables) 240 46 >200% 
Total other assets 5,083 6,047 -16% 

thereof current  2,302 5,724 -60% 

Trade accounts receivable (loans and receivables) 1,175 763 54% 

 
Payment of the outstanding receivable disclosed as at December 31, 2015 of €4,456 k from the sale of Catherex 
to Amgen Inc. was received in February 2016 and is presented in the statement of consolidated cash flows in the 
cash from/used in investing activities. Trade accounts receivable and financial other assets were neither past due 
nor impaired as at the reporting date. The maturities of trade accounts receivable and financial other assets are 
as follows: 
 
AGING ANALYSIS OF TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND FINANCIAL OTHER ASSETS

 IN € K MATURITY 

 UP TO 30 
DAYS 

30-180 
DAYS 

180-360 
DAYS 

1-5 YEARS >5 YEARS TOTAL 

Balance as at 12/31/2016       
Financial other assets 1,240 0 0 2,779 0 4,019 

Trade accounts receivable 1,175 0 0 0 0 1,175 

Total 2,415 0 0 2,779 0 5,194 

       
Balance as at 12/31/2015       
Financial other assets 46 4,456 0 323 0 4,825 

Trade accounts receivable 763 0 0 0 0 763 

Total 809 4,456 0 323 0 5,588 
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(37) Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME DEPOSITS 
IN € K 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 CHANGE 

Cash and cash equivalents < 3 months 14,630 8,759 67% 
Time deposits  38,000 38,000 - 
Total 52,630 46,759 13% 

 
As at December 31, 2016 an amount of €38 m was invested at first-class banks in various fixed-interest 
investments with original terms to maturity of up to 18 months and interest rates of up to 0.2%. These products 
are presented as time deposits and classified as available-for-sale financial assets. Due to their short-term 
availability (maximum notice period is 95 days), these time deposits are classified as current assets.  
 
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

(38) Shareholders’ equity  

a) Subscribed capital  

Subscribed capital increased by €458,259 from €19,678,628 as at December 31, 2015 to €20,136,887 as at 
December 31, 2016. This resulted from the issue of shares to service converted notes (55,116 shares), stock 
options (10,268 shares) and new shares issued for the equity-settlement of a second milestone payment 
(392,875 shares), realized within the framework of a capital increase against a contribution in kind which had 
been agreed on as part of the purchase price for the acquisition of Medigene Immunotherapies executed in 
January 2014.  
 
Subscribed capital was divided into 20,136,887 no-par registered shares as at December 31, 2016, which were 
issued and outstanding as at the reporting date. Of these, 54,334 shares, which were issued for the converted 
convertible notes in the period from May 7, 2016 to December 31, 2016 and 718 shares, issued in the period from 
May 11, 2016 to December 31, 2016, had not been entered in the commercial register as at December 31, 2016. 
This entry was filed in January 2017. 
 
a) Stock options 

Equity instruments such as stock options are valued and reported in accordance with IFRS 2.  
 
Stock options are issued to members of the Executive Management Board and employees of the Company and its 
affiliates. They are initially issued within one year following their joining the Company. The exercise price 
corresponds to the unweighted average closing price of the last 30 trading days prior to the date of issue on the 
XETRA exchange of Deutsche Börse. The holders of the options may exercise their stock options at the earliest 
after a vesting period of four years, starting from the date of allotment of the relevant subscription right subject 
to the condition that the unweighted average closing price over the 30 successive days of trading prior to the 
respective exercise date, but after the waiting period, amounts to 120% of the exercise price.  
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The options have a term of 10 years commencing on date on which they are issued. The Group has no legal or 
constructive obligation to repurchase options or offer a cash settlement. 
 
In fiscal year 2016, a total of 10,000 stock options were issued to members of the Executive Management Board 
in accordance with the resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting on July 10, 2012 (Conditional Capital 
XXIII) and 50,000 stock options in accordance with the resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting on 
August 11, 2016 (Conditional Capital 2016/II) (2015: 27,500 stock options). These stock options are not 
forfeited in the event that the holder of subscription rights leaves the Company, and Medigene has accordingly 
recognized the stock options immediately as an expense. 
 
In December 2016, a further 34,780 stock options (2015: 22,683 stock options) were issued to employees from 
Conditional Capital 2016/II according to the resolution by the Annual General Meeting on August 11, 2016. If an 
employee’s contract of employment is terminated on grounds of personal capability or conduct, or if the option 
holder hands in their notice of resignation before the end of the relevant vesting period, all stock options are 
forfeited without entitlement to replacement or compensation if the vesting period for exercising such stock 
options has not yet expired when the contract of employment is terminated. The corresponding option expense is 
recognized over four years. 
 
The weighted average exercise price of stock options issued to Executive Management Board members and 
employees in fiscal year 2016 was €8.46. 
 
TOTAL CHANGE IN STOCK OPTIONS OUTSTANDING

 IN € K 2016 2015 

 AVERAGE 
EXERCISE 
PRICE IN € 

Number AVERAGE 
EXERCISE 
PRICE IN € 

Number 

Outstanding stock options, balance as at 1/1 13.21 486,469 16.52 469,380 
Issued 8.46 94,780 5.88 50,183 
Exercised 4.12 -10,268 0 0 
Forfeited 4.65 -1,045 3.64 -300 
Expired 40.88 -27,864 49.48 -32,794 
Outstanding stock options, balance as at 31/12  542,072  486,469 
Weighted average exercise price per option (€)  11.14  13.21 

 
The instruments are valued using a binomial model. The following parameters are taken into consideration: 
 
MEASUREMENT PARAMETERS FOR STOCK OPTIONS 
 2016 2015 

Vesting period 4 years 4 years 
Option term 10 years 10 years 
Exercise threshold 120% 120% 
Expected volatility 65% 61% 
Risk-free interest rate 0.36% 0.59% 

 
The expected volatility was determined on a historical basis and is based on the floating 250-day average 
prevailing at the time when options are issued. The risk-free interest rate corresponds to the yield of a 
hypothetical zero coupon bond excluding any credit default risk. On the issue date of the stock options it was 
0.36% (source: Deutsche Bundesbank). The average fair value of the stock options issued in fiscal year 2016 
amounted to €5.42 per stock option (2015: €3.54). For 2016, an expense for share-based payments totaling €326 
k (2015: €111 k) was reported in accordance with IFRS. It breaks down as follows: 
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E X P E N S E S  F O R  S T O C K  O P T I O N S  
IN € K 2016 2015 

Expenses for stock options from the year   
2013 7 7 
2014 7 7 
2015 16 97 
2016 296 0 

Total 326 111 

 
As at December 31, 2016, the stock options outstanding were classified by exercise price, number of options 
issued, remaining term and options that are still convertible as follows:  
 
STOCK OPTIONS 

 
IN € 

NUMBER OF STOCK OPTIONS 
OUTSTANDING 

REMAINING TERM 
IN YEARS  

NUMBER  

OF EXERCISABLE OPTIONS 
1

 

23.52 58,530 1 58,530 
17.36 74,498 2 74,498 
15.56 57,897 2 57,897 
14.76 42,669 3 42,669 

7.48 34,233 4 34,233 
4.12 28,239 5 28,239 
4.20 28,858 6 28,858 
3.64 30,652 7 0 
4.05 41,933 8 0 
5.88 49,783 9 0 
8.46 94,780 10 0 

 542,072  324,924 
1) Provided the statutory vesting period has been met. 

 
The weighted average remaining term of stock options outstanding is 5 years. 
 
b) Authorized capital 

By a shareholders’ resolution dated August 13, 2015 entered in the commercial register on August 20, 2015, 
Medigene’s Annual General Meeting created authorized capital of €9,822,996.00 and adjusted Art. 5 (4) of the 
Articles of Association accordingly. Through the resolution, the Executive Management Board of Medigene is 
authorized – with the approval of the Supervisory Board – to increase the share capital of Medigene by a total of 
up to €9,822,996.00 until August 12, 2020 on one or more occasions in return for contribution in cash or in kind 
(Authorized Capital 2015/I). The Executive Management Board of Medigene is authorized, with the approval of 
the Supervisory Board, to exclude the subscription right of shareholders once or several times, for example when 
new shares are issued against a contribution in kind.  
 
However, the Executive Management Board of Medigene AG has undertaken a voluntary commitment not to avail 
of Authorized Capital 2015/I and the authorization permitted under Art. 5 (4) of the Articles of Association to the 
extent that the shares issued under this authorization, excluding the subscription rights of existing shareholders, 
in order to execute a capital increase against cash contributions or contributions in kind do not exceed 20% of the 
share capital, calculated as the lower of the share capital on the date on which the authorization became effective 
or the date on which it is exercised. Shares which are issued during the effective term of this authorization to 
service the conversion of convertible notes and/or options whose authorization was already in place on the date 
on which this authorization became effective are to be added to the 20% threshold, provided that the convertible 
notes and/or options were issued excluding the subscription rights of existing shareholders (unless issued to  
service the rights of members of the Executive Management Board and/or employees arising from stock option 
programs). 
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Based on the authorization resolved by the Annual General Meeting on August 13, 2015 under Item 5 of the 
agenda, the Executive Management Board is authorized to issue, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, once 
or several times up to 9,822,996 new shares and exclude the subscription rights of existing shareholders 
(Authorized Capital 2015/I). When issuing a total of 392,875 new shares in fiscal year 2016 the Company 
exercised this authorization as follows: 
 
On April 1, 2016, the Company reported that the second milestone agreed on in the contribution agreement made 
on January 27, 2014 with the shareholders of the Company then trading as Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH (now 
named: Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH) had been reached. With the approval of the Supervisory Board, the 
Executive Management Board passed a resolution to settle the associated payment in shares by means of a 
capital increase against a contribution in kind from Authorized Capital 2015/I. As a result, in May 2016, 392,875 
new shares were issued to the former shareholders of Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH in return for the 
contribution of a receivable of €3,175,000.00 for an issue price of €1.00 per share with the resulting premium 
being posted to the capital reserve. This corresponds to approximately 2.0% of the registered share capital at the 
time of €19,688,960.00. 
 
Authorized Capital 2015/I amounting to €9,430,121.00 remained available as at December 31, 2016 
(corresponding to roughly 47% of issued capital as at 12/31/2016). 
 
c) Conditional capital and classification of conditional capital  

The Company’s share capital as at December 31, 2016 was increased conditionally through a number of 
conditional capital adjustments by a total of up to €10,035,714.00, divided into up to 10,035,714 ordinary shares 
(approx. 50% of the share capital as at 12/31/2016), divided in each case into the same number of ordinary 
shares (no-par shares). 
 
CLASSIFICATION OF CONDITIONAL CAPITAL BY STOCK OPTIONS AND CONVERTIBLE NOTES (BASED ON THE ARTICLES OF 
ASSOCIATION) 
(NO.)  NUMBER AS AT 

12/31/2016 IN € 
PURPOSE TO SERVICE 

XVI  58,530 Options 
XVIII 247,805 Options 
XXII 54,379 Convertible notes and options 
XXIII 175,000 Options 
2016/I 8,000,000 Convertible notes and options 
2016/II 1,500,000 Options 
 10,035,714  

 
Medigene issued 818,658 convertible notes within the framework of the capital increase by cash subscription 
passed by resolution on June 27, 2014. During the reporting period, 55,116 shares were issued for 264,782 
converted convertible notes. Consequently, Conditional Capital XXII decreased by €55,116.00 from 
€10,887,952.00 (as at 12/31/2015) to €10,832,836.00 whereby Conditional Capital XXII still amounts to 
€54,379.00 due to a resolution of the Annual General Meeting on August 11, 2016 and entered in the commercial 
register on 9/14/2016 (based on the Articles of Association as at 12/31/2016) and the 54,334 new shares issued 
in the period between May 7, 2016 and December 31, 2016 have not yet been considered in § 5 (24) of the 
Articles of Association as at 12/31/2016 (Conditional Capital XXII). This entry was filed in January 2017. 
 
Due to the capital increase passed by resolution on June 12, 2015, which involved a cash contribution of 
€5,594,178.00 in return for issue of new shares priced at €8.30 per share, the antidilution clause laid out in § 12 
of the terms and conditions of the 2014/2016 zero bond was triggered. Based on § 12 (1) c) of the terms and 
conditions of the 2014/2016 zero bond, the conversion price can be adjusted under certain circumstances. The 
Company decided to adjust the conversion price accordingly. As a result, the adjusted conversion price is now 
€4.80 commencing July 3, 2015 (formerly: €5.00). On 6/10/2016, the Company announced that it would exercise 
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its call rights to enforce conversion of the bond pursuant to § 8.1 of the terms and conditions of the bond, 
provided that the bonds had not been prematurely repaid, converted, repurchased or canceled before it matures 
(July 20, 2016). On July 21, 2016 186,066 convertible bonds were subsequently converted, which led to the issue 
of 38,749 new shares. The 2014/2016 convertible bond program was therewith concluded. 
 
In fiscal year 2016 a total of 10,268 shares were issued to meet the rights of 41,072 options. Consequently, 
Conditional Capital XVIII decreased by €10,268.00 from €1,200,000.00 (as at 12/31/2015) to €1,189,732.00 
whereby Conditional Capital XVIII still amounts to €247,805.00 due to a change in the wording entered in the 
commercial register on 6/13/2016 (based on the Articles of Association as at 12/31/2016) and the 718 new 
shares issued in the period between 5/11/2016 and 12/31/2016 have not yet been considered in § 5 (20) of the 
Articles of Association (Conditional Capital XVIII). This entry was filed in January 2017.  
 
However, the Executive Management Board of Medigene AG undertook a voluntary commitment at the Annual 
General Meeting on August 11, 2016 not to make use of Authorized Capital 2016/I and the underlying 2016 
authorization if the shares issued under this 2016 authorization – provided the convertible bonds or options were 
issued excluding the subscription rights of existing shareholders – do not exceed 20% of the share capital, 
calculated as the lower of the share capital on the date on which the authorization became effective or the date 
on which it is exercised. Shares which are issued (i) on the basis of Authorized Capital 2015/I (§ 5 (4) of the 
Articles of Association) excluding subscription rights during the effective term of the 2016 authorization and (ii) 
shares which are issued to service the conversion of convertible notes and/or options whose authorization was 
already in place on the date on which the 2016 authorization became effective are to be added to the 20% 
threshold, provided that the convertible notes or options were issued excluding the subscription rights of existing 
shareholders (unless issued to service the rights of members of the Executive Management Board and/or 
employees arising from stock option programs). 
 
(39) Pension obligations  

The amount of the pension obligations is determined as follows:  
 
PENSION OBLIGATIONS 
 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 

Present value of benefit obligation 2,348 2,305 
Fair value of plan assets -1,940 -1,946 
Carrying amount of the obligation 408 359 

 
The plan assets comprise pension liability insurance policies. These assets are not listed and no prices are quoted 
in an active market for these assets. The employer’s contribution expected in 2017 totals €6 k. 
 
The following amounts were recognized in the income statement: 
 
EXPENSES RECOGNIZED IN THE INCOME STATEMENT 
IN € K 2016 2015 

Current service cost 33 60 
Interest cost 8 8 
Total expense recognized in the income statement 41 68 
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ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 
IN % 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 

Discount rate 1.7 2.4 
Future pension increases 1.0/2.0 1.0/2.0 
Future salary increases 0.0 0.0 

 
The change in the present value of the defined benefit obligations is as follows: 
 
IN € K   

Defined benefit obligation as at 1/1/2015 2,406 

Interest cost 47 
Current service cost 60 
Plan settlements -148 
Employee contributions 7 
Actuarial losses -67 
Defined benefit obligation as at 12/31/2015 2,305 

Interest cost 54 
Current service cost 33 
Plan settlements -158 
Employee contributions 7 
Actuarial gains 107 
Defined benefit obligation as at 12/31/2016 2,348 

thereof  
funded 1,940 
unfunded 408 

 
The change in the present value of plan assets is as follows: 
 
IN € K   

Fair value of plan assets as at 12/31/2015 1,993 

Interest income 39 
Employer contributions 60 
Employee contributions 7 
Plan settlements -122 
Actuarial losses -31 
Fair value of plan assets as at 12/31/2015 1,946 

Interest income 46 
Employer contributions 33 
Employee contributions 7 
Plan settlements -158 
Actuarial gains 66 
Fair value of plan assets as at 12/31/2016 1,940 

 
(40) Taxes 

The major income tax components for the 2016 and 2015 fiscal years are as follows:  
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INCOME TAXES 
IN € K 2016 2015 

Current income taxes   
Current income tax expense (foreign withholding tax on royalties and milestone payments) -102 -2 

Deferred taxes 330 402 
Income tax income/expense reported in the income statement  228 400 
 
Deferred taxes as at December 31, 2016 related to the following items:  
 
DEFERRED TAXES

 IN € K 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

CONSOLIDATED 
INCOME STATEMENT 

 
 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 2016 2015 

Deferred tax assets     
Deferred taxes on unused tax losses 
 
Germany 58,407 55,257 3,150 3,845 
United States 18,283 17,874 409 756 
Subtotal 76,690 73,131 3,559 4,601 

thereof unrecognized -73,993 -69,942 -4,051 -4,520 
Net  2,697 3,189 -492 81 

     
Property, plant and equipment 47 42 5 24 
Other taxes from subsidies/relief 2,081 2,169 -88 179 

Investment in associates 0 0 0 -222 
Other assets 248 0 248 0 
Other liabilities and accruals 1,640 993 647 447 
Pension liability insurance 348 355 -7 18 
Subtotal 4,364 3,559 805 446 
thereof unrecognized -2,148 -2,196 48 16 
Net 2,216 1,363 853 462 

Total deferred tax assets 4,913 4,552 361 543 

     
Deferred tax liabilities     
Intangible assets 6,325 6,224 101 238 
Other assets 1 82 -81 -99 
Pension accruals 208 197 11 2 
Total deferred tax liabilities  6,534 6,503 31 141 

Net deferred tax liabilities 1,621 1,951 -330 -402 
thereof deferred tax income   330 402 

 
Since January 1, 2016 deferred taxes in Germany have been calculated using a combined tax rate of 26.68%, 
which breaks down as follows: corporate income tax rate of 15%, solidarity surcharge of 5.5% on the corporate 
income tax liability and trade tax of 10.85%.  
 
Country-specific tax rates were applied for the deferred taxes of foreign operations. 
 
The reported tax expenses differ from the expected tax expenses which would have resulted from the application 
of the nominal tax rate to profit or loss under IFRS. A reconciliation of the difference can be seen in the following 
table, in which the tax rate applicable in the respective period was used. 
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The increase in unrecognized deferred tax assets shown below does not correspond to the amount of 
unrecognized deferred tax assets on unused tax losses mentioned above, due to the different exchange rates 
(transaction exchange rate at the date of business transaction, or the average rate for the conversion of earnings 
before tax versus the corresponding closing rate for unrecognized deferred tax assets). 
 
INCOME TAXES 
IN € K 2016 2015 

Earnings before tax -9,720 -13,399 

Expected tax income 2,593 3,528 
Net addition to unrecognized deferred tax assets -3,220 -2,984 
Tax-exempt sale of shares 1,075 0 
Change in the trade tax rate -44 0 
Non-deductible expenses -23 -23 
International tax rate differences 45 -119 
Deductible foreign withholding tax -75 0 
Other -123 -2 
Reported tax income 228 400 

Effective tax rate (%) 2.35 3.0 

 
The breakdown of unused tax losses is as follows:  
 
UNUSED TAX LOSSES 
IN € K 2016 2015 

Corporate income tax Germany 220,239 211,120 
Trade tax Germany 217,090 208,071 
State tax USA 51,667 49,745 
Federal tax USA 8,103 10,868 

 
In Germany, tax losses may generally be carried forward for an unlimited period of time. The deduction of existing 
loss carryforwards is ruled out in the event of harmful changes in the shareholder structure.  
 
The unused tax losses of the US subsidiary Medigene, Inc. will expire between 2017 and 2036. In the USA, unused 
tax losses based on federal tax may be utilized for 20 years, whereas those based on state tax expire after 
between 5 and 20 years, unless an extension is granted.  
 
(41) Trade accounts payable and other financial liabilities 

 
TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
IN € K 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 CHANGE 

Accrual for Veregen®  1,662 0 - 
Current portion of the liability to Cowen ≥ note (4) 1,494 1,326 13% 
Liabilities from milestone payments to former shareholders of Medigene 
Immunotherapies 1,426 4,512 -68% 

Bonus payments due 1,103 916 20% 
Non-current portion of bonus for the Executive Management Board 435 416 5% 
Other  1,523 1,134 34% 

Total other financial liabilities 7,643 8,304 -8% 

thereof current  7,208 7,888 -9% 
Trade accounts payable  973 1,354 -28% 
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An agreement is in place with a Japanese manufacturing corporation for the production and supply of the active 
pharmaceutical ingredient (API) for Veregen®. This contract contains certain minimum purchase obligations at 
agreed intervals on the part of Medigene, which could not be fully met in past years. This agreement qualifies as 
an onerous contract as defined in IAS 37. As a result, an accrual of €1,662 k was recognized as at December 31, 
2016.  
 
The second milestone payment €3,175 k to the former shareholders of Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH was 
settled in the second quarter of 2016 by issue of new shares in the course of a capital increase for contribution in 
kind ≥ note (38).  
 
The third and last milestone payment to the former shareholders of Medigene Immunotherapies is contingent 
upon the future progress of the development projects carried out by Medigene Immunotherapies. The 
contractually agreed amount for the milestone payment, which could fall due in mid-2017 based on the latest 
assessments by the Company, is €2,000 k. The fair value of this last milestone came to €1,426 k as at 
December 31, 2016.  
 
As in the past, the Company intends to settle this milestone payment by issuing new shares. The €89 k change in 
the fair value of this liability towards the former shareholders of Medigene Immunotherapies of €89 k in the 2016 
reporting year (2015: €1,601 k) was recognized under interest expense ≥ note (31). 
 
The trade accounts payable of €973 k at the end of the reporting period (12/31/2015: €1,354 k) consisted of 
unpaid invoices issued primarily for services utilized by Medigene. For the maturity analysis of financial liabilities, 
please refer to ≥ note (45).  
 
(42) Deferred income 

As at December 31, 2016 deferred income totaled €12,512 k (12/31/2015: €226 k). As at December 31, 
2016, it consists of the non-current portion of deferred income of €8,937 k (12/31/2015: €0 k) and the current 
deferred income of €3,575 k relating to the non-recurring upfront payment from the strategic cooperation with 
bluebird for research and development ≥ note (4). Current deferred income of €226 k as at 12/31/2015 
relates to the non-recurring upfront payment from the agreement with SynCore that was terminated in January 
2016 ≥ note (4).  
 
(43) Contingent liabilities 

No accruals were recognized for the contingent liabilities listed below, as the risk of claims being made is deemed 
unlikely.  
 
In 2004, Medigene concluded an agreement with the insolvency administrator of Munich Biotech AG, Neuried, 
Germany (“MBT”), under which payments by Medigene to the insolvency administrator were agreed in the event of 
certain milestones being achieved, including a milestone payment upon commencement of a clinical phase III trial 
for EndoTAG®-1. In connection with signing the SynCore agreement in July 2012, the Company came to an 
agreement with the insolvency administrator, which provides for Medigene not making any further milestone 
payments and only having to transfer a low percentage of the income achieved once a certain developed stage is 
reached by EndoTAG®. According to the agreement, the amount is limited to a total of €11 m and is payable in 
installments. Management does not believe that accruals need to be recognized for this, since the relevant 
payments will not become due until specific events occur. As at the reporting date, it was not likely that this 
triggering event and the associated income would be reached. These comments apply equally after the sale of 
EndoTAG® to the original license partner, SynCore, in December 2015 (≥ note (4)). 
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Expenses of €1,107 k (2015: €1,004 k) were incurred for operating leases in the reporting period. 
 
The future annual rent and lease payments for operating leases are as follows: 
 
 
IN € K RENT AND LEASE PAYMENTS 

2017 1,118 
2018 1,031 
2019 1,007 
2020 966 
Minimum lease obligations 4,122 

 
The Company leases office and laboratory facilities, office furnishings, laboratory equipment and vehicles. These 
constitute operating leases, as the contractual agreement does not transfer any risks or rewards to the Group. 
The conditions, rental increase clauses and renewal options of the lease agreements vary.  
 
The Group can terminate these lease agreements upon notice of one month to five years, depending on the 
contract.  
 
(44) Related parties 

The parties deemed to be related are entities and individuals who can be significantly influenced by the Company 
or can exert significant influence on the Company. Related parties are the Company’s Executive Management 
Board and Supervisory Board as well as Aettis, Inc. and the partner company SynCore. 
 
Dr. Frank Mathias, the former CEO of Medigene AG, and Peter Llewellyn-Davies, the former CFO of Medigene 
AG, were appointed onto the supervisory board of Catherex, Inc. until January 29, 2016. No transactions were 
conducted with Catherex Inc. before the two executives resigned from the supervisory board. 
 
At the end of the fiscal year, Medigene holds 38.21% (12/31/2015: 38.21%) of the shares in Aettis, Inc., Bala 
Cynwyd, PA, USA, but commencing April 21, 2016 was no longer represented on the supervisory board. No 
transactions were conducted with Aettis, Inc. in fiscal year 2016.  
 
In the fiscal year, Medigene AG recognized revenue from R&D payments of €672 k arising from its partner 
arrangement with SynCore for EndoTAG® (2015: €1,123 k). For Veregen®, Medigene AG received revenue from 
product sales of €112 k (2015: €0 k). The Group reports a receivable of €3,493 k from SynCore as at 
December 31, 2016 (12/31/2015: €0 k) consisting of a non-current portion of €2,493 k and a current portion of 
€1,000 k. Yita Lee, Ph.D., Chief Scientific Officer at the Sinphar Group in Taiwan, was appointed onto the 
Supervisory Board of Medigene AG at the Annual General Meeting in 2013 and reelected in 2016 until 2019. As at 
October 17, 2016 SynCore held 2.9% of the voting rights of Medigene AG.  
 
In the course of a capital increase for a contribution in kind carried out in May 2016, DJSMontana Holding GmbH 
(“DJSMontana”) subscribed 236,119 of the total number of 392,875 shares issued. Of this amount 200,370 
shares can be allocated to Prof. Schendel. Prof. Dolores Schendel is a member of the Executive Management 
Board and also the sole general manager of DJSMontana. As at December 31, 2016, DJSMontana held 4.2% of 
the shares in Medigene AG. In addition, BioM AG, Munich Biotech Development (“BioM”) held 78,182 shares. Prof. 
Horst Domdey is Chairman of the Supervisory Board of the Company and also on the management board of BioM. 
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The remuneration and shareholdings of the Company’s Executive Management Board and Supervisory Board 
members are itemized for each member of these boards under ≥ F) “Executive Management Board and 
Supervisory Board” notes (49) and (50) .  
 
(45) Objectives and methods of financial risk management 

The main financial liabilities are trade accounts payable, other financial liabilities, finance lease liabilities and 
loans. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s operations and to support its 
business. The Group has various financial assets, trade accounts receivable as well as cash and cash equivalents 
and time deposits. 
 
Through its business activities, the Group is exposed to various financial risks: market risks, credit risks and 
liquidity risks.  
 
Below is a description of the financial risk factors and the associated financial risk management of the Group. 
Management does not consider the financial risks to the following items to be significant. 
 
Market risks 

Interest rate risk  
Fluctuations in market interest rates impact the cash flows relating to variable interest-bearing financial assets 
and liabilities or their fair values. Medigene’s management has deliberately decided not to carry out transactions 
aimed at hedging interest-based cash flows because short-term availability for financing operations is a priority 
when investing cash. As at December 31, 2016 the Group held no other significant variable interest-bearing 
financial instruments and is therefore not exposed to any interest rate risks. 
 

 
Foreign currency risk  

Foreign currency risks arise when future business transactions and financial assets and liabilities reported in the 
balance sheet are denominated in a currency other than the Company’s functional currency. The Group operates 
internationally and is therefore exposed to foreign currency risks based on exchange rate fluctuations between 
the US dollar, pound sterling and euro.  
 
The shares in Immunocore Ltd., which are classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are held in pound 
sterling.  
 
The foreign currency risk mainly relates to revenue generated in US dollars from Veregen® sales and, in the 
previous year, milestone payments received for EndoTAG® from partner companies. In addition, the cost of 
purchasing the active pharmaceutical ingredient in Veregen® as well as the license payments to licensors 
associated with sales of this product depend on the exchange rates of foreign currencies. Of the total revenue 
earned by the Group during the fiscal year, 40% is generated in US dollars. In total, 70% of procurement costs in 
the fiscal year were incurred in US dollars. The Group reduces the foreign currency risks resulting from its 
subsidiary’s operating activities by utilizing the proceeds in US dollars generated from products marketed to 
finance the purchase of goods and other activities by the US subsidiary.  
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The table below shows the sensitivity of the Group’s earnings before tax and of shareholders’ equity to exchange 
rate fluctuations of the euro against the US dollar and the pound sterling. All other variables in this presentation 
remain constant.  
 
SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS OF FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (US$)1)

  EXCHANGE RATE 
DEVELOPMENT OF US$ 

EFFECTS ON EARNINGS 
BEFORE TAX 

 IN € K 

EFFECTS ON 
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

IN € K 
2016 +5% 57 57 

 -5% -49 -49 

2015 +5% 69 69 

 -5% -59 -59 
1) Related to the closing exchange rate as at 12/31 in each case 
SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS OF FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (£)1)

  EXCHANGE RATE 
DEVELOPMENT OF £ 

EFFECTS ON EARNINGS 
BEFORE TAX 

 IN € K 

EFFECTS ON 
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

IN € K 
2016 +5% 0 270 

 -5% 0 -299 

2015 +5% 0 611 

 -5% 0 -675 
1) Related to the closing exchange rate as at 12/31 in each case 

 
Securities-related market risk  
The Group is exposed to the usual market fluctuations relating to listed securities for funding pension 
obligations ≥ note (39), the effect of which is not considered to be significant.  
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer 
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily for 
trade accounts receivable) and from its investing activities (deposits at banks and financial other assets). 
There is no significant risk concentration of potential credit risks within the Group. Two business relationships 
exist with major customers, Fougera Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 100 College Road West, Princeton, New York, USA (for 
Veregen®) and SynCore. The creditworthiness of the customers is monitored on the basis of regular interviews and 
publicly available management reports and consolidated financial statements.  
 
With regard to the Group’s financial assets, such as cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and financial other 
assets, the maximum credit risk in the event of default by the counterparty is the carrying amount of these 
instruments ≥ note (36) and ≥ note (37). 
 
Liquidity risk 

Since Medigene AG was founded in 1994, the Company has reported operating losses in almost every fiscal year, 
as expenses for research and development in the relevant years exceeded the corresponding revenue or gross 
profit. The future achievement of profitability depends on progress in terms of operations as well as the 
Company’s strategic decisions and is not yet secured. 
 
The ability to raise additional funds depends on financial, economic and other factors which, in the majority of 
cases, cannot be influenced by management. These factors also include the results achieved as part of Medigene’s 
research and development activities. Medigene may not always have sufficient funds under acceptable terms and 
conditions at its disposal when required. Should this be the case, Medigene may need to reduce its spending on 
research and development, production or administration. The Executive Management Board currently believes 
that these additional funds can be raised in due time. Possible sources of such funds may be additional partner  
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arrangements with biotech/pharmaceutical companies or capital measures. Medigene currently has a strong 
liquidity base on account of the capital increase against cash contribution conducted in 2015 and the partnership 
entered into with bluebird in 2016 that involved payment of US$15 m.  
 
As at December 31, 2016, the Group’s financial liabilities had the terms to maturity as shown below. With the 
exception of the non-cash financial liabilities to Cowen, all information is given based on contractual 
undiscounted payments. 
 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

 IN € K MATURITY 

 UP TO 30 
DAYS 

30-90 DAYS 3-12 
MONTHS 

1-5 YEARS >5 YEARS TOTAL 

Balance as at 12/31/2016       
Finance lease liabilities 0 0 241 357 0 598 

Trade accounts payable  973 0 0 0 0 973 

Financial liabilities to Cowen ≥ note (4) 0 0 1,494 9,417 0 10,911 
Liabilities to former 
shareholders of Medigene 
Immunotherapies ≥ note (41) 

0 0 2,000 0 0 2,000 

Other financial liabilities 1,212 2,896 179 446 0 4,733 

Total 2,185 2,896 3,914 10,220 0 19,215 

Balance as at 12/31/2015       

Finance lease liabilities 0 0 241 598 0 839 

Trade accounts payable  1,354 0 0 0 0 1,354 

Financial liabilities to Cowen ≥ note (4) 0 0 1,326 7,214 3,391 11,931 
Liabilities to former 
shareholders of Medigene 
Immunotherapies ≥ note (41) 

0 5,175 0 0 0 5,175 

Other financial liabilities 856 1,037 156 436 0 2,485 

Total 2,210 6,212 1,723 8,248 3,391 21,784 

 
Capital management  

The primary objective of Medigene’s management is to secure sufficient liquidity to finance ongoing research and 
development programs. The most important performance indicators for understanding the situation of the Group, 
aside from the absolute amount of cash and cash equivalents and any short-term bank deposits, are the liquidity, 
the ratio of cash and cash equivalents to total assets and the equity ratio.  
 
ASSET AND GEARING INDICATORS 
IN %  12/31/2016 

 
12/31/2015 

 

Cash to total assets ratio  
Cash and cash equivalents and 

time deposits x 100 47 41 
 Total assets 

Equity ratio 
Shareholders’ equity x 100 

70 79 Total shareholders’ equity and 
liabilities 

 
The cash inflow arising from the sale of shares in Immunocore and the non-recurring payment from bluebird 
resulted in the liquidity ratio rising to 47% as at December 31, 2016 (12/31/2015: 41%) and the equity ratio 
decreasing to 70% as the non-recurring upfront payment is not realized immediately, but over a period of 
45 months (12/31/2015: 79%).  
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(46) Other financial assets and liabilities including hierarchy of fair values 

The table below indicates the carrying amounts and fair values of all financial instruments recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2016: 
 
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

 IN € K CARRYING AMOUNT FAIR  
VALUE 

 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 

Financial assets and liabilities measured  
at fair value     

Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits ≥ note (37) 52,630 46,759 52,630 46,759 
Securities for funding pension obligations ≥ note (34) 196 194 196 194 
Shares in Immunocore Ltd.  ≥  note (34) 5,675 12,820 5,675 12,820 
Financial liabilities     
Liability for the payment of future milestones to the former 
shareholders of Medigene Immunotherapies	  ≥	  note	  (41) 1,426 4,512 1,426 4,512 

Financial assets and liabilities recognized at fair value     
Financial assets     
Trade accounts receivable and financial  other 
assets ≥  note (36) 5,194 5,588 5,194 5,588 

Financial liabilities     
Financial liabilities to Cowen ≥ note (4) 10,911 11,931 10,911 11,931 
Finance lease liabilities  549 744 549 744 
Trade accounts payable ≥ note (41) 973 1,354 973 1,354 
Other financial liabilities ≥ note (41) 4,721 2,466 4,721 2,466 

 
Hierarchy of fair values 
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 
valuation technique: 
 
Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices on active markets for identical assets or liabilities  
 
Level 2: Valuation techniques for which all the input parameters that are significant to fair value measurement are 
directly or indirectly observable 
 
Level 3: Valuation techniques that use input parameters that are significant to fair value measurement and are 
not based on observable data 
 
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents and time deposits as well as trade accounts receivable and payable, 
financial other assets and current other financial liabilities approximate their nominal values because of their 
short terms to maturity. 
 
Level 1 includes the securities for funding pension obligations reported under available-for-sale financial 
assets, which are valued at the stock exchange price as at the reporting date. Shares in Immunocore Ltd., which 
are also allocated to available-for-sale financial assets, are classified to level 3 of the hierarchy. Their fair value 
as at December 31, 2016 was estimated on the basis of the price paid for the shares sold by Medigene in the 
second quarter of 2016 ≥ note (34). Level 3 also includes the liability for the payment of future milestones 
to the former shareholders of Medigene Immunotherapies ≥ note (41), the fair value of which is determined 
using the discounted cash flow method on the basis of observable market data and unobservable inputs. This  
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involved weighting the contractual consideration of €2,000 k as at December 31, 2016 (12/31/2015: 
€5,175 k) with the industry-specific probability of reaching certain development milestones and discounting it 
using a cost of capital rate of 10.65% after considering a risk-free interest rate, market risk premium, beta factor 
from a peer group, a corresponding tax rate and the risk of non-performance of Medigene. 
The fair values of the financial liabilities to Cowen, finance lease liabilities and non-current other financial 
liabilities are allocated to level 3. The fair value of the financial liabilities to Cowen is determined on the basis of 
the estimated future royalty income.  

E) SEGMENT REPORTING 
The Group is made up of two main business units, “Immunotherapies” (core business) and “Other products” 
(non-core business). The segments break down as follows: 
 
Immunotherapies (core business) 

→ T-cell receptor-based adoptive T-cell therapy (TCRs)  
→ DC vaccines (DCs) 
→ T-cell-specific monoclonal antibodies (TABs)  
 
Other products (non-core business) 

→	  Veregen® for the treatment of genital warts  
→	  EndoTAG®-1 for the treatment of solid tumors  
→	  RhuDex® for the treatment of autoimmune diseases  
 
The revenue of the individual segments is generated in external business relationships.  
 
Transfer prices between the business units and regions are determined on the basis of arm’s length conditions.  
The general administrative expenses are allocated to the individual segments using specific allocation keys which 
reflect current business activities. 
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IN € K IMMUNO-
THERAPIES 

OTHER 
PRODUCTS 
(NON-CORE 
BUSINESS) 

TOTAL 
BUSINESS 

SEGMENTS 

RECONCILIATIO
N1) 

TOTAL 

2016      
Revenue   1,053 3,048 4,101 0 4,101 

Other operating income  0 3,087 3,087 2,561 5,648 

Total revenue   1,053 6,135 7,188 2,561 9,749 

       
Segment operating result  -14,490 -1,174 -15,664 2,448 -13,216 

       
Other notes:       
Depreciation and amortization   -690 -16 -706 -1393) -845 

Segment investments2)  -1,088 0 -1,088 -6353) -1,723 
Headcount at the end of the year (without 
Executive Management Board) 

 
56 7 63 25 88 

       
2015       
Revenue   0 3,101 3,101 0 3,101 

Other operating income  12 1,184 1,196 2,511 3,707 

Total revenue   12 4,285 4,297 2,511 6,808 

       
Segment operating result  -9,337 -3,422 -12,759 2,320 -10,439 

       
Other notes:       
Depreciation and amortization   -275 -482 -757 -1873) -944 

Segment investments2)  -1,485 0 -1,485 -4853) -1,970 
Headcount at the end of the year (without 
Executive Management Board) 

 
28 18 46 27 73 

1) “Reconciliation” includes information that cannot be allocated to any of the segments, as it does not constitute any activity. 
2) Segment investments relate to additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. 
3) Depreciation and amortization as well as segment investments contained in the “Reconciliation” column have not been allocated to segments. 

 
Geographic or regional segments 

The Group operates mainly in Europe and the US.  
 
REVENUE 
IN € K 2016 2015 

United States 2,731 2,247 
Europe 1,266 854 
Other 104 0 
Total 4,101 3,101 

 
Information about segment revenue is based on the customer locations.  
 
The majority of non-current assets are held in Germany.  
 
(47) German Corporate Governance Code 

Medigene AG’s Executive Management Board and Supervisory Board confirmed in their declaration of conformity 
pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) of December 13, 2016 that Medigene AG 
complies with the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code in the versions dated May 5, 
2015, with the exceptions mentioned in the declaration of conformity. The recommendations of the Code which 
Medigene AG does not implement are explained and justified in the declaration of conformity.  
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This declaration is available in English and German on the Medigene AG website at 
http://www.medigene.com/investors-media/corporate-governance/declaration-on-corporate-governance. The 
declarations of conformity of Medigene AG are available on the website of the Company for at least five years. 
 
(48) Audit fees 

The auditors of the Company and the Group received the following fees for the past fiscal year: 
 
AUDIT FEES 
IN € K 2016 2015* 

Audit services 142 150 
Other assurance services 90 11 
Other services  26 334 
Total 258 495 
* Prior-year figures have been adjusted accordingly.  

F) EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD AND SUPERVISORY 
BOARD 
(49) Executive Management Board 

Remuneration of the Executive Management Board and report on the remuneration system for 
members of the Executive Management Board of Medigene AG 
The full Supervisory Board is responsible for setting the remuneration of Medigene AG’s Executive Management 
Board members. It is regularly reviewed, taking into account the regulations relating to the Supervisory Board 
pursuant to Section 87 (1) and (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and the recommendations of the 
German Corporate Governance Code. 
With regard to the Act on Appropriate Executive Board Remuneration (VorstAG) coming into force, the 
Supervisory Board passed a resolution on August 5, 2009 to make adjustments for the first time. In accordance 
with this, the Annual General Meeting on May 11, 2010 approved a system for remuneration of the Executive 
Management Board pursuant to No. 2.2.1 (2) of the German Corporate Governance Code. Six years later, the 
Executive Management Board and Supervisory Board presented an adjusted system of Executive Management 
Board remuneration to the Annual General Meeting on August 11, 2016 as Point 8 of the agenda, which is now in 
force. It was adopted by a majority of 94% of the share capital represented. The remuneration system has been 
implemented in all current employment contracts for Executive Management Board members as described below: 
 
The amount and structure of the remuneration of Executive Management Board members depend on the 
respective responsibilities of each Executive Management Board member, the Company’s economic and financial 
position and the sustained growth of the Company as well as common practice regarding remuneration, taking 
into account the amount and structure of the remuneration which is paid to others by the Company and that is 
paid in similar companies. In addition, remuneration is based on the individual performance of Executive 
Management Board members as well as the achievements of the Executive Management Board as a whole. 
Remuneration is designed as an incentive for achieving sustainable corporate growth and a sustained increase in 
business value. 
 
Total remuneration comprises fixed and variable components as well as other benefits, as described below: 
 
a) Fixed remuneration 
Each member of the Executive Management Board receives fixed remuneration, which is not performance-related 
and is paid in monthly installments. The amount of the fixed remuneration is determined on the basis of the 
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principles described above. In his function as Director of Medigene Inc., Dave Lemus also received a signing fee 
for his appointment to the Executive Management Board. 
 
b) Variable remuneration 
1) Annual performance-related remuneration  
In addition to fixed remuneration, Executive Management Board members are entitled to variable remuneration, 
which is dependent on the achievement of several targets specified by the Supervisory Board in advance. The 
annual performance-related remuneration amounts to 50% of fixed remuneration in the event of 100% target 
achievement and may be a maximum of 75% of fixed remuneration. 
 
(1) Setting of targets 
The Supervisory Board sets annual targets, both comprehensively for all Executive Management Board members 
and, in addition, separately for each member of the Executive Management Board. The targets are weighted by 
the Supervisory Board. 
 
(2) Establishing the amount of annual performance-related remuneration 
The individual targets set by the Supervisory Board are allocated to one of three possible target achievement 
scenarios: low case, base case and best case.  
→ The low case scenario corresponds to 50% target achievement, the base case to 100% and the best case to 

150%. 
→ In the event that target achievement is below the low case threshold, no variable remuneration is paid. If 

target achievement is in the range between the low case and base case and the base case and best case, 
variable remuneration increases on a straight-line basis according to target achievement. Target 
achievement which surpasses the best case is not reflected in terms of higher remuneration. To this extent, 
variable remuneration is capped.  

→ The amount of the annual performance-related remuneration is calculated on the basis of target achievement 
in relation to the specific targets, taking into account the weighting of the relevant target. 

 
(3) Short-term and long-term components of annual performance-related remuneration 
→ 65% of the annual performance-related payment granted is paid after the Company’s financial statements 

for the relevant fiscal year have been adopted. Payment of the remaining 35% of the annual performance-
related remuneration granted in a specific fiscal year is deferred for a period of three years.  

→ At the end of this three-year period, the Supervisory Board decides whether and to what extent sustained 
corporate growth can be affirmed. Based on this decision, the Supervisory Board resolves whether and to 
what extent the remaining 35% of the relevant annual performance-based remuneration will be paid to the 
respective Executive Management Board member with appropriate interest. 

→ The Supervisory Board’s decision regarding sustained corporate growth is primarily based on the long-term 
trend in business value and, therefore, also the share price of the Company’s shares. The members of the 
Executive Management Board thus participate in the Company’s long-term growth on the basis of this 
remuneration component, and they also share in any negative developments. 

 
2) Stock options 
→ In addition, Executive Management Board members are granted stock options on the basis of the respective 

Company’s stock option program in force on the date of issue. Stock options represent another long-term 
remuneration component. They are aimed at providing a performance incentive which is geared to 
sustainable long-term corporate growth.  

→ Stock options are initially granted to each Executive Management Board member within the first year of their 
joining the Company. After that, the members of the Executive Management Board receive additional stock 
options each year which are either issued in one tranche or in several tranches.  

→ The exercise price corresponds to the average closing price of the last 30 trading days prior to the issue of 
the stock options (date of allotment).  
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→ Executive Management Board members may exercise their stock options at the earliest after a vesting 
period of four years, starting from the date of allotment of the relevant subscription right. Moreover, they 
may only be exercised if the average share price over the 30 trading days prior to the respective exercise 
date is at least 120% of the exercise price (performance target). The options have a contractual term of ten 
years. 

→ The members of the Executive Management Board receive an individually determined number of stock 
options each year, but not more than 40,000 each. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board of the Company can 
issue individual members of the Executive Management Board up to 20,000 extra stock options per annum as 
a special reward for personal performance.  
 

c) Other benefits 
In addition to the above-mentioned remuneration components, members of the Executive Management Board are 
granted additional benefits, in particular 
→ a company car, 
→ reimbursement of business travel expenses, 
→ accident insurance coverage and payment of the relevant insurance premiums, 
→ D&O insurance with a deductible according to the statutory minimum amount and 
→ Payment of an amount of up to €2,000.00 per month to be contributed to a pension fund. Should a member of 

the Executive Management Board not want a company car within the framework of their other benefits, the 
monthly contribution to the pension fund can be increased by an additional €1,000.00. 

 
The proportional structure of annual performance-related remuneration with a three-year sustainability 
component and the terms of stock options with a four-year vesting period prior to exercising the stock options 
create a significant incentive to achieve sustained corporate growth, ensuring a balanced mix of short-term and 
long-term remuneration components. 
 
d) Severance payments upon termination due to a change of control 
In the event of a change in control, the service agreements made with the members of the Executive Management 
Board contain certain criteria for special termination by either the Company or the respective member (see (e) 
below). A change of control in the sense of the service agreements is when at least 30% of the shares in the 
Company equipped with voting rights are acquired directly or indirectly by a third party. If a service agreement 
with a member of the Executive Management Board is terminated due to a change of control and exercise of the 
right to special termination, the respective member has a right to a severance payment. This severance payment 
may exceed neither the sum of three times the total annual remuneration plus the average annual bonus agreed at 
the time of the termination of the service agreement, nor 1.5 times the remuneration anticipated for the 
remaining term of the service agreement. More over the severance payment is subject to an individually agreed 
cap. 
 
e) Special termination rights in the event of a change in control 
The service agreements for Executive Management Board members Prof. Dolores Schendel and David Lemus and 
for Dr. Frank Mathias, Peter Llewellyn-Davies, who left the Company effective March 31, 2016, as well as 
Dr. Thomas Taapken, who was appointed onto the Executive Management Board on January 1, 2017, include 
special termination rights for both the Company and the Executive Management Board members in the event of a 
change in control.  
 
Details on the separate service agreements made with Dr. Frank Mathias and Mr. Peter Llewellyn-Davies are not 
presented below as they left the Executive Management Board on March 31, 2016. 
 
Within the meaning of the contractual agreement valid for the current Executive Management Board members 
Prof. Schendel, Mr. Dave Lemus and Dr. Thomas Taapken a change of control is deemed to have occurred in the 
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event of a direct or indirect purchase of company shares by a third party, which results in the third party holding at 
least 30% of the Company’s voting rights, either directly or indirectly, within the meaning of Section 30 of the 
German Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act (WpÜG). 
 
In the event of a change in control, the Company has a special termination right due to a triggering event for a 
period of one year following the date of the change in control in each case. 
 
The Executive Management Board members each have a special termination right based on a triggering event for 
a period of one year after the date of the change in control if this change results in an unacceptable shift in the 
previous duties and responsibilities of the relevant Executive Management Board member (budget, number of 
employees supervised and their role on the Board), or if the Company informs him/her that his/her appointment 
as Executive Management Board member will not be renewed and denial of such renewal is not based on 
significant cause for which he/she bears responsibility justifying extraordinary termination of the relevant 
Executive Management Board member’s service agreement. 
 
→ If a service agreement with a member of the Executive Management Board is terminated due to a change of 

control and exercise of the right to special termination, the respective member is entitled to: 
o Payment of a severance payment equal to the gross remuneration (fixed component) until the 

regular end of the service agreement 
o a pro rata temporis share of the gross bonus (excluding stock options) until the regular end of the 

service agreement based on the average annual bonus over a maximum period of the last three years 
prior to the end of the service agreement and 

o a severance payment of 2.5 times the annual remuneration (fixed component and annual average 
bonus, excluding stock options). 

 
Severance cap: The severance payment may exceed neither: 
 

o three times the sum of the annual remuneration and average annual bonus agreed at the time of the 
termination of the service agreement, nor 

o one and a half times the remuneration agreed on in the service agreement for the residual term of 
the agreement, nor 

o a cap of €450,000 in the case of Prof. Dolores Schendel 
o a cap of €414,000 in the case of Dave Lemus 
o a cap of €396,000 in the case of Dr. Thomas Taapken. 

 
In the event that a member of the Executive Management Board exercises the special right to termination, 
they are entitled to: 
 

o a severance payment equivalent to three times the gross monthly sum for every completed year of 
membership on the Company’s Executive Management Board. The gross monthly amount comprises 
one twelfth of the current gross remuneration at the time of termination and one twelfth of the 
average annual bonus, 

o at least six gross monthly amounts (lower limit). 
 
Severance cap: The severance payment may exceed neither: 
 

o the sum of 36 gross monthly salaries nor 
o 1.5 times the remuneration agreed on in the service agreement for the residual term of the 

agreement. 
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f) Summary of severance payments for members of the Executive Management Board due to the exercise of a 
special right of termination (change of control)  

 
SUMMARY OF SEVERANCE PAYMENTS DUE TO THE EXERCISE OF A SPECIAL RIGHT OF TERMINATION 
EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT 
BOARD 

TERMINATED BY: RIGHT TO A SEVERANCE PAYMENT OF CAPS 
(SMALLEST CAP APPLIES) 

Prof. Dr. Dolores Schendel, 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

Company Gross remuneration (fixed component) until 
the regular end of the agreement 
 
Pro rata share of bonus (excluding stock 
options) until the regular end of the 
agreement, and 
 
2.5 times the annual remuneration (excluding 
stock options) 
 

3.0 times the annual remuneration 
(fixed remuneration plus bonus) 
 
1.5 times the remuneration over the 
remaining term of the agreement 
 
€450,000 (cap) 

 Executive 
Management Board 
 

3.0 times the annual remuneration (fixed 
remuneration plus bonus) for each full year of 
service 
 
At least 6 gross monthly amounts (lower limit) 
 

36 gross monthly salaries (fixed 
remuneration and bonus)  
 
1.5 times the remuneration over the 
remaining term of the agreement 

Dave Lemus, 
Member of the Executive 
Management Board 
 

Company Gross remuneration (fixed component) until 
the regular end of the agreement 
 
Pro rata share of bonus (excluding stock 
options) until the regular end of the 
agreement, and 
 
2.5 times the annual remuneration (excluding 
stock options) 
 

3.0 times the annual remuneration 
(fixed remuneration plus bonus) 
 
1.5 times the remuneration over the 
remaining term of the agreement 
 
€414,000 (cap) 

 Executive 
Management Board 
 

3.0 times the annual remuneration (fixed 
remuneration plus bonus) for each full year of 
service 
 
At least 6 gross monthly amounts (lower limit) 
 

36 gross monthly salaries (fixed 
remuneration and bonus)  
 
1.5 times the remuneration over the 
remaining term of the agreement  
 

Dr. Thomas Taapken 
Chief Financial Officer 
 

Company Gross remuneration (fixed component) until 
the regular end of the agreement 
 
Pro rata share of bonus (excluding stock 
options) until the regular end of the 
agreement, and 
 
2.5 times the annual remuneration (excluding 
stock options) 
 

3.0 times the annual remuneration 
(fixed remuneration plus bonus) 
 
1.5 times the remuneration over the 
remaining term of the agreement 
 
€396,000 (cap) 

 Executive 
Management Board 

3.0 times the annual remuneration (fixed 
remuneration plus bonus) for each full year of 
service 
 
At least 6 gross monthly amounts (lower limit) 
 

36 gross monthly salaries (fixed 
remuneration and bonus)  
 
1.5 times the remuneration over the 
remaining term of the agreement  
 

 
The following table presents the benefits contained in the remuneration of the members of the Executive 
Management Board, which amounted to €1,743 k in the 2016 fiscal year (2015: €1,692 k). 
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REMUNERATION OF THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD – BENEFITS GRANTED 

IN € K PROF. DOLORES J. 
SCHENDEL 

DAVE LEMUS DR. FRANK 
MATHIAS 

PETER LLEWELLYN-
DAVIES 

  MEMBER OF THE 
EXECUTIVE 

MANAGEMENT 
BOARD 

MEMBER OF THE 
EXECUTIVE 

MANAGEMENT 
BOARD 

MEMBER OF THE 
EXECUTIVE 

MANAGEMENT 
BOARD 

 since 5/1/2014 since 1/1/2016 until 3/31/2016 until 3/31/2016 
 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 
Fixed remuneration 331 297 3181) 0 88 350 227 2) 286 
Fringe benefit3) 0 0 20 0 11 44 28 37 
Total 331 297 338 0 99 394 255 323 
Variable performance-based components4) 160 177 158 0 47 220 59 184 
Total 491 474 496 0 146 614 314 507 
Variable components in the form of stock options         

Number of stock options in the year 20,000 7,500 40,000 0  10,000  10,000 
Fair value 108 27 188 0  35  35 

Total 599 501 684 0 146 649 314 542 
1) Including a non-recurring payment of €25 k 
2) Due to the resignation effective 3/31/2016 the salary components payable until the termination of his contract on 9/30/2016 were likewise already considered in the 
fixed remuneration on 3/31/2016.  
3) Fringe benefits include pension expenses amounting to €44 k (2015: €48 k), and vehicle leasing amounting to €15 k (2015: €33 k) for the members of the Executive 
Management Board. 
4) Including an annual bonus on the basis of the accruals for 2015/2016 (without discounting) and a 100% payout based upon an estimated target achievement of 108% 
in 2016 and 112.5% in 2015 as well as a one-off bonus for the capital increase of €23 k for each member of the Executive Management Board in 2015.  

 
The following table presents the remuneration paid to the members of the Executive Management Board, which 
amounted to €1,460 k in the 2016 fiscal year (2015: €1,378 k). 
 
REMUNERATION OF THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD – PAYMENTS MADE 

IN € K PROF. DOLORES J. 
SCHENDEL 

DAVE LEMUS DR. FRANK MATHIAS PETER LLEWELLYN-
DAVIES 

ARNDT CHRIST 

 CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER 

MEMBER OF THE 
EXECUTIVE 

MANAGEMENT 
BOARD 

MEMBER OF THE 
EXECUTIVE 

MANAGEMENT 
BOARD 

MEMBER OF THE 
EXECUTIVE 

MANAGEMENT 
BOARD 

MEMBER OF THE 
EXECUTIVE 

MANAGEMENT 
BOARD 

 SINCE 5/1/2014 SINCE 1/1/2016 UNTIL 3/31/2016 UNTIL 3/31/2016 UNTIL 9/19/2012 
 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 
Fixed remuneration 331 297 3181) 0 88 350 2272) 286 0 0 
Fringe benefit3) 0 0 20 0 11 44 28 37 0 0 
Total 331 297 338 0 99 394 255 323 0 0 
Variable performance-based 
component           

thereof for 2016 0 0 0 0 0  23  0 0 
thereof for 20154) 94 23 0 0 121 23 99 23 0 0 
thereof for 20144) 0 55 0 0 0 108 0 84 0 0 
thereof for 20125) 0 0 0 0 52  12  36 0 
thereof for 20115) 0 0 0 0 0 48 0 0 0 0 

Total 94 78 0 0 173 179 134 107 36 0 

Total remuneration paid out 425 375 338 0 272 573 389 430 36 0 
1)Including a non-recurring payment of €25 k 
2) Due to the resignation effective 3/31/2016 the salary components payable until the termination of his contract on 9/30/2016 were already considered in the fixed 
remuneration on 3/31/2016.  
3) Fringe benefits include pension expenses and vehicle leasing for the members of the Executive Management Board. 
4) Corresponds to 65% of the variable components of the respective previous year 
5) Corresponds to 35% of the variable components in 2012/2011 plus interest 
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In fiscal year 2016, Medigene made a payment of €3 k (2015: €6 k) to the Company’s welfare fund in connection 
with a pension commitment to a former member of the Executive Management Board. 
 
Prof. Schendel assumed the role of Chief Executive Officer on February 1, 2016, replacing Dr. Frank Mathias. 
Dr. Mathias and Mr. Peter Llewellyn-Davies left the Company as at March 31, 2016. As at December 31, 2016 
the Executive Management Board had two members, namely Prof. Dolores Schendel and Dave Lemus. 
In November 2016, the Supervisory Board appointed Dr. Thomas Taapken to the position of Chief Financial 
Officer for a period of two years effective January 1, 2017.  
 
The members of the Executive Management Board additionally hold positions on the following 
supervisory boards and/or similar bodies: 

 
Prof. Dr. Dolores Schendel 
External positions 
Positions outside Germany: 
Aettis Inc., Bala Cynwyd, Pennsylvania, USA (4/1/2016-4/21/2016) 
 
Dave Lemus 
External positions 
Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: 
Proteros BioStructures GmbH, Planegg/Martinsried (Chairman) 
 
Positions outside Germany: 
Aettis Inc., Bala Cynwyd, Pennsylvania, USA (4/1/2016-4/21/2016) 
BioHealth Innovation Inc., Rockville, Maryland, USA 
 
Dr. Frank Mathias (Member of the Executive Management Board until March 31, 2016) 
External positions 
Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: 
→ Faller KG, Waldkirchen 
→ Mediatum AG, Heidelberg 
→ Rentschler Biotechnologie GmbH, Laupheim 
→ Leon Nanodrugs GmbH, Munich 
 
Positions outside Germany: 
→ Catherex, Inc., Bala Cynwyd, Pennsylvania, USA (until January 29, 2016) 
→ Aettis, Inc., Bala Cynwyd, Pennsylvania, USA (until 3/31/2016) 
 
Peter Llewellyn-Davies (Member of the Executive Management Board until 3/31/2016) 
Positions outside Germany: 
→ Catherex, Inc., Bala Cynwyd, Pennsylvania, USA (until January 29, 2016) 
→ Aettis, Inc., Bala Cynwyd, Pennsylvania, USA (until 3/31/2016) 
→ Shield Therapeutics plc., London, UK (since 2/26/2016) 

 
Dr. Thomas Taapken (Member of the Executive Management Board since 1/1/2017) 
External positions 
Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: 
→ Immunic AG, Planegg/Martinsried 
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(50) Supervisory Board 

Supervisory Board remuneration 
Supervisory Board remuneration amounted to €111 k in 2016 (2015: €105 k). The total remuneration paid to the 
members of the Supervisory Board comprises fixed remuneration as well as attendance fees. In addition, 
expenses are reimbursed. The greater scope of activities of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and his 
deputy are taken into account and accordingly reflected by higher remuneration. Details regarding the 
subscription rights of members of the Supervisory Board and Executive Management Board are provided in 
≥ note (51). No advances were paid to members of the Supervisory Board and Executive Management Board.  
 
SUPERVISORY BOARD REMUNERATION 2016 
SUPERVISORY BOARD MEMBERS FIXED REMUNERATION IN € K MEETING FEES IN € 

K 
 

Prof. Horst Domdey, Chairman, co-founder  28 16 
Dr. Yita Lee, Member  14 16 
Prof. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker, Member (until 8/11/2016) 12 8 
Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner (since 8/11/2016) 9 8 
Total 63 48 

 
Supervisory Board members of Medigene AG: 

The Supervisory Board of the Company currently has three members, the minimum number pursuant to Sec. 95 
Sentence 1 AktG. The Annual General Meeting on August 11, 2016 elected a new Supervisory Board for a term of 
three years. The new board consists of Prof. Horst Domdey (Chairman of the Supervisory Board), Ms. Antoinette 
Hiebeler-Hasner (Deputy Chair) and Dr. Yita Lee. While Prof. Domdey and Dr. Lee were already members of the 
Supervisory Board on August 11, 2016, Ms. Hiebeler-Hasner was elected as a new member. Prof. Ernst-Ludwig 
Winnacker resigned from the Supervisory Board at the close of the Annual General Meeting. 
 
Prof. Horst Domdey  
Managing director of BioM Biotech Cluster Management GmbH and member of the management board of BioM AG 
Munich Biotech Development, Munich  
External positions 
Positions outside Germany: 
→ Oasmia Pharmaceutical AB, Uppsala, Sweden (until 11/21/2016) 
 
Dr. Yita Lee 
Chief Scientific Officer of the Sinphar group, Taiwan 
External positions 
Positions outside Germany: 
→ Sinphar Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Yilan, Taiwan 
→ SynCore Biotechnology Co., Ltd., Yilan,Taiwan 
→ ZuniMed Biotech Co., Ltd., Yilan, Taiwan 
→ CanCap Pharmaceutical Ltd., Richmond, Canada 
 
Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner (Member of the Supervisory Board since 8/11/2016) 
Managing director of optegra GmbH & Co. KG Steuerberatungsgesellschaft und der optegra Treuhand GmbH, 
Cologne 
Managing director of optegra GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Cologne 
Managing director of Wilden Kaiser GmbH Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Cologne 
External positions 
Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: 
→ Grob Aircraft AG, Tussenhausen-Mattsies (Chairman) 
→ Ventuz Technology AG, Grünwald 
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Prof. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker (Member of the Supervisory Board until August 11, 2016) 
External positions 
Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: 
→ Wacker AG, Munich 
→ Bayer AG, Leverkusen (until 4/30/2016) 
 
(51) Directors’ holdings and notes on subscription rights 

DIRECTORS’ HOLDINGS AND NOTES ON SUBSCRIPTION RIGHTS 
 NUMBER OF SHARES/OPTIONS SHARES OPTIONS 

 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 

Prof. Horst Domdey, Chairman, co-founder  39,125 39,125 0 0 
Yita Lee, Ph.D., Member  0 0 0 0 
Prof. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker  
Ordinary member (from 1/5/2016 until 8/11/2016) 2) 55,919 55,919 0 0 
Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner (since 8/11/2016) 0 0 0 0 
Total Supervisory Board 95,044 95,044 0 0 
Prof. Dolores J. Schendel Chief Scientific Officer4 )  843,262 651,5935) 32,500 12,500 
Dave Lemus 
Deputy Chairman (until 12/28/2015)1 ) 0 0 40,000 0 
Total Executive Management Board 843,262 651,593 72,500 12,500 
Dr. Frank Mathias, Chief Executive Officer3 )6 ) - 2,697 - 69,214 
Peter Llewellyn-Davies, Chief Financial Officer 6 ) - 5,000 - 28,813 

1) Dave Lemus was appointed member of the Executive Management Board effective 1/1/2016 (previously Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board until 12/28/2015). 
2) Prof. Winnacker was appointed member of the Supervisory Board by ruling of the courts dated 1/5/2016 to fill Dave Lemus’ position. 
3) Chief Executive Officer until 1/31/2016 
4) From 2/1/2016 Chief Executive Officer and Chief Scientific Officer 
5) As at 12/31/2016, Prof. Schendel indirectly holds 843,262 Medigene shares in her capacity as Managing Director of DJSMontana Holding GmbH. Of this total, 753,303 
Medigene shares can be allocated to Prof. Schendel directly. 
6) Both stepped down from the Executive Management Board as at 3/31/2016.               

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD 
Planegg/Martinsried,  March 21,  2017 
Medigene AG 
 
 
Prof. Dolores J. Schendel 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO/CSO) 
 
 
Dr. Thomas Taapken 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 
 
 
Dave Lemus 
Chief Operating Officer (COO)  
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OF MEDIGENE AG FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 

 
IN € K COST 

 1/1/2016 CHANGE IN 
CONSOLIDATED 

GROUP 

EXCHANGE 
DIFFERENCES 

 

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 12/31/2016 

Property, plant and equipment 9,328 0 3 1,615 -1,469 9,477 

thereof finance leases 821 0 0 0 0 821 

       

Intangible assets 33,670 0 0 108 0 33,778 

thereof RhuDex® 23,750 0 0 0 0 23,750 

thereof Medigene Immunotherapies   9,692 0 0 0 0 9,692 

thereof other 228 0 0 108 0 336 

       

Goodwill 3,141 0 0 0 0 3,141 

       

Total 46,139 0 3 1,723 -1,469 46,396 

       

	  
	  
IN € K COST 

 1/1/2015 CHANGE IN 
CONSOLIDATED 

GROUP 

EXCHANGE 
DIFFERENCES 

 

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 12/31/2015 

Property, plant and equipment 7,468 0 9 1,970 -119 9,328 

thereof finance leases 0 0 0 821 0 821 

       

Intangible assets 40,904 0 0 0 -7,234 33,670 

thereof RhuDex® 23,750 0 0 0 0 23,750 

thereof EndoTAG®-1 7,131 0 0 0 -7,131 0 

thereof Medigene 
Immunotherapies 9,692 0 0 0 0 9,692 

thereof other 331 0 0 0 -103 228 

       

Goodwill 3,141 0 0 0 0 3,141 

       

Total 51,513 0 9 1,970 -7,353 46,139 
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ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION NET CARRYING AMOUNT 

1/1/2016 EXCHANGE 
DIFFERENCES 

 

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 12/31/2016 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 

6,826 3 791 -1,466 6,154 3,323 2,502 
129 0 204 0 333 488 692 

       
169 0 54 0 223 33,555 33,501 

0 0 0 0 0 23,750 23,750 

0 0 0 0 0 9,692 9,692 

169 0 54 0 223 113 59 

       
929 0 0 0 929 2,212 2,212 

       

7,924 3 845 -1,466 7,306 39,090 38,215 

       

	  
	  

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION NET CARRYING AMOUNT 
1/1/2015 EXCHANGE 

DIFFERENCES 
 

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 12/31/2015 12/31/2015 12/31/2014 

6,517 10 418 -119 6,826 2,502 951 
0 0 129 0 129 692 0 

       
4,739 0 526 -5,096 169 33,501 36,165 

0 0 0 0 0 23,750 23,750 

4,606 0 446 -5,052 0 0 2,525 

0 0 0 0 0 9,692 9,692 

133 0 80 -44 169 59 198 

       
929 0 0 0 929 2,212 2,212 

       
12,185 10 944 -5,215 7,924 38,215 39,328 
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We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried, compris-
ing the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 
balance sheet, the consolidated statement of cash flows, the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ 
equity, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, together with the group management’s discussion 
and analysis for the fiscal year from January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016. The preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements and the group management’s discussion and analysis in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 
the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec.	  315a	  (1)	  HGB [“Han-
delsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code] is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibil-
ity is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the group management’s discussion and 
analysis based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Sec.	  317 HGB and German 
generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and per-
form the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial 
reporting framework and in the group management’s discussion and analysis are detected with reasonable assur-
ance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the Group and expectations 
as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness 
of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements and the group management’s discussion and analysis are examined primarily on a test basis 
within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those entities 
included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consol-
idation principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presen-
tation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management’s discussion and analysis. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
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Our audit has not led to any reservations. 
 
In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with IFRSs as 
adopted by the EU, the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec.	  315a	  (1)	  HGB and 
give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in accordance 
with these requirements. The group management’s discussion and analysis is consistent with the consolidated 
financial statements, complies with legal requirements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s 
position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development. 
 
Munich, March 21, 2017 
 
 
Ernst & Young GmbH 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
 
 
Barth    Gallowsky 
Wirtschaftsprüfer  Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[German Public Auditor]  [German Public Auditor] 
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To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the annual financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group, 
and the management’s discussion and analysis includes a fair review of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of the Company, together with a description of the material opportunities and risks 
associated with the expected development of the Company. 
 
 
Planegg/Martinsried, March 21, 2017 
 
 
 
Prof. Dolores J. Schendel 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO/CSO) 
 
 
 
Dr. Thomas Taapken 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 
 
 
 
Dave Lemus 
Chief Operating Officer (COO)  
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REPORT OF THE  

Dear Shareholders, 
 
During the fiscal year 2016, the Supervisory Board diligently performed all the duties assigned to it by law and 
the Articles of Association. On the basis of the verbal and written reports provided, the Supervisory Board 
regularly advised the Executive Management Board and monitored its management activities on an ongoing basis. 
The Supervisory Board participated directly in all decisions that were substantial for the Company and was 
involved in the discussions with the Executive Management Board on the strategic alignment of the Company. The 
Supervisory Board voted on the resolutions proposed by the Executive Management Board after in-depth 
examination and discussion. 
 
In addition to the regular Supervisory Board meetings, the Executive Management Board routinely and promptly 
issued comprehensive written and verbal reports on the current status of the research and development projects, 
the economic situation and the development of the Company and its subsidiaries as well as on corporate planning, 
major business transactions and fundamental matters of corporate policy, including the Company’s strategic and 
organisational focus, cost and earnings trends, investments and financial planning. All documents prepared by the 
Executive Management Board or the responsible departments and forwarded to the Supervisory Board were 
examined without any exceptions. The Supervisory Board members and, in particular, the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board were also in regular contact with the Chief Executive Officer and other members of the 
Executive Management Board outside the scheduled Supervisory Board meetings to keep themselves informed 
about current business developments. All matters were then discussed within the Supervisory Board, also via 
conference calls. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board regularly spoke with the Company’s Chief Executive 
Officers, Dr. Frank Mathias (until 31 January 2016) and Prof. Dr. Dolores J. Schendel (since 01 February 2016), to 
keep himself and his Supervisory Board colleagues informed about important business transactions, and 
supported the Executive Management Board by giving advice. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board ensured 
that all important matters were discussed by the Supervisory Board or in the appropriate Supervisory Board 
committees. The parties providing information on behalf of the Company, in particular the members of the 
Executive Management Board, were interviewed about key matters.  
 
As one area of particular focus, the Supervisory Board constantly observed, monitored and examined the 
Company’s risk situation and its risk management, and its corporate governance in compliance with the law and in 
an ethical correct manner. Any deviation of business development from plans and targets were explained in detail 
to the Supervisory Board, and the Executive Management Board cleared the Company’s strategic focus with the 
Supervisory Board. All business transactions of importance to the Company and its subsidiaries were discussed in 
detail by the Supervisory Board. The Executive Management Board provides information on the risk management 
system implemented by the Company in the risk report of the Annual Report. 
 
Election of a new Supervisory Board 

The term of office of all members of the Supervisory Board elected in 2013, i.e. Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey and Dr. 
Yita Lee, as well as Prof. Dr. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker, ended after the end of the Annual General Meeting on 11 
August 2016. Prof. Winnacker was – upon application of the Company – judicially appointed as member of the 
Supervisory Board in January 2016, after Dave Lemus had stepped down from office due to his appointment as 
member of the Executive Management Board starting from 1 January 2016. The Annual General Meeting has 
elected the members of the Supervisory Board according to the nomination proposal. Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey 
(Chairman of the Supervisory Board), Ms. Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory 
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Board) and Dr. Yita Lee were elected as members of the Supervisory Board. Their term of office will cease at the 
end of the Annual General Meeting which will decide upon the discharge for the third financial year after the 
beginning of their term of office, i.e. after the Annual General Meeting in 2019.  
 
SUPERVISORY BOARD UNTIL 11 AUGUST 2016 
NAME FUNCTION 

Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

Dr. Yita Lee Member of the Supervisory Board 

Prof. Dr. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

 
SUPERVISORY BOARD FROM 11 AUGUST 2016 
NAME FUNCTION 

Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
Member since 2013 

Dr. Yita Lee Member of the Supervisory Board 
since 2013 

Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
Member since 2016 

 
Supervisory Board meetings 

The Supervisory Board carried out its duties on the basis of the Executive Management Board’s detailed written 
and verbal reports, which provided timely and comprehensive information. During the 2016 fiscal year, five 
ordinary meetings were held. All members of the Supervisory Board participated in each of these meetings. 
Furthermore, several conference calls took place in addition to the ordinary meetings as part of the regular 
monitoring and consulting provided to the Executive Management Board, to discuss e.g. the partnership with 
bluebird bio Inc. and the appointment of Dr. Thomas Taapken as a member of the Executive Management Board.  
 
PRESENCE AT ORDINARY SUPERVISORY BOARD MEETING 
MEMBER 15 MARCH 2016 10 MAY 2016 11 AUGUST 2016 05 OCTOBER 2016 13 DECEMBER 2016 

Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey + + + + + 

Dr. Yita Lee + + + + + 

Prof. Dr. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker 
(until 11 August 2016) + + n.a. n.a. n.a. 

Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner 
(since 11 August 2016) n.a. n.a. + + + 

+ = present; - not present; n.a. = not applicable 

 
All business transactions submitted to the Supervisory Board for approval pursuant to the law or the Articles of 
Association were discussed in depth with the Executive Management Board. In addition to the Company’s 
economic position, its revenue and earnings trends, project developments and the latest business developments, 
the subjects discussed by the Supervisory Board in the fiscal year 2016 included, in particular, the Company’s 
strategic development and the progress of the immunotherapies. One major topic of the deliberations in the fiscal 
year 2016 was the consultation about the establishment of a strategic T cell receptor alliance in cancer  
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immunotherapy with the US company bluebird bio, Inc. Moreover, the Supervisory Board advised the Executive 
Management Board in the context of the capital increase against contributions in kind by issuance of new shares 
for the payment of the second milestone payment to former shareholders of Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH 
for the start of the Phase-II trial with DC vaccines as well as on the partial sale of Medigene’s stake in the British 
company Immunocore Ltd. Lastly, the continued operational development of Veregen® were closely watched by 
the Supervisory Board and discussed with the Executive Management Board. The appointment of members of the 
Executive Management Board and corresponding service contracts were also part of the discussions at the 
Supervisory Board meetings. 
 
The Supervisory Board addressed in particular the following transactions in the 2016 fiscal year, all of which 
required approval: 
 

- Increase by 392,875.00 EUR in the share capital of the Company to 20,081,835.00 EUR by issue of 
392,875 new shares and partial utilisation of the authorised capital 2015/I against contributions in kind 
excluding the subscription rights of existing shareholders; 

- Sale of 50% of the stake in Immunocore Ltd. for approximately 6.1 million EUR; 
- Conclusion of a research and license agreement regarding T cell receptors in cancer immunotherapy with 

bluebird bio, Inc., Cambridge, MA, USA; 
- Conclusion of a License Agreement regarding AAVLP with 2A Pharma AB, Malmö, Sweden 

 
Modification in the remuneration of the Supervisory Board 
Upon recommendation of the Supervisory Board the Annual General Meeting resolved an amendment of the 
remuneration of the Supervisory Board on 11 August 2016. The basic remuneration for being a member of the 
Supervisory Board was increased, namely from yearly 13,000.00 EUR to 16,000.00 EUR; for the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board it was increased from 26,000.00 EUR to 32,000.00 EUR, and for the Deputy Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board from 19,500.00 EUR to 24,000.00 EUR. 
 
Supervisory Board committees 

The Company’s Supervisory Board has established two committees to fulfil its duties more efficiently, the 
Compensation and Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee.  
 
The Compensation and Nomination Committee held five meetings in the course of 2016. The Audit Committee 
met five times in the reporting period. Moreover, several conference calls were held by both committees. 
 
SUPERVISORY BOARD COMMITTEES 
COMMITTEE MEMBER  

Compensation and Nomination Committee  
 

Dr. Yita Lee 
 
Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey   
 
Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner 
 
Prof. Dr. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker 
 

Chairman since 11 August 2016 
 
Chairman until 11 August 2016 
 
Member since 11 August 2016 
 
Member until 11 August 2016 
 

Audit Committee  
 

Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner 
 
Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey 
 
Dr. Yita Lee 
 
Prof. Dr. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker 
 

Member and Chairman since 11 August 2016 
 
Chairman until 11 August 2016 
 
Member 
 
Member until 11 August 2016 
 

 
The duties of the Compensation and Nomination Committee included preparing personnel matters related to the 
members of the Executive Management Board. Its main tasks were the cancellation of the employment 
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agreement of the Executive Management Board member Peter Llewellyn-Davies effective 31 March 2016, the 
conclusion of a new employment agreement with Dr. Thomas Taapken from 1 January 2017 as member of the 
Executive Management Board, and the adjustment of the new remuneration system of the Executive Management 
Board, which was resolved by the Annual General Meeting on 11 August 2016 as recommended. Other key topics 
discussed by the committee included the setting of bonuses and stock options.  
 
The members of the Audit Committee dealt with issues relating to accounting and risk management, the required 
independence of the auditor, engaging the auditor, setting the audit focus and agreeing on the audit fee. The Audit 
Committee obtained the auditor’s declaration of independence pursuant to Section 7.2.1 of the German 
Corporate Governance Code and monitored the auditor’s independence. In the presence of the auditor and the 
Chief Financial Officer, the Audit Committee discussed the audit of the separate and consolidated financial 
statements of Medigene AG. Furthermore, the Audit Committee regularly discussed the 6-months report and 
quarterly statements with the Executive Management Board prior to their publication. Moreover, the Audit 
Committee provided the Supervisory Board with a recommendation with regard to proposing an auditor for 
election by the Annual General Meeting. The Audit Committee also monitored the financial reporting process, the 
effectiveness of the internal control system and the risk management system.  
 
The Supervisory Board formed no other committees. 
 
Corporate Governance 

On 13 December 2016, the Supervisory Board together with the Executive Management Board decided to 
implement the recommendations and suggestions of the German Corporate Governance Code to a large extent. 
On the same day, the new declaration of conformity pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act (AktG) was adopted by the Supervisory Board and Executive Management Board. The declaration is 
permanently available to shareholders on the Company’s website.  
 
In their corporate governance report, the Executive Management Board and the Supervisory Board report on the 
corporate governance at Medigene pursuant to Section 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance Code. The 
corporate governance report is available on the Company’s website. 
 
In the event of conflicts of interest within the Supervisory Board pursuant to Section 5.5 of the German 
Corporate Governance Code, these are generally disclosed to the other Supervisory Board members. The 
chairman of the Supervisory Board, Prof. Horst Domdey, did not participate actively in the consultations on the 
capital increase against contributions in kind in favour of the former shareholders of today’s Medigene 
Immunotherapies GmbH and refrained from voting on the issue. Prof. Domdey is the CEO of BioM AG, a former 
shareholder of today’s Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH, which was acquired by Medigene AG by contribution 
agreement dated 27 January 2014. No other conflicts of interest arose among the members of the Supervisory 
Board in the 2016 fiscal year. As a result of the above measures, temporary conflicts of interest relating to the 
issue and topics mentioned could be avoided. 
 
Some members of the Supervisory Board are also members of supervisory boards of other companies in the 
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry. However, in line with the requirements of the German Corporate 
Governance Code, none of these have been considered to be key competitors of Medigene AG. The external 
mandates of the members of the Supervisory Board are published in the Company’s Annual Report and Corporate 
Governance Report as well as on Medigene’s website. 
 
Separate and consolidated financial statements 

The independent auditor elected by the Annual General Meeting, who was duly engaged by the Supervisory Board, 
Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, audited the separate financial statements of  
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Medigene AG prepared in accordance with the German Commercial Code (HGB) by the Executive Management  
Board for the year ending 31 December 2016 together with the management’s discussion and analysis for the 
fiscal year 2016 and rendered an unqualified audit opinion thereon. The Audit Committee issued the audit 
engagement in accordance with the resolution of the Annual General Meeting held on 11 August 2016. The 
consolidated financial statements of Medigene AG were prepared on the basis of International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law 
pursuant to Section 315a (1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB). The auditor also issued an unqualified audit 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the group management’s discussion and analysis.  
 
The Audit Committee established the audit focus for the reporting year together with the auditor.  
 
The Supervisory Board members received the financial statements as well as the auditor’s reports in a timely 
manner. They were reviewed in detail by the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board and discussed in the 
presence of the Executive Management Board and the auditor on 16 March 2017. The auditor attended the 
deliberations and discussions about the financial statements and reported in detail on the most important results 
of the audit, amongst others, the results regarding the internal control and risk management system and the 
financial reporting process. It was noted that the risks and opportunities described in the group management’s 
discussion and analysis provide a true and fair view and the measures taken by the Executive Management Board 
pursuant to Section 91 (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) are appropriate for identifying at an early 
stage any developments which may jeopardise the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
After examining the separate and consolidated financial statements, the management’s discussion and analysis 
and the group management’s discussion and analysis, the Supervisory Board endorsed the auditor’s findings. In 
the meeting on 21 March 2017, the Supervisory Board approved the separate financial statements and the 
consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2016 in accordance with the recommendation of the Audit 
Committee. The financial statements have therefore been ratified. 
 
Acknowledgement of commitment and performance 

The Supervisory Board thanks the Executive Management Board and all employees of Medigene for their 
successful contributions in 2016. Their collective commitment ensured the achievement of important objectives 
and a significant progress in the further development of immunotherapeutics. The Supervisory Board would also 
like to take this opportunity to thank Prof. Dr. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker for his again valuable engagement 
between January and August 2016. 
 
On behalf of the Supervisory Board, I also would like to thank you, the shareholders of Medigene AG, for your 
continued trust in Medigene. 
 
Planegg/Martinsried, March 2017 
 
For the Supervisory Board 
 
 
 
 
 
Prof. Horst Domdey 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
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A 
Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) 

Malignant disease of the hematopoietic system 
 
Adoptive T-cell therapy 

Means the treatment of patients by transfer of defined T-cells to the patient 
 
AktG 

»Aktiengesetz« German Stock Corporation Act 
 
Antibody 

Protein substance produced by the immune system as a reaction to antigens for reasons of a body’s own defence 
mechanisms  
 
Antigen 

Substance recognised as being foreign by the immune system 
 
Allogen (tissue) 

(Tissue) from a different, genetically non-identical body 
 
Autologous (tissue) 

(Tissue) from the same body 
 
Authorised capital 

Value or number of shares authorised in advance by the company’s General Meeting for the purpose of a possible 
capital increase against cash or non-cash contribution 
 
Autoimmune diseases 

Diseases caused by an overreaction of the immune system against the body’s own tissues 

B 
B-cell epitope 

Part of the antigen that is recognised by the antibody or B-cell receptor 
 
Biopharmaceutical 

Research into and development of drugs and therapies (pharmaceutics), based on biotechnology and molecular 
biology 
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Biotechnology 

Research into and development of drugs and therapies (pharmaceutics), based on biotechnology and molecular 
biology 

C 
CGU 

Cash-generating unit 
 
Combination therapy 

The simultaneous treatment of a patient with several therapeutic methods for the same disease 
 
Compassionate use 

Prescription of as-yet unapproved drugs in particularly severe cases where there are no treatment alternatives 
 
Conditional capital 

Capital resolved by shareholders’ resolution for the issue of stock options or convertible bonds 
 
Consortium (for a clinical trial) 

Various parties contractual joined together for carrying out a clinical trial (often an -> IIT), usually university hos-
pitals, medical professionals, manufacturers, inventors, industrial companies and public research funders (such as 
the DFG, the BMBF, etc) 

D 
D&O insurance 

Directors and officers insurance 
A managers’ liability insurance effected by a company for its board members and executives 
 
DBO 

Defined benefit obligation 
Value of an obligation arising from company pension scheme 
 
Dendritic cells 

Cells of the immune system specialized in antigen uptake and presentation. Dendritic cells are the most potent 
antigen presenting cells for activating a primary T cell based immune response 
 
Drug candidate 

Drug which is still at the development stage 
 
DSMB 

Data and Safety Monitoring Board 
An independent group of experts that reviews data in clinical trials according to patient safety and treatment 
effectiveness 
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E 
EBITDA 

Earnings before interests, depreciation and amortization  
Medigene’s EBITDA is derived from the net profit/loss for the year and does not include any taxes, financial re-
sult, foreign exchange gains or losses, share of result of associates nor amortisation or depreciation 
 
Expression (of receptors) 

All necessary processes around the biosynthesis of (receptor) proteins on the basis of their genetic information  

F 
FDA 

Food and Drug Administration 
Government agency of the United States Department of Health and Human Services 
 
Formulation 

The way in which an active ingredient is combined with suitable carrier substances and excipients and the form in 
which it is administered  

G 
Gastroenterology 

Gastroenterology is the branch of medicine concerned with the diagnosis, treatment and prevention of diseases 
of the digestive system 

 
Genital warts 

Benign, but painful and disfiguring skin tumours in the genital and anal areas 
 
GMP 

Good Manufacturing Practice 
Quality assurance guidelines for production processes and environments in the manufacture of drugs 

H 
Haematology 

Haematology is the branch of medicine concerned with the study, diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of diseas-
es related to blood 

 
Hepatology  

Hepatology is the branch of medicine that incorporates the study of liver, gallbladder, biliary tree, and pancreas 
as well as management of their disorders 
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HGB 

»Handelsgesetzbuch«  German Commercial Code 

I 
IAS 

International Accounting Standards 
Part of the International Financial Reporting Standards 
 
IFRIC 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
 
IFRS 

International Financial Reporting Standards 
 
IIT 

Investigator Initiated Trial 
Non-commercial clinical trial; clinical trial of a new drug candidate that is often initiated, conducted and financed 
by the medical professional at university hospitals. Such trials often focus on enhancing a specific therapy for 
patients 
 
Immunotherapy 

Treatment method which influences and activates the immune system 
 
Immunosuppression 

Damping or turning off the function of the body's immune system 

 

Indication 

Disease; reason for the execution of a medical examination or treatment 

L 
Leukapheresis 

Process for collection of white blood cells (leucocytes) from a donors’ blood 
 
Leucocytes 

White blood cells 
 

Licensing 

Sale or acquisition of development and/or marketing rights to a product 
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M 
Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) 

Group of genes and proteins which are relevant in immune recognition 
 
Mature dendritic cells 

-> see polarised cells 

 
Minimal residual disease (MRD) 

The stage of a tumour in which only very few isolated tumour cells are present in the patient’s body following for 
example surgical removal of the primary tumour or chemotherapy or radiotherapy 
 
Monoclonal antibody 

Antibody which is produced from a single cell line and can be traced back to an individual B lymphocyte 
 
Monocytes 

Belong to the class of white blood cells and have an important function in the human immune system 

N 
NK (natural killer) cells 

Cells of the immune system which can identify and destroy cancer cells and virally infected cells 

O 
Oncology 

Science of tumours and tumour-related diseases 

P 
PCT 

Patent Cooperation Treaty 
International agreement under which a patent application may be filed for currently 146 countries worldwide. For 
the issue of a patent, this application has to be transferred to a national application at a later date 
 
Peptide 

A peptide (short protein) consists of amino acids linked together 
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Pharmaceutics 

Science that deals with the composition, effect, development, testing, production, and dispensing of drugs 
 
Pipeline 

All of the drug candidates that are under development 
 
Polarised cells 

The patented maturation method used by Medigene to generate DC vaccines, results in dendritic cells that have 
the capacity to induce responses from Type helper cells, due to their phenotype and function 

 
Preclinical 

Stages of development of an active substance prior to testing in humans 
 
Proof of concept 

Evidence of the fundamental feasibility of a plan 
 
Proof of principle 

Evidence on the feasibility at an early stage of drug development 
 
Prophylactic vaccine 

Administered to prevent a disease, prepares the immune system for the defence against infection  
 
Prostate Cancer 

Prostate cancer is a malignant, slow-growing cancer that develops in the prostate 

R 
R & D 

Research and development 
 
Receptor 

Protein molecule which can bind different substances 
Recombinant 

(Partially) artificial biomolecules are referred to as being recombinant 
 
Resistance 

Ability of an organism to withstand external influences 
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S 
Stem cell transplantation 

(Hematopoietic) stem cell transplantation (HSCT) is the transplantation of multipotent hematopoietic stem cells, 
usually derived from bone marrow, peripheral blood, or umbilical cord blood. It may be -> autologous (the patient's 
own stem cells are used) or -> allogeneic (the stem cells come from a donor) 

T 
T-cells 

T-cells or T lymphocytes belong to a group of white blood cells known as lymphocytes, and play a central role in 
cell-mediated immunity 
 

T-cell activation 

Pivotal step in the reaction of the body’s immune system to combat pathogens and cancer 
 
T-cell receptor (TCR) 

Receptor by which T-cells recognise antigens bound to other cells of the body 
 
TecDAX 

Index of the German Stock Exchange listing the thirty major technology equities with respect to market capitali-
sation and order book turnover 
 

Technology platform 

Technology which is the basis for the development of different drug candidates 
 
Therapeutic vaccine 

Stimulates the immune system against acute infection or an existing tumour 

V 
Vaccines 

Inoculants 

W 
WpHG 

»Wertpapierhandelsgesetz« 
German Securities Trading Act 



MEDIGENE AG ANNUAL REPORT 2016 FINANCIAL CALENDAR/ TRADEMARKS/ IMPRINT 115 

	  

23 March 2017 

Annual Report 2016 
Press and Analyst conference call 
 
11 May 2017 

3-Month Report 2017 
Press and Analyst conference call 
 
03 August 2017 

6-Month Report 2017 
Press and Analyst conference call 
 
09 November 2017 

9-Month Report 2017 
Press and Analyst conference call 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Medigene®, Veregen® and RhuDex® are registered trademarks of Medigene AG. 
Medigene ImmunotherapiesTM is a registered trademark of Medigene Immuno-
therapies GmbH. EndoTAG®  is a registered trademark of SynCore Biotechnolo-
gy Co., Ltd.  Eligard® is a registered trademark of Tolmar Therapeutics, Inc.  
These trademarks may be held or licenced for specific countries. 
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Medigene AG 
Lochhamer Str. 11 
82152 Planegg/Martinsried 
T +49-89-200033-0 
F +49-89-200033-2920 
 
Contact 

Public & Investor Relations 
Julia Hofmann, Dr. Robert Mayer 
T +49-89-200033-3301 
investor@medigene.com 
 
Text 

Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried 
Design Kirchhoff Consult AG, Hamburg 
 
Production 

Viaprinto, CEWE Stiftung & Co. KGaA 
 
Disclaimer 

This annual report contains forward-looking statements that are 
based on certain assumptions and expectations made by the man-
agement of Medigene AG at the time of its publication. These for-
ward-looking statements are therefore subject to unpredictable 
risks and uncertainties, so there is no guarantee that these assump-
tions and expectations will turn out to be accurate. Many of those 
risks and uncertainties are determined by factors that are beyond the 
control of Medigene AG and cannot be gauged with any certainty at 
this point in time. This includes future market conditions and  
economic developments, the behaviour of other market participants, 
the achievement of targeted synergy effects as well as legal and po-
litical decisions.  
Medigene AG cannot preclude that actual results may differ substan-
tially from those expectations expressed in or implied by the forward-
looking statements. Medigene AG does not intend or assume any 
obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect 
events or circumstances after the date of this annual report.  
The English version of the annual report is a translation of the original 
German version; in the event of variances, the German version shall 
take precedence over the English translation. 
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